BCP

Council

Notice of Audit and Governance Committee

Date: Wednesday, 24 September 2025 at 6.00 pm

Venue: HMS Phoebe, BCP Civic Centre, Bournemouth BH2 6DY

Membership:

Chair:
ClIr E Connolly

Vice Chair:
Clir M Andrews

Clir S Armstrong Clir M Phipps Clir C Weight
Clir J Beesley CliIr V Slade
Clir J J Butt ClIr M Tarling

Independent persons:

Jansen-VanVuuren Samantha Acton

All Members of the Audit and Governance Committee are summoned to attend this meeting
to consider the items of business set out on the agenda below.

The press and public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting at the following
link:

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6581
if you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please
contact: Louise Smith, louise.smith@bcpcouncil.gov.uk on 01202 096660 or

email democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 118686 or
email press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk

AIDAN DUNN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE DEBAT

16 September 2025

Available online and
on the Mod.gov app

BCP Council Civic Centre, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY



Maintaining and promoting high standards of conduct

Declaring interests at meetings
Familiarise yourself with the Councillor Code of Conduct which can be found in
Part 6 of the Council's Constitution.

Before the meeting, read the agenda and reports to see if the matters to be
discussed at the meeting concern your interests

Does the matter directly relate to one of my Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs)
(set out in Table 1)?

Does the matter directly relate to the
finances or wellbeing of one of my Other
Registerable Interests (ORIs)

(set out in Table 2)?

| have a DPI and cannot take part without
a dispensation

I have an ORI and must disclose it.
| may speak as a member of the public but
not discuss or vote and must leave the

Does it directly relate to the finances or
wellbeing of me, a relative or a close
associate?

| have a NRI and must disclose it.
| may speak as a member of the public but
not discuss or vote and must leave the

Does it affect the finances or wellbeing of
me, a relative or a close associate or any
of my ORIs?

Am | or they affected to a greater extent that
most people? And would a reasonable person
think my judgementis clouded?

| have an interest and must disclose it.
| may speak as a member of the public but
not discuss or vote and must leave the
room

| have no interest to disclose

What are the principles of bias and pre-determination and how do they affect my
participation in the meeting?

Bias and predetermination are common law concepts. If they affect you, your
participation in the meeting may call into question the decision arrived at on the
item.

Bias Test Predetermination Test

In all the circumstances, would it
lead a fair minded and informed
observer to conclude that there was
a real possibility or a real danger that

At the time of making the decision,
did the decision maker have a closed
mind?

the decision maker was biased?

.

If a councillor appears to be biased or to have predetermined their decision,
they must NOT participate in the meeting.

For more information or advice please contact the Monitoring Officer

Councillors should act solely
in terms of the public
interest

Councillors must avoid
placing themselves under
any obligation to people or
organisations that might try
inappropriately to influence
them in their work. They
should not act or take
decisions in order to gain
financial or other material
benefits for themselves,
their family, or their friends.
They must declare and
resolve any interests and
relationships

Objectivity

Councillors must act and
take decisions impartially,
fairly and on merit, using the
best evidence and without
discrimination or bias

Accountability

Councillors are accountable
to the public for their

decisions and actions and
must submit themselves to
the scrutiny necessaryto
ensure this

Openness

Councillors should act and
take decisions in an open
and transparent manner.
Information should not be
withheld from the public
unless there are clear and
lawful reasons for so doing

Honesty & Integrity

Councillors should act with
honesty and integrity and
should not place themselves
in situations where their
honesty and integrity may
be questioned

Leadership

Councillors should exhibit
these principles in their own
behaviour. They should
actively promote and
robustly support the
principles and be willing to
challenge poor behaviour
wherever it occurs




AGENDA

ltems to be considered while the meeting is open to the public

Apologies

To receive any apologies for absence from Councillors.

Substitute Members

To receive information on any changes in the membership of the
Committee.

Note — When a member of a Committee is unable to attend a meeting of a
Committee or Sub-Committee, the relevant Political Group Leader (or their
nominated representative) may, by notice to the Monitoring Officer (or their
nominated representative) prior to the meeting, appoint a substitute
member from within the same Political Group. The contact details on the
front of this agenda should be used for notifications.

Declarations of Interests

Councillors are requested to declare any interests on items included in this
agenda. Please refer to the workflow on the preceding page for guidance.

Declarations received will be reported at the meeting.

Public Issues

To receive any public questions, statements or petitions submitted in
accordance with the Constitution. Further information on the requirements
for submitting these is available to view at the following link:-

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteelD=151&I|
nfo=1&bcr=1

The deadline for the submission of public questions is midday on Thursday
18 September 2025 [midday 3 clear working days before the meeting].

The deadline for the submission of a statement is midday on Tuesday 23
September 2025 [midday the working day before the meeting].

The deadline for the submission of a petition is Wednesday 10 September
2025 [10 working days before the meeting].

ITEMS OF BUSINESS

Exclusion of Press and Public

In relation to the confidential Appendix (Section F of the report) of the
Agenda ltem appearing below, should the Committee wish to discuss the
content, it is asked to consider the following resolution: -

‘That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in Paragraphs 1 and 2 in Part | of Schedule 12A of the Act and that



https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1

the public interest in withholding the information outweighs such interest in
disclosing the information.’

6. PART A - BCP FuturePlaces Investigation Report (Scope items 1 to 4) 5-112

This report details Part A - BCP FuturePlaces Ltd investigation findings
covering scope areas 1to 4.

The Chair of A&G Committee has determined a second meeting will be
arranged in October 2025 to receive Part B and final report, covering
scope areas 5 to 8.

Receiving the report over two meetings will allow the Committee sufficient
time to digest and review the findings to determine next steps. It will also
allow the investigator more time to conclude findings in scope areas 5 to
8.

At the conclusion of this investigation there may still be gaps in
understanding, and the Committee may or may not decide that further
investigation through other means is required.

No other items of business can be considered unless the Chairman decides the matter is urgent for reasons that
must be specified and recorded in the Minutes.



Agenda ltem 6

AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE BCP

Council

Report subject

PART A - BCP FuturePlaces Investigation Report (Scope
items 1 to 4)

Meeting date

24 September 2025

Status

Public Report

Executive summary

This report details Part A - BCP FuturePlaces Ltd investigation
findings covering scope areas 1 to 4.

The Chair of A&G Committee has determined a second meeting
will be arranged in October 2025 to receive Part B and final
report, covering scope areas 5 to 8.

Receiving the report over two meetings will allow the Committee
sufficient time to digest and review the findings to determine next
steps. It will also allow the investigator more time to conclude
findings in scope areas 5 to 8.

At the conclusion of this investigation there may still be gaps in
understanding, and the Committee may or may not decide that
further investigation through other means is required.

Recommendations

It is RECOMMENDED that A&G Committee notes:

e the Part A Internal Audit investigation findings report
covering scope areas 1to 4.

e that aPart B and final investigation findings report will
be presented to Committee in October 2025, covering
scope areas 5to 8.

e any changes necessaryto Part A investigation findings
in scope areas 1to 4, as aresult of or impact of

findings to scope areas 5to 8, will be highlighted to the
Committee in the Part B and final report.

Reason for
recommendations

To note the investigation findings for scope areas 1 to 4.

Portfolio Holder(s):

Clir Mike Cox, Finance

Corporate Director

Aidan Dunn, Chief Executive

Report Authors

Nigel Stannard
Head of Audit & Management Assurance (HAMA)




201202 128784
[=1 nigel.stannard@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Wards Council-wide
Classification For decision
Background

1. The BCP Council Audit & Governance Committee has previously agreed that some
form of investigation was necessary into the arrangements surrounding the creation,
operational period and closing of BCP Council’'s urban regeneration company,
known as BCP FuturePlaces Limited (FPL).

2. At the meeting on 20 March 2025, the A&G Committee received a detailed report
from the Monitoring Officer containing:

e Appendix One - a chronology of BCP Council’s decision making as it relates
to BCP FuturePlaces Limited and latterly the Council’s approach to
shareholder governance.

e Appendix Two - a chronology of the governance documents published which
reference BCP FuturePlaces Limited.

e Appendix Three - a chronology of the agenda and minutes for Board
Meetings of BCP FuturePlaces Limited.

3. At the meeting on 20 March 2025, the A&G Committee agreed the following (direct
lift from minutes):

REVIEW OF BCP FUTUREPLACES LTD:
RESOLVED that an investigation be carried out by Internal Audit, the scope of which to
include:

e the received minutes of BCP FuturePlaces Limited,

e decisions made at Cabinet and other committees,

e arequest that IT retrieve any available emails and communications to allow
Internal Audit to conduct an oversight of those communications, this to be limited
to information in the electronic domain/that is recoverable from BCP Council and
BCP FuturePlaces Limited servers and only to apply to current and past officers
and councillors and to delegate authority to the Monitoring Officer in consultation
with the Head of Audit and Management Assurance and other Statutory Officers
to set the parameters of any email searches

with a report back to the Committee in six months.
Voting: For — 4, Against — 3, Abstain — 2

4. The resolution above provided a useful framework on ‘how’ the investigation should
be conducted with the setting of search and evidence gathering boundaries.

5. The Head of Audit & Management Assurance (HAMA), the investigator, created a
draft scope, for Committee to agree at the A&G Committee meeting on 29 May
2025. This scope sought to identify ‘what’ the committee wanted investigating.


mailto:nigel.stannard@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

6.

The scope took into account:
¢ Views aired by committee members in previous meetings;

e Views aired by committee members* in response to an earlier version of this
draft scope circulated for comment;

¢ Views of BCP residents* who have taken time to send their comments to
committee members;

e Views of other councillors* who have taken time to send their comments to
committee members.

*Some committee members and the public suggested further and more detailed
questions to be explicitly included within the scope. Committee agreed that a
significant majority of these questions would be logically answered in ascertaining
the facts pertaining to the scope areas as drafted. It was noted that some of the
guestions were already answered within the information provided to the committee
on 20 March 20025 (see 2 above).

The A&G Committee, 29 March 2025, agreed the scope of the Internal Audit
investigation as shown at Appendix 1 of that report and as amended following the
committee’s discussion.

Revised Expectations and Timelines

8.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

It was initially resolved that this investigation should seek to report back to
Committee in six months. That would be approximately by the end of September
2025.

A number of factors were also taken into account:
e The exact scope of the investigation was unknown at that stage;

e Committee members and the previous Chief Executive expressed a
preference for some form of interim reporting before the Chief Executive
retired from the Council at the end of August 2025;

e The investigation, even with a pre-defined scope, may ‘creep’ as facts
remain unanswered initially.

It was subsequently agreed that an extra meeting of the Committee would be held
on 18 August 2025 to receive an ‘Interim’ report.

This meeting was cancelled due to a local by-election and as an alternative the
previous Chief Executive has provided comment on specific scope items and on
more general matters. Where relevant the Chief Executive comments are included
in this report.

The Chair of A&G Committee, Clir Connolly has decided, after consultation, that
Committee should receive the report in two parts, given the length and detail. Clir
Connoally felt Committee would not have adequate time in one meeting to robustly
consider all elements.

ClIr Connolly has determined that the A&G Committee meeting on 24 September
2024 should receive ‘Part A, covering scope items 1 to 4, and a subsequent
meeting would receive ‘Part B’ and final report incorporating scope items 5 to 8.

This approach also provides the investigator time to finalise investigation work
particularly scope items 5 - 8 and to write findings up for a further meeting of the
Committee to consider in late October 2025.



This Part A BCP FuturePlaces investigation report —scope areas 1to 4

15.

16.

All agreed scope items 1 to 4, and the 16 sub-scope questions have been reported
on in this Part A report.

Specific points to note are:

e Timeline of events, particularly 1.1 Table 2 - BCP FUTUREPLACES
LIMITED (FPL)TIMELINE OF EVENTS, is relevant as far as is practicable to
the scope items in this report. — the timeline does not attempt to be an
exhaustive timeline of every event involving FPL and BCP Council (as FPL
Shareholder). This was a matter of judgement by the investigator.

e Scope ltem 4 — Detailed expenditure incurred by FPL — is an area of the
scope where A&G Committee members have also received a separate
detailed briefing (18/9/2025).

Independence of Internal Audit

17.

18.

19.

20.

Internal Audit and the HAMA work to a strict set of professional standards and a
code of ethics, and the work is done with complete independence and objectivity.

The team has been externally assessed as compliant with those professional
standards and code of ethics.

The HAMA in BCP Council operates within an environment where senior leaders
and councillors respect the independence and objectivity that the HAMA is required
to operate within.

Previous meetings were told that the HAMA would immediately inform the chair of
Audit & Governance committee, the external auditor and relevant professional body
if any individual seeks to influence or instruct the HAMA in any way which impacts
independence or objectivity of this investigation. No such escalation has been
required.

Options Appraisal

21.

22.

23.

A&G Committee has previously discussed and voted on the options for this
investigation. An initial Internal Audit led investigation was agreed.

A&G Committee members have recognised that, at the conclusion of this
investigation, there may still be gaps in understanding, some scope sub-questions
may not be fully answered or resolved.

The Committee may, or may not, decide that further investigation through other
means is required. Other means could include:

e Specific questions posed to specific individuals (accepting that individuals
who have left the Council, or FPL may choose to ignore the request).

e Commission further specific lines of enquiry — defining the scope and
identifying suitable person(s) to perform the task.

Summary of financial implications

24.

The Council’s in-house Internal Audit team has conducted the investigation via
salaried staff, mainly the HAMA. The cost of the investigation to date (24/9/25) is
approximately £25,650. (57 days x £450 day rate).

57 days assumes the standard working day of 7.5 hours. In order to meet the agreed
timetable for reporting, working days have increased beyond this standard, additional
hours worked are approximately 60 hours. The notional cost* of these additional
hours is approximately £3,600 ((60 / 7.5)x450).



*notional - because the Council has not incurred these costs in salaries, overtime or paymentinlieu.

Summary of legal implications

25. There are no direct legal implications from this report.

Summary of human resources implications

26. There are no direct human resources implications from this report.

Summary of sustainability impact

27. There are no direct sustainability impact implications from this report.

Summary of public health implications
28. There are no direct public health implications from this report.

Summary of equality implications

29. There are no direct equality implications from this report.

Summary of risk assessment

30. The risk implications are set out in the content of this report.

Background papers
None

Appendices

PART A (Scopeitems 1to 4) - INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT
Creation, operational running and closure of BCP FuturePlaces Ltd. (Company no.
13465045)

Confidential Appendix (Section F of the report)



This page is intentionally left blank

10



PART A - INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT
Creation, operational running and closure of BCP
FuturePlaces Ltd. (Company no. 13465045)

PART A SCOPE ITEMS 1-4 this report
PART B SCOPE ITEMS 5-8 to follow

This report is structured in the following way:
Section A - Background and summary objectives
Section B - Key Findings

Section C - Recommendations

Section D — Scope sub-questions appendix

Section E — Detailed scope evidence base appendices (Public) - (not all detailed scope areas
require an appendix sothese do not run sequentially, there will be numbering gaps)

Section F — Detailed scope evidence base appendices (Confidential) - (not all detailed scope
areas require a confidential appendix so these do not run sequentially, there will be numbering gaps)

Confidential appendices contain personal information and are include so Councillors can fully
understand matters without the need for redaction.

Author & Issued by: Nigel Stannard, Head of Audit & Management Assurance (Chief Internal
Auditor)

Date 16/9/2025

Distribution: A&G Committee members Version Number: PART A
Millie Earl - Leader of the Council v1.00 (Scope item1-4)
Mike Cox — Portfolio Holder

Page 1 0f100

11



‘ A. Backgroundand summary objectives

Scope

The Audit & Governance Committee (A&G) agreed, on 29 May 2025, a detailed scope for an
Internal Audit led investigation into the arrangements in place for the creation, operational
running and closure of BCP FuturePlaces Limited. (FPL)

The scope took into account:
e Views aired by A&G committee members;
¢ Views of BCP residents who sent their comments to A&G committee members;
e Views of other councillors who sent their comments to A&G committee members.

A&G also agreed that a significant number of detailed and specific sub-questions posed by
the above individuals would be answered, as far as practicable, during the investigation by
aligning them to the relevant scope area. These specific questions are shown at Section D
in red text. In the final version of this report - at the end of each question there will be a
reconciliation reference to show where that question is answered in the main body of the
report in section B Key Findings.

The primary objective of the investigation is to, as robustly and completely as
practicable, respond to the agreed scope and sub-questions. The findings are
wherever possible factual based on evidence — where evidence has not been
found this is also reported.

Other factors and commentary relevant to the scope and taking into account what was
resolved at various A&G Committee meetings:

e Interviews of individuals — it was clear that some committee members believed
interviewing previous ex-councillors and or ex-staff/directors was needed, this was
heard at several committee meetings, and was re-iterated subsequently, but that was
not agreed (resolved) by committee.

e The investigator has pragmatically sought clarification to specific matters from staff or
councillors who are still part of BCP Council — this was via discussion not interview.

e Some committee members said they had external sources of information that they
believed were essential to the investigation. Committee members were invited to
send/give the investigator any evidence they had on the proviso it was factual
evidence; not testimony or hearsay which could be manipulated to suit an opinion or
stance; it addressed the scope items, and they reasonably believe the investigator
would not be able or not likely to access through the searches (of emails for
example) agreed in the committee resolution.

e External sources of information or evidence could include WhatsApp messages,
personal files, phone records and printed documents (screen shots). Such records
are not official business records and can be manipulated. The investigator has taken
this into account and has highlight the sourceif it has been used in this report.

e The investigator has utilised, as appropriate, information provided to individuals who
had submitted Freedom of Information (FOI) requests relating to BCP FuturePlaces,
or the Council’'s governance and arrangements thereof.

Reporting expectations and timelines

It was resolved at the A&G meeting on 20 March 2025 that this investigation should seek to
report back to committee in six months. That would be approximately by the end of
September 2025.

Page 2 of 100

12



At the meeting on 29 May 2025, Committee members and the Chief Executive expressed a
preference that relevant elements of the investigation should aim to conclude and report
before the Chief Executive retires from the Council at the end of August 2025. It was
subsequently agreed that an extra meeting of the Committee will be held on 18 August 2025
to receive an ‘Interim’ report.

This meeting was cancelled due to a local by-election and as an alternative the Chief
Executive has provided comment on specific scope items and on more general matters.
Where relevant the Chief Executive comments are included in this report.

Scope items where | have not started or concluded my findings are marked with the
following comment in this ‘PART A’ report:
‘Investigation work has not concluded on this scope item’

The Chair of Audit & Governance Committee, Clir Connolly, decided that Committee should
receive the report in two parts, given the length and detail. Clir Connolly felt Committee
would not have adequate time in one meeting to robustly consider all elements of the report.
It was agreed that the A&G Committee meeting on 24 September 2024 would receive a
‘PART A’ report for scope items 1 to 4, and a subsequent meeting would receive PART B
and final report incorporating scope items 5to 8. This also provides me as the investigator
time to finalise investigation work, in scope areas 5 to 8.

It may be necessaryto add to or adjust PART A report findings, in scope items 1-4, if new or
related information is subsequently identified for the PART B and final report.

Whilst the Interim Corporate Director for Resources reported, 11 January 2024, on lessons
learnt from the closure of BCP FuturePlaces via agenda item 8 — Council Owned Companies
Shareholder Governance Review, the PART B and final investigation report will make
recommendations where it is appropriate to do so and assign lead officer and target dates
for implementation.

For the avoidance of any doubt, this ‘PART A’ report does not include recommendations at
this stage, priority has instead been given to covering as much of the scope findings as
possible.

| propose that A&G Committee will monitor the implementation of final report
recommendations utilising the agreed methodology for High recommendations. This means
Internal Audit will report on their implementation, or not, by the due date, to the next
available committee. Lead officers will be invited to committee to explain any slipped or non-
implemented recommendations.

Independence of the investigator and Internal Audit
Internal Audit work to a strict set of professional standards and a code of ethics, and work is
done with complete independence and objectivity.

The team has been externally assessed as compliant with those professional standards and
code of ethics.

In BCP Council, | operate within an environment where senior leaders and councillors
respect the independence and objectivity that | am required to operate within.

It was explained at the A&G meeting 29 May 2025 that councillors and the general public
could be assured that | would immediately inform the chair of Audit & Governance

Page 3 0f 100

13



committee, the external auditor and my relevant professional body if any individual sought to
influence or instruct in any way which impacted my independence or objectivity during
investigation. No suchinfluence or instruction has taken place, accordingly no escalation
has been required during this investigation.

Investigation methodology

My role in this investigation has been to obtain evidence that supports fact — for example,
this happened, this did not happen. Some evidence has always been readily available or
has been presented to various Committees in the past, this report brings that evidence and
information together. The report consequently repeats some information previously seen by
the A&G committee during the period that the scoping of this investigation took place.

Summary of financial implications

| have conducted this investigation with some support from salaried staff within the Internal
Audit team. The cost of investigation up to this ‘PART A’ report has been approximately
£25,650. This is using a £450 per day proxy. The ‘Final’ report will be updated with the final
approximate cost.

| have not sought to quantify the total cost of other colleagues outside of the Internal Audit
team who have responded to question and issues | have raised during the investigation.

Forward look

A&G Committee members have recognised that, at the conclusion of this

investigation, there may still be gaps in understanding, some scope sub-questions
may not be fully answered or resolved.

The committee may, or may not, decide that further investigation through other
means is required. Other means could include:

e Specific questions posed to specific individuals (accepting that individuals who have
left the Council, or FPL may choose to ignore the request)

e Commission further specific lines of enquiry — defining the scope and identifying
suitable person(s) to perform the task

Page 4 of 100

14



‘ B. Key Findings

This section of the report is structured and ordered using the same numbering
as the agreed A&G Committee scope. Numbers 1 to 8 are the main scope
heading areas:

Timeline and key decisions taken

Decision to create BCP FuturePlaces Ltd - Cabinet 26 May 2021
Establishment and operation of BCP FuturePlaces Ltd

Detailed expenditure incurred by BCP FuturePlaces Ltd

ltems requiring specific assurance

Council oversight of BCP FuturePlaces Ltd

Decision to close of BCP FuturePlaces Ltd — Cabinet 27 September 2023
Lessons learnt update including any additions as a result of this investigation

N>R~ WNE

The detailed scope areas (1.1, 1.2, etc) are also shown in the exact same numbering
as the agreed A&G Committee scope.

These detailed scope areas have been lightly shaded so they stand out within the
report and then the investigation findings are summarised below each heading

Each detailed scope item starts on a new page.

Where applicable more detailed explanations and samples of evidence are included in
numbered appendices in sections Eand F.

The numbered appendices also correspond to the detailed scope areas, so for
example appendix 2.1 refers to the scope item 2.1. Not all detailed scope areas

require an appendix so the detailed scope appendices do not run sequentially (there
will be numbering gaps)

Page 5 0f 100

15



1. Timeline and key decisions
1.1 Produce the timeline of key decisions in respect of BCP Future Places Ltd (As per MO
report to A&G Committee 20/3/25).

Table 1 - BCP COUNCIL DECISION MAKING

DATE

MEETING/
EVENT

RELEVANT AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY

LINKTO
DOCUMENT

10.02.2021

Cabinet

Our Vision for the Future (Our Big Plan)
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole — the
UK’s newest city region

View link

10.02.2021

Cabinet

Minutes of meeting

View link

10.03.2021

Cabinet

The Future of Regeneration in
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole

This report summarises the opportunities and
the Council’s ambitions for regeneration in the
BCP area. It seeks to strengthen the Council’s
capacity to deliver, setting out an approach for
reviewing and progressing the available options
to realise those opportunities and ambitions.
The report sets out the options for increasing
our regeneration delivery capacity, working with
an urban regeneration company and other forms
of partnership as well as sourcing external
consultancy input

The report authorises procurement of external
consultants (who would be Inner Circle) to
provide the council with advice and support.
Funded from £1.75m revenue budget for
regeneration (which was added to the 2021/22
base budget)

View link

10.03.2021

Cabinet

Minutes of meeting

View link

26.05.2021

Cabinet

Proposed Regeneration Vehicle Options
Appraisal

To achieve the Council’s regeneration ambitions
across the conurbation at pace, this report
recommends the creation of a wholly owned
Urban Regeneration Company (URC). The
URC will bring together the resources,
leadership, and focus required to deliver the
ambitions set out in the Big Plan which was
considered by Cabinet and Council in February

View link

26.05.2021

Cabinet

Minutes of Meeting

View link

08.06.2021

Officer
Decision
Record

To approve business case to create the BCP
Urban Regeneration Company and to establish
the company in line with the decision of Cabinet
of 26 May 2021. To provide further information
requested by Cabinet in its report 26 May 2021.
Following consideration of the business case the
formal decision is taken to establish the URC as
a corporate entity and enable it to operate as
soon as possible.

View link

Page 6 of 100

16



https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=4260&Ver=4
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g4260/Printed%20minutes%2010th-Feb-2021%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=4261&Ver=4
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g4261/Printed%20minutes%2010th-Mar-2021%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=4683&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g4683/Printed%20minutes%2026th-May-2021%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s57014/2021060801OfficerDecisionRecordChiefExecutive.pdf

Initial cost will be contained within the council’s
approved regeneration budget of £1.75m or pre-
existing base budget allocations

20.09.2021

Overview &
Scrutiny
Board

Minutes of Meeting

Moved by Clir Cox, seconded by Clir Dedman to
recommend to Cabinet a change of wording to
Recommendation C to put on hold additional
resources for regeneration purposes (including
to the URC) pending greater clarity on MTFP
and 2021/22 budget overspend forecasts.

Move defeated — Voting 5 in favour, 10 against

View link

29.09.2021

Cabinet

Accelerating regeneration and investment in
the BCP area

This report sets out how the Council can bring
forward an innovative approach to the way we
manage regeneration and development.

This report describes how by forming a URC the
Council will enable investment to be delivered at
a greater pace and scale without compromising
the quality and sustainability of development.
The report also considers the future role of
Bournemouth Development Company (BDC)
and the plans for delivering the Bournemouth
Town Deal for Boscombe.

Recommendations include agreeing additional
£3.470M in 2021/22 to support regeneration
programme which would need Council approval

View link

29.09.2021

Cabinet

Minutes of Meeting

View link

09.11.2021

Council

Minutes of the Meeting

Approval for additional funding of £3.470M in
2021/22

Voting — For - 41, Against - 8, Abstentions 13

View Link

18.10.2021

Overview &
Scrutiny
Board

Minutes of the Meeting

Moved by Member and duly seconded to
recommend to Cabinet that the URC Board has
cross party representation

Move defeated — For-6, Against-6, Abstentions-1
The Chair used casting vote

View link

27.10.2021

Cabinet

BCP Commissioning Plan for Regeneration
and Development and Urban Regeneration
Company Business Plan

This report proposes that the Council should
adopt a key commissioning model for
regeneration working with key partners including
its URC, BCP FuturePlaces Limited, the
Bournemouth Development Company (BDC)
and the Boscombe Towns Fund Board to
delivery high quality regeneration and
development for residents.

This report explains the Council’s approach,
detailing how it will commission services from
FuturePlaces; the initial plans for regenerating
key sites, and the anticipated outcomes from the
approach.

View link

27.10.2021

Cabinet

Minutes of the Meeting

View link

Page 7 of 100

17



https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s57015/2021092002MinutesOverviewandScrutinyBoard1.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=4836&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g4836/Printed%20minutes%2029th-Sep-2021%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=1
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g4810/Printed%20minutes%2009th-Nov-2021%2019.00%20Council.pdf?T=1&$LO$=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s57016/2021101802MinutesOverviewandScrutinyBoard.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=4837&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g4837/Printed%20minutes%2027th-Oct-2021%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=1

10.03.2022 | Audit & Minutes of the Meeting View link
Governance A briefing presentation about FuturePlaces
Committee
16.05.2022 | Portfolio Funding of BCP FuturePlaces View link
Holder
Decision Approve the carry forward of resources that
Record Council previously allocated to regeneration
ClIr Drew from 2021/22 to 2022/23
Mellor,
Leader of the
Council
16.06.2022 | Place Minutes of the Meeting View link
Overview & The minutes show there was significant scrutiny
Scrutiny of the new (capital based) business plan and
Committee funding mechanism (18 minuted separate bullet
points, no formal recommendations made for
Cabinet to consider.
22.06.2022 | Cabinet BCP FuturePlaces Ltd — Revised business | View link
plan and funding mechanism (Move to £8m
working capital loan arrangement)
This report seeks approval for funding changes
to the business model due to revised approach
as proposed in the Councils 2022/23 Budget as
to how the company will be funded. It also
seeks approval for the revised company
business plan as Council approval as sole
shareholder as such a change is a reserved
matter under the Shareholders Agreement.
It also seeks approval to streamline the Gateway
Approval process outlined in the Commissioning
Plan. The changes seek to remove duplication
and ensure that each new stage builds on, and
complements, its predecessor. There will not be
a reduction in the work required to investigate
options for delivery of each project and itis still
based on HM Treasury Green Book guidance.
22.06.2022 | Cabinet Minutes of the Meeting View link
Recommendations unanimously agreed
12.07.2022 | Council Minutes of the Meeting View link
Approval for new (capital) based funding model
and £8M working capital loan facility
Voting — For-33, Against-27, Abstentions-3
07.09.2022 | Cabinet BCP FuturePlaces Ltd - Appointment of View link
Independent Chair and Non-Executive
Directors (NEDs)
07.09.2022 | Cabinet Minutes of the Meeting View link
Recommendations unanimously agreed
11.01.2023 | Cabinet Bournemouth Towns Fund update View link

In addition to the main elements of the report
this included a progress update form BCP
FuturePlaces on its work to date on wider
masterplan (phase2) and regeneration of
Boscombe Town Centre

Page 8 of 100

18



https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g5292/Printed%20minutes%2010th-Mar-2022%2018.00%20Audit%20and%20Governance%20Committee.pdf?T=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s57042/2022051601PortfolioHolderDecisionRecordPortfolioHolderforFinanceandTransportation.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s57018/2022061602MinutesPlaceOverviewandScrutinyCommittee.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5011&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g5011/Printed%20minutes%2022nd-Jun-2022%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=284&MId=5028&Ver=4
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g5013/Public%20reports%20pack%2007th-Sep-2022%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10&$LO$=1
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g5013/Printed%20minutes%2007th-Sep-2022%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=1&$LO$=1
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g5018/Public%20reports%20pack%2011th-Jan-2023%2010.15%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10

11.01.2023

Cabinet

Minutes of the Meeting

View Link

08.02.2023

Cabinet

Approve Outline Business Case (OBC) for
Chapel Lane car park, agree to pay FPL
£31k.

View link

16.02.2023

Officer
Decision
Record

To approve Outline Business Case (OBC)
for Constitution Hill site, agree to pay FPL
£42Kk. To move responsibility for
progression into the Council’'s CNHAS
programme and for Housing Development
Services will lead and progress the scheme
to full business case FPL to retain a
design quality and placemaking role

View link

08.03.2023

Cabinet

Approve Outline Business Case (OBC) for
Poole Civic Centre site £250k,(agenda item
10) Christchurch Civic Centre £169k
(agenda item 11) site and Beach Rd car
park £74k(agenda item 12), agree to pay
FPL.

Cabinet also resolves to move to Full
Business Case (FBC) for the three sites.
Poole and Christchurch sites require
Council approval to move to FBC because
of financial cost.

Notes Annual Review 22/23 of FPL (agenda
item 13)

View link

21.03.2023

Council

Minutes of the meeting

Does not agree to move Poole Civic Centre
and Christchurch Civic Centre sites to FBC.
Reason - Pause the project for further
consideration and for next administration
following May elections.

Voting not to move to FBC Poole = For 33,
against27, abstain2.

Voting not to move to FBC Christchurch =
For 34, against26, abstain2.

View link

06.09.2023

Cabinet

Responding to the Best Value Notice

This report contains link to the Best value Notice itself
and internal governance reviewconducted by the
Chief Executive and external review conducted by
DLUCH

View link
BV Notice

Ext review

07.09.2023

Audit &
Governance
Committee

Grant Thornton: Auditor's Annual Report
2021/22 & 2022/23 (Value for money
arrangements report)

Auditor refers to significant weakness (no.5)
SW5 — Economy, effectiveness and efficiency-
Key Recommendation 5 The Council must

A) Ensure it has a robust decision making
process in place for specific initiatives including
the transformation programme, BCP

View link

Page 9 of 100

19



https://bcpcouncil-my.sharepoint.com/personal/nigel_stannard_bcpcouncil_gov_uk/Documents/Personal%20Folder/Investigations/FuturePlaces%202025/Scope%20and%20report/11.01.2023%09Cabinet%09Bournemouth%20Towns%20Fund%20update
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5356&Ver=4&$LO$=1
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=617&$LO$=1
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5357&Ver=4&$LO$=1
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g5033/Printed%20minutes%2021st-Mar-2023%2019.00%20Council.pdf?T=1&$LO$=1
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g5360/Public%20reports%20pack%2006th-Sep-2023%2010.15%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10&$LO$=1
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/bournemouth-christchurch-and-poole-council-best-value-notice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/bournemouth-christchurch-and-poole-council-external-assurance-review/external-assurance-review-of-bournemouth-christchurch-and-poole-council
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=287&MId=5593&Ver=4

FuturePlaces and other service delivery models
as well as capital projects and small
investments.

B) Ensure there is robust scrutiny and a sound
business case for selling Council assets to fund
the transformation programme. This should
include a fit for purpose mechanism for
developing a Business case, financial appraisal
models, and sufficient programme management
support to ensure programme objectives are
identified, project plans are developed,
objectives are delivered, and risk/reward and
issues are identified and mitigated/ enhanced.
C) Establish a regular cycle of reviewing
business plans in relation to all high value and
high-risk investments including its subsidiary
companies such as BCP FuturePlaces.

The external auditor noted:

Mew administration

We recagnise, that since the May 2023 elections ond following a change in administration, there have been some early indizations of a changg in the approach to decsion making
at the Council with o clear view that the Council can no longer continue on its current path and that a more prudent, cautious approach to governance and decision moking is

needed,

From a financial management perspsctive, we take assurances from the recent actions to mitigate some of the immediate financiol challenges facing the Councll, including
confirmation that the Capitalisation Direction is no longer o consideration and provision being made for potenticl costs ossociated with the future role of BCP FuturePlaces.
Impartantly, the July 2023 MTFP update repart to Cabinet pravided a fundamentally rebased MTFP that now pravides o better rapresentotion of the secle of the challenges facing
the Council into the medium term along with @ proposed financial strategy to bring the Council back onto a more sustainable footing, Whilst o good first step, the challenges of
actioning the changes required should not be underestimated,

We ae also encouraged by the recent decision by the new administration to review the transformation pragramme and BCP FuturePlaces and whats deliverable ot what cost os
well o o more detailed review of current service provision to identify further savings oimed ot addressing the underlying deficit that has been masked to dote through use of
reserves ond additional funding from Central Govemment during the Covid19 pandemic.

07.09.2023 | Audit & Minutes of the Meeting View link
Governance
Committee
20.09.2023 | Corporate Minutes of the Meeting View link
and Scrutiny of the report to Cabinet (27/9/23)
Community recommending closure of BCP FuturePlaces.
Overview & , , , ,
: Minutes included a public statement from Gail
Scrutiny Mayhew, Managing Director, ‘FuturePlaces’
Committee layhew, Managing Director, ‘FuturePlaces
d Statement
(rename | am extremely proud of the work that
Over\(lew & FuturePlaces has done in raising the aspirations
Scrutiny for regeneration and placemaking in
Board) Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole. This

work has attracted interest from national public
and private investors alike. | recognise that the
ongoing financial situation of the council
requires a different solution. BCP FuturePlaces
has played a part in setting a new agenda and
proposed structures for placemaking and high-
quality development delivery which may be
taken forward positively by the Council as it

Page 10 of 100

20



https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g5593/Printed%20minutes%2007th-Sep-2023%2018.00%20Audit%20and%20Governance%20Committee.pdf?T=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s57037/2023092004MinutesCorporateandCommunityOverviewandScrutinyCommittee1.pdf

takes over the lead role on key sites such as
Holes Bay and the BIC. FuturePlaces drive has
been to deliver the highest quality development
for communities and people in BCP. Itis
therefore regrettable that the DLUHC report
raised questions around governance which may
have been wrongly interpreted as attaching to
the FuturePlaces team.

27.09.2023

Cabinet

The Future of BCP FuturePlaces Ltd,
investment and development

This report makes recommendations (to close
BCP FuturePlaces) following a review of BCP
FuturePlaces Ltd.’s work programme and
business plan to enable BCP Council to deliver
financially sustainable investment and
development.

View link

27.09.2023

Cabinet

Minutes of Meeting

View link

25.10.2023

Cabinet

Christchurch Civic Offices

Cabinet recommends to Council sale of
Christchurch Civic Centre — reference to outline
business case (OBC) prepared by BCP
FuturePlaces (hotel scheme) in options
appraisal section which goes on to say there
was a £0.7m per annum viability gap in the OBC
SO was not progressed.

View link

25.10.2023

Cabinet

Minutes of the meeting

Cannot
access

07.11.2023

Council

Minutes of Meeting

RESOLVED that Council: - after consideration of
any feedback from a consultation with
Christchurch Town Council, approve the
disposal of the former civic offices in
Christchurch on such terms to be approved by
the Chief Financial Officer, also acting in his
capacity as Corporate Property Officer, in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for
Finance.

Voting: For: 57, Against: 5, Abstention: 3.

View link

10.01.2024

Cabinet

Council-Owned Companies — Shareholder
Governance Review

This report sets out the action taken to ensure
appropriate and effective governance of Council
owned companies including the independent
governance review undertaken by DLUHC, a
self assessment review of Council-owned
companies undertaken bythe Council’s Internal
Audit Team, and the governance review
undertaken by the Interim Chair of BCP
FuturePlaces Ltd which considered lessons
learnt over the first year of operation.

Following the work undertaken above and the
subsequent closure of BCP FuturePlaces Ltd, a
review of shareholder governance arrangements
for all Council-owned companies was

View link

Page 11 of 100

21



https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5361&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g5361/Printed%20minutes%2027th-Sep-2023%2010.15%20Cabinet.pdf?T=1
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g5362/Public%20reports%20pack%2025th-Oct-2023%2010.15%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10&$LO$=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=284&MId=5384&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5365&Ver=4

undertaken by the Interim Corporate Director for
Resources in November 2023.

The review recommends changes designed to
provide clearer understanding of the respective
roles, decision-making arrangements, and
improved accountability along with next steps for
implementation should these recommendations
be approved.

10.01.2024

Cabinet

Minutes of the Meeting

View link

11.01.2024

Audit &
Governance
Committee

Council Owned Companies Shareholder
Governance Review

Following a question raised at Council on 7
November 2023, the Leader of the Council has
asked the Audit & Governance Committee to
consider a report on lessons learnt from a
governance perspective following the closure of
the Council’s Urban Regeneration Company —
BCP FuturePlaces Limited.

This report sets out the action taken to ensure
appropriate and effective governance of Council
owned companies including the independent
governance review undertaken by DLUHC, a
self assessment review of Council-owned
companies undertaken by the Council’s Internal
Audit Team, and the governance review
undertaken by the Interim Chair of BCP
FuturePlaces Ltd which considered lessons
learnt over the first year of operation.

Following the work undertaken above and the
subsequent closure of BCP FuturePlaces Ltd, a
review of shareholder governance arrangements
for all Council-owned companies was
undertaken by the Interim Corporate Director for
Resources in November 2023.

The review recommends changes designed to
provide clearer understanding of the respective
roles, decision-making arrangements, and
improved accountability along with next steps for
implementation should these recommendations
be approved.

View link

11.01.2024

Audit &
Governance
Committee

Minutes of the Meeting

View link

17.07.2024

Cabinet

Financial Outturn Report

BCP FuturePlaces Ltd

15. BCP FuturePlaces Ltd is a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Council. It was set up to
provide development advice to the council
regarding its strategic regeneration schemes
across the three towns.

16. In September 2023 the company's only
shareholder, BCP Council resolved to bring all

View link

Page 12 of 100

22



https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g5365/Printed%20minutes%2010th-Jan-2024%2010.15%20Cabinet.pdf?T=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=287&MId=5596&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g5596/Printed%20minutes%2011th-Jan-2024%2018.00%20Audit%20and%20Governance%20Committee.pdf?T=1
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g5901/Public%20reports%20pack%2017th-Jul-2024%2010.15%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10&$LO$=1

activities in-house with the staff joining the
councils regeneration and housing options
teams to form the new directorate for Investment
and Development. Subsequently, on 31 October
2023 all the business assets and employees of
the company were transferred to the council and
the company is expected to cease trading in
2024. The company financial statements for
2023/24 have, therefore, been prepared on a
basis other than going concern.

17. The company sales for the year (all to the
council) were £3.3m with a gross profit of £2.3m.
After administrative expenses of £1.2m and
interest and other costs of £0.3m the net profit
achieved was £0.8m. This amount reduces the
company accumulated deficit brought forward
from March 2023 of £3.2m to £2.4m. This deficit
is backed by a loan from the council which is
now irrecoverable. The council set aside a £4m
provision against company losses leaving £1.6m
available to fund the additional revenue costs
picked up by the council for regeneration activity
in 2023/24

18. Due to the materiality level for the council’s
statement of accounts, FuturePlaces activities
will not be consolidated into the group accounts,
but the financial outcome as described above
will be reflected in the council’s overall general
fund position.

25.07.2024 | Audit & Grant Thornton: Interim Auditor’'s Annual View link
Governance | Report for the year ended 31 March 2024
Committee Grant Thornton note the closure of BCP
FuturePlaces and recommendations previously
made are closed
25.07.2024 | Audit & Minutes of the Meeting View link
Governance
Committee
02.10.2024 | Cabinet Council owned companies Shareholder View link

Governance Review

This report sets out the action taken following
the reports to Audit & Governance Committee
on 11 January 2024, and to Cabinet on 10
January 2024, advising on the lessons learnt
from a governance perspective following the
closure of the Council’s Urban Regeneration
Company — BCP Future Places. These reports
recommended changes designed to provide a
clearer understanding of the respective roles,
decision-making arrangements and improved
accountability for council onned companies.

In response to the recommendations from both
Audit & Governance Committee and Cabinet
this report now sets out the detailed governance
framework proposed by BCP Council via the
establishment of the Shareholder Advisory

Page 13 of 100

23



https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=287&MId=5973&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g5973/Printed%20minutes%2025th-Jul-2024%2018.00%20Audit%20and%20Governance%20Committee.pdf?T=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5903&Ver=4

Board and the Shareholder Operations Board
together with supporting Guidance for
Councillors and Officers appointed to Outside
Bodies.

A further report providing an update following a
review of the existing Council owned companies
on their effectiveness will be presented to a
future meeting of Cabinet.

Itis also noted that in line with the governance
framework initially approved by Audit &
Governance Committee and Cabinet in January
2024, BCP Councillors currently appointed to
council owned companies will be removed and
replaced with Officer appointments. Further
details about these arrangements will be
detailed in a further report to Cabinet

02.10.2024 | Cabinet Minutes of the Meeting View link
15.10.2024 | Council Minutes of the Meeting View link
Reconvened Council approved the inclusion of the

on Shareholder Governance Framework in the

04.11.2024 Council's Constitution subject to

amendments

RESOLVED that Council: -

(a) Approve the Shareholder Advisory Board
and Shareholder Operations Board Governance
Framework for inclusion in the Council’s
Constitution subject to the replacement of ‘be
appointed’ with ‘normally be nominated’ into the
final paragraph of 1.5.2 so as to read ‘For
clarification, BCP Councillors will not normally
be nominated by BCP Council to Boards of
Council Companies’;

(b) Approve the Guidance to Councillors and
Officers Appointed to Outside Bodies for
inclusion in the Council’s Constitution; and

(c) Delegate authority to the Monitoring Officer
to take all steps necessary to ensure the
Council’s Constitution remains up to date in
respect of these documents.

Page 14 of 100

24



https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s52998/Minutes%20of%20Previous%20Meeting.pdf
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=284&MId=5909&Ver=4

Table 2 - BCP FUTUREPLACES LIMITED (FPL)TIMELINE
OF EVENTS
(relevant as far as is practicable to the scope items in this

report) — this timeline does not attempt to be an exhaustive timeline of every event
involving FPL and BCP Council (as FPL Shareholder))

BCP FUTUREPLACES Ltd = FPL in this table

DATE

EVENT

LINK (if
available and
relevant) or
whereabouts
in this report

18 June 2021

FPL is formally incorporated at Companies House —
Graham Farrant Director

Articles of
Association

Early July

(and to the
end of
financial year
31/3/22)

BCP Council creates a separate FPL cost centre within
the Council’s finance system for FPL financial activity
and any costs incurred are met by BCP Council who
pay supplier and creditors direct. There was an eventual
recharge (via BCP Councilinvoice(s)) at the end of the 21/22
financial yearto FPL for these costs (i.e. costs paid for by the
Councilon FPL’s behalf). FPL then invoiced (sales) the Council for
these costs (i.e. the Council paying for these costs as the
customer). These two transactions were circular to ensure the
relevantdebitand credittransactions appearinthe general
ledger/accounts and cash/bank of FPL butbecause of VAT nuance
andtimingsthe invoice amounts were not identical (in the Council
accounts and the FPL accounts)

See 4

5 July 2021

Managing Director appointed, initially on interim basis

See 3.1

July and
August 2021

Appointment of five further interim staff members
including Chief Operating Officer (COO) and Strategic
Engagement Director.

All five on interim contracts via Comensura, the
Council's neutral third party vendor supplier of agency
workers.

See 3.1

6 Oct 2021

FPL Business Plan 2021/23 is produced and agreed by
Cabinet on 27 October 2021. Where FPL are to —
“Provide extra bandwidth to existing property facing
departments within the council by providing additional
place making and real estate expertise, advising and
supporting the Council on an initial list of 14 projects”.
Emphasis on Stewardship proposition — a longer term
interest in the place, patient capital, value creation
(economic, social and environmental) over the long
term instead of value extraction in the short term (by
investors).

The FPL business plan also included six thematic
projects and further mentioned FPL involvement in a
number of cross-cutting strategic initiatives.

14 Oct 2021

Clirs Mellor and Broadhead formally registered as
directors of company at Companies House. The COO
sends a note to the Council’'s MO which states that

Filing History

Page 15 of 100

25



https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/document-api-images-live.ch.gov.uk/docs/LHimCxgBGDOjPdGcXiI1PlbvMJZQQYGRTFCTLzwi2Vg/application-pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=ASIAWRGBDBV3EGKFH7BN%2F20250902%2Feu-west-2%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20250902T145806Z&X-Amz-Expires=60&X-Amz-Security-Token=IQoJb3JpZ2luX2VjEMT%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2FwEaCWV1LXdlc3QtMiJHMEUCIEcK7WHoqRxdHBz0V0PJJ9hwbaSMHfyM1pyP7OMFbScBAiEApCdUgehs2CNCej4ELUuQeyzXkKUGwzRfaEurgyigm%2BIqugUILBAFGgw0NDkyMjkwMzI4MjIiDDlx9bNOK7rhHbYT6yqXBQQ7cOiClMGEUJScWDiI%2FE8KGXB9C5vGfzHxYq1jWg0%2Fk%2FdWeQA5vVwVCxQvihaHMvVHwhSa0ABj9I%2FD3nenoR9vWmt5%2FRozfKvS48E8LSzW7i2B87ikO24jHpMf4%2FXYKTTiWq2FwlRSYtnv8dA5gGgUMZ6%2Bqz%2BPufMVoO0umfYeK9lk6aurQIS84dkFL4vXO%2Bu3ZFF6PgnULQPxB4Hh8weC1dS80X8cBF1CpZ5%2FChLeruRBGel3Zz0klxGZzWoJkaWnTbb%2BPcEg4vZmPSiJILzgxhjTvPQwgi8f3ye6mTv9SqCLd%2Fl0s9FbnVYJL0S4caxMDhV9JLPDtDgPElbn9SEA4RVWVQpyJYMRx02CDC0FsfuqH2L94V54nIhaF%2F4GaUn2Z%2BnztGCjDZn7Drb7XRoSy5mDQCp20eO0d7KQI36FxRNLw4To0cjTxGUZQDdeLZOs4xvv4UrJ7q2lZ9eto01fL2nB1mTfVY9lJSjHBX6%2FCBQa1UXMcMsQIDTLBhwpJTg9weey8e8DcEyphAtwtvqXkM%2BWJXAufOTOjj6NUQReoGi2yGgE7xG9WYP7gUyaHc6Y5vXB%2FeL7LlIGsi9%2FjMxtYqs5pmYnfizAD3bBPUZjBjWWZfRJlDCrmdACzco10mXYPVQlCmWp29EQdlcAlvygvyjQ9VPIfPuqYVgquMfBIZpqfDesXryQBit6NPYMvUkIp%2FxilLqB20LX8wXn1o5Q3WKxsHb6%2F0pSExkgU6QIjwfRsh3FPF9KtsqgNkfvfVEu3U9WenOzU3x%2B2E3B0l3hYWgmZIBRtAvLp4IS2i2DubGri8O3QU2toYxkY6jNWS4cYiGOTgkJdsnGN8XMfaLzi99agnc3MVEvNCiqoC6rmkPlHjC0OjCQo9vFBjqxAYEg5V98CxRJ8cWaF4e9dyZf0K3bPLi6EKF6noVmIZA%2FqRyV9YezNNYWpETnQLIhaQrX1qOZLkuHFqIEAbIKY72oU55b6KRC7DHPxpereH9V39Qdgr7rmI6ItdHwZSPMqX0pcJ3gA%2FaMbUqsst69FzSPXzbPQC%2BP%2FKvtlUiGpFleQJdN7Zsiuvt1K5gdZfhOIwNwpF8aP4fYHrZMMjgyuBS4r1j%2BCbAMPzO6ncrKu59fIQ%3D%3D&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&response-content-disposition=inline%3Bfilename%3D%2213465045_newinc_2021-06-18.pdf%22&X-Amz-Signature=9179d5b25bc4585ead7febf02de17334677d20625e671d90c17fef1fe31fb925
https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/document-api-images-live.ch.gov.uk/docs/LHimCxgBGDOjPdGcXiI1PlbvMJZQQYGRTFCTLzwi2Vg/application-pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=ASIAWRGBDBV3EGKFH7BN%2F20250902%2Feu-west-2%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20250902T145806Z&X-Amz-Expires=60&X-Amz-Security-Token=IQoJb3JpZ2luX2VjEMT%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2FwEaCWV1LXdlc3QtMiJHMEUCIEcK7WHoqRxdHBz0V0PJJ9hwbaSMHfyM1pyP7OMFbScBAiEApCdUgehs2CNCej4ELUuQeyzXkKUGwzRfaEurgyigm%2BIqugUILBAFGgw0NDkyMjkwMzI4MjIiDDlx9bNOK7rhHbYT6yqXBQQ7cOiClMGEUJScWDiI%2FE8KGXB9C5vGfzHxYq1jWg0%2Fk%2FdWeQA5vVwVCxQvihaHMvVHwhSa0ABj9I%2FD3nenoR9vWmt5%2FRozfKvS48E8LSzW7i2B87ikO24jHpMf4%2FXYKTTiWq2FwlRSYtnv8dA5gGgUMZ6%2Bqz%2BPufMVoO0umfYeK9lk6aurQIS84dkFL4vXO%2Bu3ZFF6PgnULQPxB4Hh8weC1dS80X8cBF1CpZ5%2FChLeruRBGel3Zz0klxGZzWoJkaWnTbb%2BPcEg4vZmPSiJILzgxhjTvPQwgi8f3ye6mTv9SqCLd%2Fl0s9FbnVYJL0S4caxMDhV9JLPDtDgPElbn9SEA4RVWVQpyJYMRx02CDC0FsfuqH2L94V54nIhaF%2F4GaUn2Z%2BnztGCjDZn7Drb7XRoSy5mDQCp20eO0d7KQI36FxRNLw4To0cjTxGUZQDdeLZOs4xvv4UrJ7q2lZ9eto01fL2nB1mTfVY9lJSjHBX6%2FCBQa1UXMcMsQIDTLBhwpJTg9weey8e8DcEyphAtwtvqXkM%2BWJXAufOTOjj6NUQReoGi2yGgE7xG9WYP7gUyaHc6Y5vXB%2FeL7LlIGsi9%2FjMxtYqs5pmYnfizAD3bBPUZjBjWWZfRJlDCrmdACzco10mXYPVQlCmWp29EQdlcAlvygvyjQ9VPIfPuqYVgquMfBIZpqfDesXryQBit6NPYMvUkIp%2FxilLqB20LX8wXn1o5Q3WKxsHb6%2F0pSExkgU6QIjwfRsh3FPF9KtsqgNkfvfVEu3U9WenOzU3x%2B2E3B0l3hYWgmZIBRtAvLp4IS2i2DubGri8O3QU2toYxkY6jNWS4cYiGOTgkJdsnGN8XMfaLzi99agnc3MVEvNCiqoC6rmkPlHjC0OjCQo9vFBjqxAYEg5V98CxRJ8cWaF4e9dyZf0K3bPLi6EKF6noVmIZA%2FqRyV9YezNNYWpETnQLIhaQrX1qOZLkuHFqIEAbIKY72oU55b6KRC7DHPxpereH9V39Qdgr7rmI6ItdHwZSPMqX0pcJ3gA%2FaMbUqsst69FzSPXzbPQC%2BP%2FKvtlUiGpFleQJdN7Zsiuvt1K5gdZfhOIwNwpF8aP4fYHrZMMjgyuBS4r1j%2BCbAMPzO6ncrKu59fIQ%3D%3D&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&response-content-disposition=inline%3Bfilename%3D%2213465045_newinc_2021-06-18.pdf%22&X-Amz-Signature=9179d5b25bc4585ead7febf02de17334677d20625e671d90c17fef1fe31fb925
https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/13465045/filing-history?page=2

independent executive directors need to be appointed
asap

29 Oct 2021

First formal FPL Board meeting, Cllir Broadhead
nominated as Chair. Thereafter Board meetings took
place on an approximate six weekly basis — Board
meetings were structured with an agenda, minutes
were produced, together with an actions log

See 3.3

1 Nov 2021

Managing Director becomes permanent employee of
FPL (formal start date for employment purposes)

See 3.1

Mid Nov

Strategic Engagement Director becomes permanent
employee of FPL (formal start date for employment
purposes)

See 3.1

26 Nov 2021

First transaction to FPL HSBC bank account. £5k credit
drawdown on the £400k (initially) agreed working
capital loan. £5k pragmatic to merely set up bank
account.

See Appendix
1.1 Table 2
Working
capital loan
summary

16 Dec 2021

Board meeting action log states — Explore ways to
maintain stewardship with a working capital (loan)
financial model — whilst not stated in the action log this
is as a result of MTFP revenue budget pressures

20 Dec 2021

BCP Council awards FPL £100k ARG4 grant for ‘Place
Value Identification to inform a Brand & Place making
Strategy for the BCP area’ and pays into FPL’s HSBC

bank account. Note — FPL were not the final recipientof this
grant, FPL commission 1HQto do this work

1 Jan 2022

Chief Operating Officer becomes permanent employee
of FPL (formal start date for employment purposes)

See 3.1

25 Jan 2022

FPL directors, Mellor and Farrant sign working capital
loan agreement (1) for £400,000. Drawdown is not
automatic, FPL (the borrower) needs to request*,
following the procedure in the agreement.

*this excludesthe £5k drawdown shown at 26 Nov 2021 entry,
which was instigated by the Council

27 Jan 2022

Managing Director and Chief Operating Officer are
formally registered as directors of company lodged at
Companies House

Filing History

27 Jan 2022

FPL Board minutes show that FPL premises (office
location) has been Poole civic centre annexe and is
being closed in May 2022. Action for the COO to bring
forward to next meeting an accommodation business
case report.

1 Feb 2022

Formal Termination of appointment of Graham Farrant

as a FPL director on 31 January 2022 lodged at
Companies House

Filing History

3 Feb 2022

BCP Council set up FPL Barclays Bank account
(following tendered change of bank) — note first
transaction did not hit this bank account until 27 April
2022

Bank
statements are
available

15 Feb 2022

New bespoke Memorandum and Articles of Association
lodged at Companies House (replacing initial model
articles)

Articles

Page 16 of 100

26



https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/13465045/filing-history?page=2
https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/13465045/filing-history?page=2
https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/document-api-images-live.ch.gov.uk/docs/F1Wfl5AMTxlXwwKGRH5erM4JacNICFnlnScaGEklS9w/application-pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=ASIAWRGBDBV3AELICRXU%2F20250904%2Feu-west-2%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20250904T101019Z&X-Amz-Expires=60&X-Amz-Security-Token=IQoJb3JpZ2luX2VjEPH%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2FwEaCWV1LXdlc3QtMiJHMEUCIBmmmGZ%2BQ6sk3q%2BLc%2BgaiytXupwNBr6gZ3r8QxhtZuv%2BAiEA9ib%2F%2FFWzjVrmRrCdSuY2mghECFSbjQaCJRtzT4RIDv8qugUIWhAFGgw0NDkyMjkwMzI4MjIiDOcQutQyELwVcNEL2SqXBW1QqIdCtYFggN%2Fc054KYaabs3CumsjnyBppXd0bthE%2BcryhvKoWV77mpypspYSxWlP8W39pKmku5FS5jvqDH3WCepPpf3tT3KeWuhFvvq4dNqVpj%2FDpzfKOYIsW%2BKAtDePEx5HKHriwN9%2FqK4FNAm%2BJWVK%2FrnTPBsM7TrWEGVWAoBddgnXj8cINIE3rqyFViquumUFvZRIhryy%2Fo%2FPj2lWGKYYEuVxyr05fEaARmb4WzujN6mFor%2BUxqLQfx2UudOthwSJphuVxiPNKJRz%2FqPcLnVaI%2BhfA1RHSMgVg6vUKfsrgVujuwD9%2FTfgx6%2BtVXbp%2FFxAXdJ8pPg1LKVHyguiFx2ayJLS9Vtc3brQYiwKos9jEJ87iD0aVzvOuLhw1vE7xJOai1WpQ1LgnUmyGZIx%2BTsifLSJtcFv1sAJ%2FIOD3H1rFeCtKcdFp0XmjnJqRZS7bc8F0b5l5vDQUYHDeVHWKXPN9WZ4qDptnC63J3v223PkB0%2Bu%2BMiDQFCF0xTY6q4pQxnSCFiTLkni%2Bu9Q87%2FP3cJcJJQzpDcf60X9hCly6uAZXo9fXCY8LDDVekC8b6cWPJvliydzoTdCQNqXue6ldoD%2BLPv9m5InWylEP3NZzFDw7sDdN24f0MuS%2F4tkTqBnKUyg33tmGXt42JfFCAbJvp9oWfoUEqjO6VQz6OhuRj9qgmqWrbI6txrIbyX%2B04OjvvnqYTrBoA0MUS9zV2zvDVXW4Rbh1uznVjeS%2BV1zXG78QwhgovscxdlXlZe6qdp7tCMNRZI0sdltmY%2BvFGlrnoe1BZXc1rsuZIfAtyDBIqEjV6SorVo8IqFBI94Fz8wSzK2R2%2FGbVyWRe7tuwnYKTG1xMJlhvqbv3WrI1H6dxPvdBTNRCbzDBreXFBjqxAXFlAcY7cyuuI0ORAebMhhvLjOppJrRXlAr2keYoE7xX%2Fa%2B%2BcmLCWHx16oa9S3fQKx13Hn%2FGS8x5LNINSDQlhPiVX1PN1EWNEbrmCuM9u22MKTckagliHVXPg7HOu5PQK52ldOhxiMda3iUXNG9EpJv3cA3JonuBwXqzfJB%2Fsv0tBaOk6z2xv8mnD5146lyw45%2FpsPzZZLgqj0kKCh%2B55w%2Bww3R6Dxd8kyah19krGbHOew%3D%3D&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&response-content-disposition=inline%3Bfilename%3D%22companies_house_document.pdf%22&X-Amz-Signature=010ded264be2218cf5a170ea26bdf00d2c7bf4e86cd76efb3ba67c32dfc7edcf

23 Feb 2022

First debit transaction through FPL bank (HSBC)
account, and first direct posting to FPL separate

ledger(s). Up to this point BCP Council paid for (bank) and
posted to FPL cost centre in BCP ledger (see early July 2021 entry
in this table)

Bank
statements are
available

24 Mar 2022

Terms of Reference (ToR) for Remuneration Committee
are produced by the company secretary — ToR state
that all members shall be independent members

31 Mar 2022

Financial Year End 21/22 for FPL and the Council —
Accounts produced on an accruals basis so relevant
21/22 transactions are processed well into 22/23 as
FPL statutory reporting (filing) date is not until 31/12/22.
The Council has an earlier statutory reporting date.
This means some accrual estimates are different
between FPL and Council accounts — both are “true
and fair” (external auditors’ opinion)

25 Mar 2022

BCP Council presents two invoices to FPL for costs
incurred during 21/22 by FPL but were recorded in
Council cost centre and ledgers. The two invoices
aggregate to £1,213,608.29 + 177,870.91 VAT =
£1,391,479.20 .

Invaice no
1261609
1261667
Total

EVAT £ Inv. Total
1,291.177.20
10002.00

1,391.479.20

£ Amount
1,130,023.29
§3.585.00
1,213,608.29

161.153.91
16,717.00
177.870.91

Invoice 1261609 - Importantto note not all costs were subjectto
VAT (this was a disbursementrecharge of costs not a sales invoice)
so VAT total above does notequal 20% of netinvoice total. Non-
vatable expenditure includes salaries and wages for example.

Invoice 1261667 — All costs subjectto VAT (this was a salesinvoice
for council services provided to FPL so VAT at 20% applied).

These two invoices were paid by FPL on 29 April. This was after the
pointthe Council had paid/settled the salesinvoice from FPL, see
26 April 2022.

See Appendix
1.1, Table 2,
25 March 2022

26 April 2022

BCP Council pays FPL for invoice £1,107,552.59 +
£221,510.52 VAT = £1,329,063.11 (FPL0O001). Note
this invoice is based on two invoices presented to FPL
by BCP Council for costs incurred by the Council (see
25 March 2022 entry above) but also includes some

minor costs incurred directly by FPL. importantto note all
costs were subjectto VAT (this was a salesinvoice, FPL being Vat
registered) so VAT total above does equal 20% of net invoice total.

See Appendix
1.1, Table 2.
26 April 2022

27 April 2022

First transaction through FPL Barclays account
£1,391,476.20. Transaction is a transfer actioned by
FPL from its HSBC bank account.

Bank
statements are
available

29 April 2022

FPL pays BCP Council (from its’ Barclays bank
account) for the two invoices shown at 25 Mar 2022
entry above. £1,391,479.20

See Appendix
1.1 Table 2, 29
April 2022

Page 17 of 100

27




3 May 2022 Further £10k credit drawdown on the £400k (initially) See Appendix
agreed working capital loan. Unclear why this 1.1 Table 2
drawdown was made. Working

capital loan
summary

17 May 2022 | Further £385k credit drawdown on the £400k (initially) See Appendix
agreed working capital loan. At this point all the initial 1.1 Table 2
£400k loan was drawn down. (5+10+385 =400) Working

capital loan
summary

12 July 2022 | Council agrees £8M working capital loan facility.

Accordingly, FPL produce a revised/updated Business
Plan for 22/23.

18 July 2022 | FPL Board minutes indicate that FPL have secured new | Minutes
premises (office in Exeter Rd, Bournemouth BH2 5AY) available on
and are close to moving in after some minor work is file.
completed. Exact move in date — Office licence
agreement is 1/8/2022. Licence fees are paid to Hinton | Also See 5.5
Road Investments Ltd (who appear to be the rent
collection entity with the Bourne Space Group)

29 July 2022 | FPL pay Hinton Rd Investments Ltd £60,750 + £10,800
VAT =£71,550. This sum is made up of £54,000
rent/licence for 12 months which is subject to VAT and
£6,750 deposit (refundable) when occupancy is
terminated. (refunded on 10 Jan 2024)

9 Aug 2022 FPL directors, the MD and COO sign working capital
loan agreement (2) for £8,000,000

10 Aug 2022 | Further £800k credit drawdown on the new £8M See Appendix
(extended) agreed working capital loan. 1.1 Table 2

Working
capital loan
summary

11 Oct 2022 | Appointment of Lord Kerslake as a director on 1 Filing History
October 2022 Lodged at Companies House — Non
Executive Director and Chair of the Board

27 Oct 2022 | Further £850k credit drawdown on the £8M (extended) | See Appendix
agreed working capital loan. 1.1 Table 2

Working
capital loan
summary

9 Nov 2022 Termination of appointment of Philip Broadhead as a Filing History
director on 8 November 2022

7 Dec 2022 BCP Council presents final invoice (final reconciliation) | See Appendix
to FPL for costs incurred during 21/22 by FPL but were | 1.1 Table 2, 7
recorded in Council cost centre and ledgers. The Dec 2022

invoices was for £262,253.70 + 35,135.18 VAT =

£297,388.88.

Invoice 12869640 - Importantto note not all costs were subjectto
VAT (this was a disbursementrecharge of costs not a sales invoice)
so VAT total above does notequal 20% of net invoice total. Non-
vatable expenditure includes salaries and wages for example.

Page 18 of 100

28



https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/13465045/filing-history?page=2
https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/13465045/filing-history?page=2

This invoice was paid by FPL on 27 January 2023l. This was after
the pointthe Council had paid/settled the salesinvoice from FPL,
see 23 January 2023.

20 Dec 2022 | Accounts for a small company made up to 31 March 21/22
2022 (audited 21/22 accounts) are filed at Companies Accounts
House
1 Jan 2023 First signs (emails) that Council Commissioning Team See 3.2.20
approx. and FPL relations are becoming strained
23 Jan 2023 | BCP Council pays FPL for invoice £262,253.70 + See Appendix
£52,450.74 VAT = £314,704.44 (FPL0O002). Note this | 1.1 Table 2, 23
invoice is based on the invoice presented to FPL by Jan 2023
BCP Council for costs incurred by the Council (see 7
Dec 2022 entrv above). Importantto note all costs were
subjectto VAT (this was a salesinvoice, FPL being Vatregistered)
so VAT total above does equal 20% of net invoice total.
27 Jan 2023 | FPL pays BCP Council (from its’ Barclays bank See Appendix
account) for the invoice shown at 7 Dec 2022 entry 1.1 Table 2, 27
above. £297,388.88 Jan 2023
19 Jan 2023 | Appointment of Mr Patrick Hayes as a director on 19 Filing History
January 2023 and Termination of appointment of
Andrew Mellor as a director on 19 January 2023 lodged
at Companies House
Feb 2023 BCP Council appoints a new Commissiong Director in
charge of the Commissiong team, following resignation
of previous post holder
2 Feb 2023 Further £1,450k credit drawdown on the £8M See Appendix
(extended) agreed working capital loan. 1.1 Table 2
Working
capital loan
summary
9 Feb 2023 FPL invoice the Council for first two Outline Business Invoices and
Cases (OBC) for Constitution Hill £41,670 and Chapel bank
Lane £30,975. (figures are VAT exclusive) statements
The two figures aggregate to the total sales/turnover available on
figure in the FPL P&L account for 22/23. file
(Note as a result of Cabinet resolution 8 Feb 2022)
BCP Council make payment to FPL on 10/3/23
3 Mar 2023 Appointment of Mr lan Marcus as a director on 13 Filing History
February 2023 and Appointment of Ms Karima Fahmy
as a director on 13 February 2023 lodged at
Companies House
Mar 2023 FPL Chair initiates three reviews (one from each NED)
of arrangements
e Governance Review — Karima Fahmy
e Projects Review — Pat Hayes
e Investment Review — lan Marcus (paused until
after elections)
15 Mar 2023 | BCP Council presents one disbursement invoices to See Appendix
FPL for costs incurred during 22/23 by FPL but were 1.1 Table 2, 15
recorded in Council cost centre and ledgers (same Mar 2023

arrangement as 21/22 and before working capital loan
agreement was agreed in July 2022) £628,750.39 +
£91,884.21 VAT = £720,634.60

Page 19 of 100

29



https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/document-api-images-live.ch.gov.uk/docs/sV5_5CZ-qfnm4RYjG89yizbITadWb9BbhWh8qmqllwM/application-pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=ASIAWRGBDBV3MV3WBORA%2F20250904%2Feu-west-2%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20250904T104527Z&X-Amz-Expires=60&X-Amz-Security-Token=IQoJb3JpZ2luX2VjEPL%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2FwEaCWV1LXdlc3QtMiJHMEUCIQDTUzrPQjvdddPj2CSPdB4fmTBZ3tOEIpg%2Bm6Bv3PADzwIgPQZmOCKSuyACFo7xlz%2BBXSLfqox3syJ%2BTZ2M6w%2BOSv4qugUIWxAFGgw0NDkyMjkwMzI4MjIiDOyv%2Fo2imzFRujDzDiqXBY3FYo%2Faldw0%2FxpLRiGuLEY1%2FBhFyJ6GNkLKfaqztlIBjIMwEJl%2BcLPZURD0CuKO3Ih0Gc0Gfq9UbCaaxiGjZso1460MMqPOrYY6wgmmRgvNOnhkNDlxPufb%2FFzNnVd%2BAnFgn6Is5HQc2%2F8VPTtYipC9P5ZkxbRAuw3iP9kH8bKMEYhm%2FHPC4kbXmovO9M%2B4Qql5vXZrKx0Z8Rcmt5lnfKtPkZFt3t2Qx6HtiygTg0xRk6bLgE5WaGEQmvyV6Ps6iiTR4kpMTQy2U%2BsJpFYZjsZ53IDazpnyGwxnGGTNxsj6N0AHceYltqS4c0AQHSI8sPup9er8Tsvuo7%2BugM%2BIENiT7MJHOEzHqmhrbekHNKUudb4GhDyO83ao4HhSufgX8ePMTPcsrWu8WpGFg96D8mP%2BOE72OjDNsTnpli39A%2BUFL84bXQFY8LzxKoYR8ohvL6gZBul%2FoSCFN%2FzYjN%2Bdx%2FVAIQ6RdRx89Rkp91o63uSuDxOM9Yab6I4gLIqmpjWR8Nmv2JUazfOtHYTDDSkikK5BuffECpeHM%2BCY0EOEoezdPQm5fLGpJmKtbdiaq3vuIVcro26jZ4vYKdO%2FdQo6bosZUQ0UUFZTGDjnYLfzM0RB72sFg87IlQWs7klryQYCK74iRn%2FmVDYzIWOQX5U300aStwYc%2BteOhsVd6GRHq99J2l07EAadq2soeENaStGsSflARiQtR7vBAeowz4OQG7e0jAuXycXjrNcx%2FnJ4zEgawrLJs64kGSobzCAFRNm5JPcr0ETbFwXCQ8V8kt%2BBjpdYBAvttrwOlbt2AvEIao4fL5cQkT%2BhqyYGZWP7EGuRzUGJqJ2%2FuKWSOjlnRDXovA3Gxrc%2B0HwlMO17jkp%2F90AJFLebqkT5JTDdw%2BXFBjqxARGQE5PL2ao6m%2BhJDhduk%2Fu40rrDgawQ47NAzD18Isa4gvvRtYy%2Bj4bJeT8aT%2F1VkwHyqRFwITIYmEtHLHa9Ym9ojQhwnnhdgGKcLo5ff8RcJyay%2FYr%2BmrqVwhw0QSGBcVtqW9FJxNxbHJhqAFPduk4DbQcxQXBrdjUxS%2Frmv8ftBubgk4pkiT28VyVQdAetKjzDI2TtdRZKtiKmQmS1Ece3ECENUbwJx0PpKJ0sxB7MzQ%3D%3D&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&response-content-disposition=inline%3Bfilename%3D%2213465045_aa_2022-12-20.pdf%22&X-Amz-Signature=76ddf1fabdd1f6139a1c49468358eb9ddb520a6dd4c8f1489aaf986c229453d0
https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/document-api-images-live.ch.gov.uk/docs/sV5_5CZ-qfnm4RYjG89yizbITadWb9BbhWh8qmqllwM/application-pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=ASIAWRGBDBV3MV3WBORA%2F20250904%2Feu-west-2%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20250904T104527Z&X-Amz-Expires=60&X-Amz-Security-Token=IQoJb3JpZ2luX2VjEPL%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2FwEaCWV1LXdlc3QtMiJHMEUCIQDTUzrPQjvdddPj2CSPdB4fmTBZ3tOEIpg%2Bm6Bv3PADzwIgPQZmOCKSuyACFo7xlz%2BBXSLfqox3syJ%2BTZ2M6w%2BOSv4qugUIWxAFGgw0NDkyMjkwMzI4MjIiDOyv%2Fo2imzFRujDzDiqXBY3FYo%2Faldw0%2FxpLRiGuLEY1%2FBhFyJ6GNkLKfaqztlIBjIMwEJl%2BcLPZURD0CuKO3Ih0Gc0Gfq9UbCaaxiGjZso1460MMqPOrYY6wgmmRgvNOnhkNDlxPufb%2FFzNnVd%2BAnFgn6Is5HQc2%2F8VPTtYipC9P5ZkxbRAuw3iP9kH8bKMEYhm%2FHPC4kbXmovO9M%2B4Qql5vXZrKx0Z8Rcmt5lnfKtPkZFt3t2Qx6HtiygTg0xRk6bLgE5WaGEQmvyV6Ps6iiTR4kpMTQy2U%2BsJpFYZjsZ53IDazpnyGwxnGGTNxsj6N0AHceYltqS4c0AQHSI8sPup9er8Tsvuo7%2BugM%2BIENiT7MJHOEzHqmhrbekHNKUudb4GhDyO83ao4HhSufgX8ePMTPcsrWu8WpGFg96D8mP%2BOE72OjDNsTnpli39A%2BUFL84bXQFY8LzxKoYR8ohvL6gZBul%2FoSCFN%2FzYjN%2Bdx%2FVAIQ6RdRx89Rkp91o63uSuDxOM9Yab6I4gLIqmpjWR8Nmv2JUazfOtHYTDDSkikK5BuffECpeHM%2BCY0EOEoezdPQm5fLGpJmKtbdiaq3vuIVcro26jZ4vYKdO%2FdQo6bosZUQ0UUFZTGDjnYLfzM0RB72sFg87IlQWs7klryQYCK74iRn%2FmVDYzIWOQX5U300aStwYc%2BteOhsVd6GRHq99J2l07EAadq2soeENaStGsSflARiQtR7vBAeowz4OQG7e0jAuXycXjrNcx%2FnJ4zEgawrLJs64kGSobzCAFRNm5JPcr0ETbFwXCQ8V8kt%2BBjpdYBAvttrwOlbt2AvEIao4fL5cQkT%2BhqyYGZWP7EGuRzUGJqJ2%2FuKWSOjlnRDXovA3Gxrc%2B0HwlMO17jkp%2F90AJFLebqkT5JTDdw%2BXFBjqxARGQE5PL2ao6m%2BhJDhduk%2Fu40rrDgawQ47NAzD18Isa4gvvRtYy%2Bj4bJeT8aT%2F1VkwHyqRFwITIYmEtHLHa9Ym9ojQhwnnhdgGKcLo5ff8RcJyay%2FYr%2BmrqVwhw0QSGBcVtqW9FJxNxbHJhqAFPduk4DbQcxQXBrdjUxS%2Frmv8ftBubgk4pkiT28VyVQdAetKjzDI2TtdRZKtiKmQmS1Ece3ECENUbwJx0PpKJ0sxB7MzQ%3D%3D&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&response-content-disposition=inline%3Bfilename%3D%2213465045_aa_2022-12-20.pdf%22&X-Amz-Signature=76ddf1fabdd1f6139a1c49468358eb9ddb520a6dd4c8f1489aaf986c229453d0
https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/13465045/filing-history?page=2
https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/13465045/filing-history?page=2

16 Mar 2023

BCP Council Chief Executive releases his Governance
Assurance Review — Recommendation 25-28 relate to
FPL

28 Mar 2023 | BCP Council presents one sales invoice for Council See Appendix
services provided to FPL for 22/23. £92,302.91 + 1.1 Table 2, 28
£18,460.58 VAT = £110,763.49 (Paid by FPL 31/3/23) Mar 27 2023
31 Mar 2023 | FPL pay BCP Council for invoices shown at 15 and 28 | bank
March above. statements
available on
file
31 Mar 2023 | Financial Year End 22/23 for FPL and the Council —
Accounts produced on an accruals basis so relevant
21/22 transactions are processed well into 23/24 as
FPL statutory reporting (filing) date is not until 31/12/23.
The Council has an earlier statutory reporting date.
This means some accrual estimates are different
between FPL and Council accounts — both are true and
fair (external auditors’ opinion)
21 Apr 2023 | Further £500k credit drawdown on the £8M (extended) | See Appendix
agreed working capital loan. 1.1 Table 2
Working
capital loan
summary
4 May 2023 Local elections leading to new administration at BCP
Council.
5May 2023 | A former Leader of the Council is registered at Company Hs
Companies House as new owner of Hinton Road link
Investment Ltd, the company that collect the
rent/licence on behalf of the owner of Office 2@Bourne
Park, Exeter Rd. Seeb.5
When this becomes knowin late August2023, at the point of
rent/licence renewal, this sparks speculation that FPL’s Board
approved decision 18 July 2022 to move to this space may have
beeninfluenced bythe formerleader.
22 May 2023 | New Leader of the Council makes maiden speech and
FPL is mentioned — looking to review and to have a
reduced more focused programme
2 June 2023 | Further £750k credit drawdown on the £8M (extended) | See Appendix
agreed working capital loan 1.1 Table 2
Note this is the point where the cumulative loan is at its | Working
maximum amount which was £4,750k capital loan
(5+10+385+800+850+1450+500+750= 4750) summary
13 June 2023 | FPL Executive Directors assert that they have seen a Ext review

draft copy of the DLUCH external assurance review
(linked to the Council’s Best Value Notice, see 6/9/23
entry in Table 1 above) and they believe comments
(about FPL) are ambiguous and inaccurate and they
should be corrected. They also query why they were
not interviewed.

Council Chief Executive highlights that the review had a
DLUCH deadline, FPL Executive Directors could not
attend the interview date originally scheduled to meet

Page 20 of 100

30



https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/08676587/officers
https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/08676587/officers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/bournemouth-christchurch-and-poole-council-external-assurance-review/external-assurance-review-of-bournemouth-christchurch-and-poole-council

the DLUCH official and a mutually convenient
alternative meeting could not be found. The Council
Chief Executive also highlights that unless we can
argue there is a factual error, we cannot ask the
DLUCH official to merely change their opinion.

17 June 2023

FPL NED, Karima Fahmy produces a two page
Governance Review

See Appendix
1.1, table 2, 17
June

June 2023

FPL Executive Officers assert that the Council’s
Commissioning Director makes ‘defamatory comments
about performance of FPL and this is leading to a false
narrative.

The COO makes what he says is a Public Interest
Disclosure Act (PIDA) (aka a Whistleblowing
disclosure) to the FPL Board. The acting chair of the
Board (independent NED) was tasked with speaking to
the Council’s shareholder representative (Chief
Executive).

FPL assert nothing was done. Chief Executive says he
spoke to Commissioning Director and asked him to be
aware that FPL are of the view his comments are
defamatory and leading to a false narrative and to
consider this in any future required interaction, whether
this is verbal or written.

29 June 2023

FPL COO issues areport into Investigation into
Allegations of Control Failures at FuturePlaces — the
report concludes there were no failures and the
allegations made by the Council’'s Commissioning
Director are wrong, defamatory and creating a false
narrative and should be corrected immediately. The
report goes on to say that the Commissioning Director
has “vigorously and forcefully stated they do not intend
to correctany record”. Unclear where this report went
or whether it was intended as a written evidence note.

Report
available on
file

1 July 2023

The death of FPL Chair, Lord Kerslake is announced

27 July 2023

FPL invoice the Council £30,000 for Strategic Car park
review part of the 23/24 LTP

1 Aug 2023

Termination of appointment of Robert Walter Kerslake
as a director on 11 July 2023 and Director's details
changed for Ms Karima Fahmy on 11 July 2023 lodged
at Companies House

Filing History

3 Aug 2023

FPL invoice the Council for three Outline Business
Cases (OBC).

Poole Civic Centre £156,461.97, Christchurch Civic
Centre £170,163.70 and Beach Rd car park £69,088.29
(+vat on all 3 invoices)

(Note as a result of Cabinet resolution 8 March 2022)

FPL also invoice for further outline business case costs
for Chapel Lane £44218.71 + vat, | can find no Cabinet
approval for this, Cabinet only appear to have approved
£31k (see 9 Feb entry on this table)

Invoices and
bank
statements
available on
file

Page 21 of 100

31



https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/13465045/filing-history?page=2

Sums show in sales/turnover figure in the FPL P&L
account for 23/24.
BCP Council pays on the 8/8/2023 — for all four invoices

9 Aug 2023

Informal meeting between FPL Executive Directors (MD
and COO) and Council Chief Executive. Chief
Executive states that the Council was moving towards
closure of the company and this would be put forward
as the recommended option to Cabinet in September.
MD and COO ask whether full Council decision is
required.

11 Aug 2023

Council Chief Executive and Council Chief Operating
Officer meet FPL staff setting out it is the intention to
recommend to Cabinet to close the company and
transfer staff to the Council (under TUPE).

14 Aug 2023

FPL COO electronically signs (via secure portal)
second year office licence agreement.

See 5.5

Mid-August
to 27 Sept
(Cabinet date
where
decision
made to
close FPL)

FPL Executive team produce an ‘Option3’ scenario
which, in their view, allows for an orderly closure of FPL
over 9 months to 1 year ‘to protect shareholder value’.
FPL Executive team say they received assurances that
this option would be incorporated into the 27 Sept
Cabinet report. It was not included.

Option 3 in final report is — Continue FPL under a
revised funding model.

FPL team also suggest amendments to draft report,
which includes removal of what they say is false
narrative around governance failings which they say are
not taken forward in final version.

Considered at FPL Board 6/9/23 — A non-executive
director (NED) comments:

“There is a need for the report to be factually correct but
(he) considered that the report was reasonably
objective and did not contain any slights on FP
executives or undermine the company”.

Board minutes
available on
file

17 Aug 2023

The FPL MD has stated in a timeline she has produced
that the FPL COO has ‘negotiated the appointment of
Pinsent Masons (legal advisors) as insolvency advisors’
to FPL and its’ directors. Note FPL was not insolvent.

See 5.6

18 Aug 2023

Extraordinary FPL Board meeting which agrees to
weekly extraordinary board meetings until point of
closure — Pinsent Mason reps. in attendance.

¢ 3c: amendment to include “GF agreed that FP Co may produce an Option 3
scenario (a tapered wind down) for inclusion in the Cabinet Report.”

« 3d: amendment to read ‘It was agreed that given its current position, FuturePlaces
ought to protect the value in its intellectual property and was advised to be careful
when releasing the material in the meantime.”

¢ 4d: amendment to read “KF reminded the Board that at its meeting on 13 June the
Board had agreed there should be no further external work instructed until the Boar
had clarity on FuturePlaces future prospects and the working capital availability was
clearer. There should therefore have been no instruction of further third-party work
since that decision. It was reinforced by GF that work on projects should not cease,
and that any essential and/or time-limited work should be commissioned by BCP
Council.”

* 6a: amendment to read: ‘it was noted that FuturePlaces’ auditor was looking
to see 12 months of liquidity and that a support letter for FuturePlaces had not

vet been sianed-off.”

Page 22 of 100

32




23 Aug 2023

Extraordinary FPL Board, key minuted points:

4.2: amendment to read: “GF, as representative of the shareholder, confirmed
that it was the Council’s preference to work with FuturePlaces on issuing an
assurance letter as soon as possible. This would enable FP Co to release WIP,
so that its usefulness to the Local Plan and planning process could be
assessed. It was highlighted that certain documents were required to be
shared by FuturePlaces to enable this and progression of the *
project, and that payment for such services would be made by the Council to
FuturePlaces in the normal manner..”

4.3: amendment to read “FuturePlaces advised that legal advice previously
received had recommended caution when sharing information between
FuturePlaces and the Council. advised that the sale by FuturePlaces of
these _ documents to the Council in the ordinary course of its
business, to realise work in progress for full value, remained appropriate as

being in the best interests of the Company’s relevant stakeholders at this time.”

4.5: amendment to read “GF, as representative of the shareholder, provided
assurances that the Council recognised the need to pay monies owed; by the Council
making such payments, FuturePlaces would be able to reduce its working capital
facility and it was acknowledged that this repayment mechanism was in the best
interest of both parties. GF, as representative of the shareholder, also provided
assurances that the Council would provide FuturePlaces with the ability to settle all

monies due to external creditors in a wind-down scenario ahead of the debt owed to
the Council and that it would support the solvent wind up of the Company, including
indemnifying the Company and its Directors.”

7.4: addition of “It was noted that an early draft of the Cabinet Report had been
shared. It was agreed that the Board Members may comment on the draft and that
these should be coordinated by GM. A mutually agreed PR line on the Cabinet
Report would be agreed between BCP Council and FP CO.”

The redacted
at the time box
says
Constitution
Hill

(the smaller
redaction box
is initials of the
external legal
advisor)

30 Aug 2023

Extraordinary FPL Board, key minuted points:

6.10 . highlighted the need to incorporate additional costs incurred by the winding up
process, e.g. Legal fees. GM advised that an additional £20k had been allocated to
cover such costs.

6.11 The Board sought advice from . regarding whether FuturePlaces could continue to
trade. . advised that as there was no final position with Council lawyers yet, in light
of the oral support provided by Graham Farrant and the good progress being made
in agreeing the letter of support from the Council, it would be premature for the Board
to take the decision not to continue trading. Additionally, GF reconfirmed the Council's
commitment to support FuturePlaces in managing its liabilities as it sought to
conclude the winding up process, in the event that the Council decided to wind up
FuturePlaces. On this basis, the Board agreed that FuturePlaces could continue to
trade.

RESOLVED: That FuturePlaces continue to trade.
7 DRAFT LETTER OF ASSURANCE

74 provided an update on the progress of the drafting of the letter of assurance. The
oard was informed that, following several revisions by and BCP
Council's legal team, a letter had been drafted that was largely acceptable to all
parties. The most recent draft included amendments to provide FuturePlaces
flexibility over payments, in respect of the level of control the Council would need to
exert on such payments. A further draft had been submitted with suggested wording
to provide FuturePlaces the freedom to incur new liabilities where they were in line

with existing priorities or legal advice.

7.2 While the draft was headed in the right direction, a final resolution had yet to be
reached. The final draft would be subject to agreement from the Council's S151
officer.

7.3  The Board sought clarity on how payments to external creditors would be managed,
where payments had historically occurred but were no longer in line with the Council’s
newly defined priorities. GF advised that the referenced measures to control
payments were only applicable to new payments, and were not intended to stop
payments for previous costs.

For rent issue
seeb.5

Page 23 of 100

33




Board also discussed the issue of (office) rent, after
receipt of facts from a FPL employee the Board agreed
to:

]
2. That immediate payment of 50% of the current £54k invoice for office rent
be paid, together with the immediate exercising of the 6-month break clause
option.

4 Sept 2023

FPL pay Hinton Rd Investment Ltd £27,000 + vat
£32,400 and exercise immediately the break clause
which takes payment to end of January 2024

See 5.5

4 Oct 2023

COO resigns from FPL and was placed on gardening
leave while serving out paid notice period, which was
due to terminate 4 January 2024. (3 months notice).

9 Oct 2023

Termination of appointment of COO as a company
director on 9 October 2023 lodged at Companies
House

Filing History

10 Oct 2023

The COO sends what he says is a Public Interest
Disclosure Act (PIDA) (aka a Whistleblowing
disclosure) to the Chief Executive. In the email he says
he will send the email to Nigel Stannard (NS), Head of
Audit & Management Assurance. The COO does not
send email to NS.

On 15 October 2023, Chief Executive sends email to
NS. NS considers, following Policy, the disclosure has
already been extensively investigated (rent payment),
there was no failure to comply with a legal obligation,
payment was agreed formally by the Board and no
further investigation is necessary. The COO is formally
informed of the decision on 24/11/2023, including
appeal and other routes available.

Decision
record on file

Reported to
Audit &
Governance
committee in
annual report
17 Oct 2024

17 Oct 2023

FPL invoice the Council for £100,000, DLUCH grant
funded design code costs for Poole Quay (£25k) and
Landsdown (£75k)

BCP Council pays invoice on 20/10/23

Invoice and
bank
statements
available on
file

1 Nov 2023

17 FPL staff are on TUPE list to transfer to the Council,
13 do so. 4 staff members decide to leave FPL before
the transfer date and are paid any untaken pro-rata
annual leave (contractual entitement) by FPL before
transfer date. These costs met by FPL (P&L account).
Note within the 13 are the MD and COO. Inthe case of the MD, the
council did not have need for an MD so an alternative employment
offer was made (Director of Regeneration), thiswas turned down by
the MD and a redundancy process was initiated immediately.
Although the COO had resigned on 4 Oct, because the individual
was still within and serving notice period, TUPE applied.

2 Nov 2023

FPL invoices Council for £6,000 Strategic Car park
Review part of the 23/24 LTP. See first payment 27
July 2023.

BCP Council pays invoice on 10/11/23

Invoice and
bank
statements on
file

Page 24 of 100

34



https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/13465045/filing-history?page=2

6 Nov 2023 Termination of appointment of Managing Directoras a | Filing History
company director on 31 October 2023 lodged at
Companies House

10 Nov 2023 | The COO, now TUPE’d to the Council, is not required to | Schedule on
serve out paid notice period and, in line with contract, is | file and note
paid in lieu of notice and is also paid for pro-rata subject of an
untaken leave. These costs were Council costand FOI
were not charged to FPL accounts. Total council cost
£42,915.26.

21 Nov 2023 | The MD sends what she says is a Public Interest Decision
Disclosure Act (PIDA) (aka a Whistleblowing record on file.
disclosure) to Nigel Stannard (NS), Head of Audit & Reported to
Management Assurance. NS considers, following Audit &
Policy, the disclosures are not considered to be PIDA Governance
disclosures, but may be grievance matters. The MD is committee in
formally informed of the decision on 24/11/2023, annual report
including appeal and other routes available. 17 Oct 2024

23 Nov 2023 | The MD submits a grievance to HR with remedies
sought.

13 Dec 2023 | MD redundancy process concludes and MD is Schedule on
dismissed. MD entitled to 3 months paid notice but is file and note
not required to serve out this paid notice period and, in | subject of an
line with contract, is paid in lieu of notice and is also FOI
paid for pro-rata untaken leave. These costs, together
with November and part of December (to 13 Dec)
salary were Council cost and were not charged to FPL
accounts. Total council cost £87,133.69

18 Dec 2023 | Accounts for a small company made up to 31 March 22/23
2023 (audited 22/23 accounts) are filed at Companies Accounts
House

10 Jan 2024 | Appointment of Mr Chris Shephard as a director on 9 Filing History
January 2024 lodged at Companies House

9 Feb 2024 Termination of appointment of lan Marcus as a director | Filing History
on 9 February 2024, Termination of appointment of
Karima Fahmy as a director on 9 February 2024,

Termination of appointment of Patrick Hayes as a
director on 9 February 2024 lodged at Companies Hs

29 Feb 2024 | Last formal scheduled and minuted company Board Available on
meeting file

8 Mar 2024 FPL invoice the Council for final Work in Progress Invoices and

(26/3/24) (WIP), £2,691,704.99 +VAT = £3,230,045.98 this bank
followed a Council assessment of whether the Council | statements
wished to purchase WIP. available on
BCP Council makes payment on 26 March 2024 file

27 Mar 2024 | FPL make loan repayment to BCP Council of See Appendix
£2,350,000, balance outstanding now £2.4M 1.1 Table 2

Working
capital loan
summary

26 June 2024 | FPL Barclays bank account closed with final payment bank

out to BCP Council bank account £23,450.21

statements on
file

Page 25 of 100

35



https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/13465045/filing-history?page=2
https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/document-api-images-live.ch.gov.uk/docs/tv0L5VWxxiYjTK2FihhtAy8uejAXy4Vd9fzgiTCNIHc/application-pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=ASIAWRGBDBV3AELICRXU%2F20250904%2Feu-west-2%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20250904T104430Z&X-Amz-Expires=60&X-Amz-Security-Token=IQoJb3JpZ2luX2VjEPH%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2FwEaCWV1LXdlc3QtMiJHMEUCIBmmmGZ%2BQ6sk3q%2BLc%2BgaiytXupwNBr6gZ3r8QxhtZuv%2BAiEA9ib%2F%2FFWzjVrmRrCdSuY2mghECFSbjQaCJRtzT4RIDv8qugUIWhAFGgw0NDkyMjkwMzI4MjIiDOcQutQyELwVcNEL2SqXBW1QqIdCtYFggN%2Fc054KYaabs3CumsjnyBppXd0bthE%2BcryhvKoWV77mpypspYSxWlP8W39pKmku5FS5jvqDH3WCepPpf3tT3KeWuhFvvq4dNqVpj%2FDpzfKOYIsW%2BKAtDePEx5HKHriwN9%2FqK4FNAm%2BJWVK%2FrnTPBsM7TrWEGVWAoBddgnXj8cINIE3rqyFViquumUFvZRIhryy%2Fo%2FPj2lWGKYYEuVxyr05fEaARmb4WzujN6mFor%2BUxqLQfx2UudOthwSJphuVxiPNKJRz%2FqPcLnVaI%2BhfA1RHSMgVg6vUKfsrgVujuwD9%2FTfgx6%2BtVXbp%2FFxAXdJ8pPg1LKVHyguiFx2ayJLS9Vtc3brQYiwKos9jEJ87iD0aVzvOuLhw1vE7xJOai1WpQ1LgnUmyGZIx%2BTsifLSJtcFv1sAJ%2FIOD3H1rFeCtKcdFp0XmjnJqRZS7bc8F0b5l5vDQUYHDeVHWKXPN9WZ4qDptnC63J3v223PkB0%2Bu%2BMiDQFCF0xTY6q4pQxnSCFiTLkni%2Bu9Q87%2FP3cJcJJQzpDcf60X9hCly6uAZXo9fXCY8LDDVekC8b6cWPJvliydzoTdCQNqXue6ldoD%2BLPv9m5InWylEP3NZzFDw7sDdN24f0MuS%2F4tkTqBnKUyg33tmGXt42JfFCAbJvp9oWfoUEqjO6VQz6OhuRj9qgmqWrbI6txrIbyX%2B04OjvvnqYTrBoA0MUS9zV2zvDVXW4Rbh1uznVjeS%2BV1zXG78QwhgovscxdlXlZe6qdp7tCMNRZI0sdltmY%2BvFGlrnoe1BZXc1rsuZIfAtyDBIqEjV6SorVo8IqFBI94Fz8wSzK2R2%2FGbVyWRe7tuwnYKTG1xMJlhvqbv3WrI1H6dxPvdBTNRCbzDBreXFBjqxAXFlAcY7cyuuI0ORAebMhhvLjOppJrRXlAr2keYoE7xX%2Fa%2B%2BcmLCWHx16oa9S3fQKx13Hn%2FGS8x5LNINSDQlhPiVX1PN1EWNEbrmCuM9u22MKTckagliHVXPg7HOu5PQK52ldOhxiMda3iUXNG9EpJv3cA3JonuBwXqzfJB%2Fsv0tBaOk6z2xv8mnD5146lyw45%2FpsPzZZLgqj0kKCh%2B55w%2Bww3R6Dxd8kyah19krGbHOew%3D%3D&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&response-content-disposition=inline%3Bfilename%3D%2213465045_aa_2023-12-18.pdf%22&X-Amz-Signature=bd196c68046e8dd3a33316d1c86c8eecde5371d9ad31e0f11806132ffdffe7c2
https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/document-api-images-live.ch.gov.uk/docs/tv0L5VWxxiYjTK2FihhtAy8uejAXy4Vd9fzgiTCNIHc/application-pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=ASIAWRGBDBV3AELICRXU%2F20250904%2Feu-west-2%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20250904T104430Z&X-Amz-Expires=60&X-Amz-Security-Token=IQoJb3JpZ2luX2VjEPH%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2FwEaCWV1LXdlc3QtMiJHMEUCIBmmmGZ%2BQ6sk3q%2BLc%2BgaiytXupwNBr6gZ3r8QxhtZuv%2BAiEA9ib%2F%2FFWzjVrmRrCdSuY2mghECFSbjQaCJRtzT4RIDv8qugUIWhAFGgw0NDkyMjkwMzI4MjIiDOcQutQyELwVcNEL2SqXBW1QqIdCtYFggN%2Fc054KYaabs3CumsjnyBppXd0bthE%2BcryhvKoWV77mpypspYSxWlP8W39pKmku5FS5jvqDH3WCepPpf3tT3KeWuhFvvq4dNqVpj%2FDpzfKOYIsW%2BKAtDePEx5HKHriwN9%2FqK4FNAm%2BJWVK%2FrnTPBsM7TrWEGVWAoBddgnXj8cINIE3rqyFViquumUFvZRIhryy%2Fo%2FPj2lWGKYYEuVxyr05fEaARmb4WzujN6mFor%2BUxqLQfx2UudOthwSJphuVxiPNKJRz%2FqPcLnVaI%2BhfA1RHSMgVg6vUKfsrgVujuwD9%2FTfgx6%2BtVXbp%2FFxAXdJ8pPg1LKVHyguiFx2ayJLS9Vtc3brQYiwKos9jEJ87iD0aVzvOuLhw1vE7xJOai1WpQ1LgnUmyGZIx%2BTsifLSJtcFv1sAJ%2FIOD3H1rFeCtKcdFp0XmjnJqRZS7bc8F0b5l5vDQUYHDeVHWKXPN9WZ4qDptnC63J3v223PkB0%2Bu%2BMiDQFCF0xTY6q4pQxnSCFiTLkni%2Bu9Q87%2FP3cJcJJQzpDcf60X9hCly6uAZXo9fXCY8LDDVekC8b6cWPJvliydzoTdCQNqXue6ldoD%2BLPv9m5InWylEP3NZzFDw7sDdN24f0MuS%2F4tkTqBnKUyg33tmGXt42JfFCAbJvp9oWfoUEqjO6VQz6OhuRj9qgmqWrbI6txrIbyX%2B04OjvvnqYTrBoA0MUS9zV2zvDVXW4Rbh1uznVjeS%2BV1zXG78QwhgovscxdlXlZe6qdp7tCMNRZI0sdltmY%2BvFGlrnoe1BZXc1rsuZIfAtyDBIqEjV6SorVo8IqFBI94Fz8wSzK2R2%2FGbVyWRe7tuwnYKTG1xMJlhvqbv3WrI1H6dxPvdBTNRCbzDBreXFBjqxAXFlAcY7cyuuI0ORAebMhhvLjOppJrRXlAr2keYoE7xX%2Fa%2B%2BcmLCWHx16oa9S3fQKx13Hn%2FGS8x5LNINSDQlhPiVX1PN1EWNEbrmCuM9u22MKTckagliHVXPg7HOu5PQK52ldOhxiMda3iUXNG9EpJv3cA3JonuBwXqzfJB%2Fsv0tBaOk6z2xv8mnD5146lyw45%2FpsPzZZLgqj0kKCh%2B55w%2Bww3R6Dxd8kyah19krGbHOew%3D%3D&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&response-content-disposition=inline%3Bfilename%3D%2213465045_aa_2023-12-18.pdf%22&X-Amz-Signature=bd196c68046e8dd3a33316d1c86c8eecde5371d9ad31e0f11806132ffdffe7c2
https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/13465045/filing-history?page=2
https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/13465045/filing-history?page=2

3 July 2024 Accounts for a small company made up to 31 March 23/24

2024 (audited 23/24 accounts) are filed at Companies Accounts
House

18 Sept 2024 | Application to strike the company off the register, Filing History
lodged at Companies House

1 Oct 2024 First Gazette notice for voluntary strike-off (Companies | Filing History
House notice)

17 Dec 2024 | Final Gazette dissolved via voluntary strike-off Final Gazette

End of 1.1

Page 26 of 100

36



https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/document-api-images-live.ch.gov.uk/docs/R9Ba2Tkl6rCQVs1PEzXRq7FGO3-updkQMrH0QTnxKHk/application-pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=ASIAWRGBDBV3AELICRXU%2F20250904%2Feu-west-2%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20250904T104318Z&X-Amz-Expires=60&X-Amz-Security-Token=IQoJb3JpZ2luX2VjEPH%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2FwEaCWV1LXdlc3QtMiJHMEUCIBmmmGZ%2BQ6sk3q%2BLc%2BgaiytXupwNBr6gZ3r8QxhtZuv%2BAiEA9ib%2F%2FFWzjVrmRrCdSuY2mghECFSbjQaCJRtzT4RIDv8qugUIWhAFGgw0NDkyMjkwMzI4MjIiDOcQutQyELwVcNEL2SqXBW1QqIdCtYFggN%2Fc054KYaabs3CumsjnyBppXd0bthE%2BcryhvKoWV77mpypspYSxWlP8W39pKmku5FS5jvqDH3WCepPpf3tT3KeWuhFvvq4dNqVpj%2FDpzfKOYIsW%2BKAtDePEx5HKHriwN9%2FqK4FNAm%2BJWVK%2FrnTPBsM7TrWEGVWAoBddgnXj8cINIE3rqyFViquumUFvZRIhryy%2Fo%2FPj2lWGKYYEuVxyr05fEaARmb4WzujN6mFor%2BUxqLQfx2UudOthwSJphuVxiPNKJRz%2FqPcLnVaI%2BhfA1RHSMgVg6vUKfsrgVujuwD9%2FTfgx6%2BtVXbp%2FFxAXdJ8pPg1LKVHyguiFx2ayJLS9Vtc3brQYiwKos9jEJ87iD0aVzvOuLhw1vE7xJOai1WpQ1LgnUmyGZIx%2BTsifLSJtcFv1sAJ%2FIOD3H1rFeCtKcdFp0XmjnJqRZS7bc8F0b5l5vDQUYHDeVHWKXPN9WZ4qDptnC63J3v223PkB0%2Bu%2BMiDQFCF0xTY6q4pQxnSCFiTLkni%2Bu9Q87%2FP3cJcJJQzpDcf60X9hCly6uAZXo9fXCY8LDDVekC8b6cWPJvliydzoTdCQNqXue6ldoD%2BLPv9m5InWylEP3NZzFDw7sDdN24f0MuS%2F4tkTqBnKUyg33tmGXt42JfFCAbJvp9oWfoUEqjO6VQz6OhuRj9qgmqWrbI6txrIbyX%2B04OjvvnqYTrBoA0MUS9zV2zvDVXW4Rbh1uznVjeS%2BV1zXG78QwhgovscxdlXlZe6qdp7tCMNRZI0sdltmY%2BvFGlrnoe1BZXc1rsuZIfAtyDBIqEjV6SorVo8IqFBI94Fz8wSzK2R2%2FGbVyWRe7tuwnYKTG1xMJlhvqbv3WrI1H6dxPvdBTNRCbzDBreXFBjqxAXFlAcY7cyuuI0ORAebMhhvLjOppJrRXlAr2keYoE7xX%2Fa%2B%2BcmLCWHx16oa9S3fQKx13Hn%2FGS8x5LNINSDQlhPiVX1PN1EWNEbrmCuM9u22MKTckagliHVXPg7HOu5PQK52ldOhxiMda3iUXNG9EpJv3cA3JonuBwXqzfJB%2Fsv0tBaOk6z2xv8mnD5146lyw45%2FpsPzZZLgqj0kKCh%2B55w%2Bww3R6Dxd8kyah19krGbHOew%3D%3D&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&response-content-disposition=inline%3Bfilename%3D%2213465045_aa_2024-07-03.pdf%22&X-Amz-Signature=f83f9975cb14f4cab55f44ebbd535b748df46262845cac9dd79435b9287a4707
https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/document-api-images-live.ch.gov.uk/docs/R9Ba2Tkl6rCQVs1PEzXRq7FGO3-updkQMrH0QTnxKHk/application-pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=ASIAWRGBDBV3AELICRXU%2F20250904%2Feu-west-2%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20250904T104318Z&X-Amz-Expires=60&X-Amz-Security-Token=IQoJb3JpZ2luX2VjEPH%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2FwEaCWV1LXdlc3QtMiJHMEUCIBmmmGZ%2BQ6sk3q%2BLc%2BgaiytXupwNBr6gZ3r8QxhtZuv%2BAiEA9ib%2F%2FFWzjVrmRrCdSuY2mghECFSbjQaCJRtzT4RIDv8qugUIWhAFGgw0NDkyMjkwMzI4MjIiDOcQutQyELwVcNEL2SqXBW1QqIdCtYFggN%2Fc054KYaabs3CumsjnyBppXd0bthE%2BcryhvKoWV77mpypspYSxWlP8W39pKmku5FS5jvqDH3WCepPpf3tT3KeWuhFvvq4dNqVpj%2FDpzfKOYIsW%2BKAtDePEx5HKHriwN9%2FqK4FNAm%2BJWVK%2FrnTPBsM7TrWEGVWAoBddgnXj8cINIE3rqyFViquumUFvZRIhryy%2Fo%2FPj2lWGKYYEuVxyr05fEaARmb4WzujN6mFor%2BUxqLQfx2UudOthwSJphuVxiPNKJRz%2FqPcLnVaI%2BhfA1RHSMgVg6vUKfsrgVujuwD9%2FTfgx6%2BtVXbp%2FFxAXdJ8pPg1LKVHyguiFx2ayJLS9Vtc3brQYiwKos9jEJ87iD0aVzvOuLhw1vE7xJOai1WpQ1LgnUmyGZIx%2BTsifLSJtcFv1sAJ%2FIOD3H1rFeCtKcdFp0XmjnJqRZS7bc8F0b5l5vDQUYHDeVHWKXPN9WZ4qDptnC63J3v223PkB0%2Bu%2BMiDQFCF0xTY6q4pQxnSCFiTLkni%2Bu9Q87%2FP3cJcJJQzpDcf60X9hCly6uAZXo9fXCY8LDDVekC8b6cWPJvliydzoTdCQNqXue6ldoD%2BLPv9m5InWylEP3NZzFDw7sDdN24f0MuS%2F4tkTqBnKUyg33tmGXt42JfFCAbJvp9oWfoUEqjO6VQz6OhuRj9qgmqWrbI6txrIbyX%2B04OjvvnqYTrBoA0MUS9zV2zvDVXW4Rbh1uznVjeS%2BV1zXG78QwhgovscxdlXlZe6qdp7tCMNRZI0sdltmY%2BvFGlrnoe1BZXc1rsuZIfAtyDBIqEjV6SorVo8IqFBI94Fz8wSzK2R2%2FGbVyWRe7tuwnYKTG1xMJlhvqbv3WrI1H6dxPvdBTNRCbzDBreXFBjqxAXFlAcY7cyuuI0ORAebMhhvLjOppJrRXlAr2keYoE7xX%2Fa%2B%2BcmLCWHx16oa9S3fQKx13Hn%2FGS8x5LNINSDQlhPiVX1PN1EWNEbrmCuM9u22MKTckagliHVXPg7HOu5PQK52ldOhxiMda3iUXNG9EpJv3cA3JonuBwXqzfJB%2Fsv0tBaOk6z2xv8mnD5146lyw45%2FpsPzZZLgqj0kKCh%2B55w%2Bww3R6Dxd8kyah19krGbHOew%3D%3D&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&response-content-disposition=inline%3Bfilename%3D%2213465045_aa_2024-07-03.pdf%22&X-Amz-Signature=f83f9975cb14f4cab55f44ebbd535b748df46262845cac9dd79435b9287a4707
https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/13465045/filing-history?page=2
https://find-and-update.company-information.service.gov.uk/company/13465045/filing-history?page=2
https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/document-api-images-live.ch.gov.uk/docs/HnRsN5cT66Kqn3Ghfi7AJkNiRlPdhAEe9i_jDq9GR48/application-pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=ASIAWRGBDBV3MV3WBORA%2F20250904%2Feu-west-2%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20250904T104201Z&X-Amz-Expires=60&X-Amz-Security-Token=IQoJb3JpZ2luX2VjEPL%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2FwEaCWV1LXdlc3QtMiJHMEUCIQDTUzrPQjvdddPj2CSPdB4fmTBZ3tOEIpg%2Bm6Bv3PADzwIgPQZmOCKSuyACFo7xlz%2BBXSLfqox3syJ%2BTZ2M6w%2BOSv4qugUIWxAFGgw0NDkyMjkwMzI4MjIiDOyv%2Fo2imzFRujDzDiqXBY3FYo%2Faldw0%2FxpLRiGuLEY1%2FBhFyJ6GNkLKfaqztlIBjIMwEJl%2BcLPZURD0CuKO3Ih0Gc0Gfq9UbCaaxiGjZso1460MMqPOrYY6wgmmRgvNOnhkNDlxPufb%2FFzNnVd%2BAnFgn6Is5HQc2%2F8VPTtYipC9P5ZkxbRAuw3iP9kH8bKMEYhm%2FHPC4kbXmovO9M%2B4Qql5vXZrKx0Z8Rcmt5lnfKtPkZFt3t2Qx6HtiygTg0xRk6bLgE5WaGEQmvyV6Ps6iiTR4kpMTQy2U%2BsJpFYZjsZ53IDazpnyGwxnGGTNxsj6N0AHceYltqS4c0AQHSI8sPup9er8Tsvuo7%2BugM%2BIENiT7MJHOEzHqmhrbekHNKUudb4GhDyO83ao4HhSufgX8ePMTPcsrWu8WpGFg96D8mP%2BOE72OjDNsTnpli39A%2BUFL84bXQFY8LzxKoYR8ohvL6gZBul%2FoSCFN%2FzYjN%2Bdx%2FVAIQ6RdRx89Rkp91o63uSuDxOM9Yab6I4gLIqmpjWR8Nmv2JUazfOtHYTDDSkikK5BuffECpeHM%2BCY0EOEoezdPQm5fLGpJmKtbdiaq3vuIVcro26jZ4vYKdO%2FdQo6bosZUQ0UUFZTGDjnYLfzM0RB72sFg87IlQWs7klryQYCK74iRn%2FmVDYzIWOQX5U300aStwYc%2BteOhsVd6GRHq99J2l07EAadq2soeENaStGsSflARiQtR7vBAeowz4OQG7e0jAuXycXjrNcx%2FnJ4zEgawrLJs64kGSobzCAFRNm5JPcr0ETbFwXCQ8V8kt%2BBjpdYBAvttrwOlbt2AvEIao4fL5cQkT%2BhqyYGZWP7EGuRzUGJqJ2%2FuKWSOjlnRDXovA3Gxrc%2B0HwlMO17jkp%2F90AJFLebqkT5JTDdw%2BXFBjqxARGQE5PL2ao6m%2BhJDhduk%2Fu40rrDgawQ47NAzD18Isa4gvvRtYy%2Bj4bJeT8aT%2F1VkwHyqRFwITIYmEtHLHa9Ym9ojQhwnnhdgGKcLo5ff8RcJyay%2FYr%2BmrqVwhw0QSGBcVtqW9FJxNxbHJhqAFPduk4DbQcxQXBrdjUxS%2Frmv8ftBubgk4pkiT28VyVQdAetKjzDI2TtdRZKtiKmQmS1Ece3ECENUbwJx0PpKJ0sxB7MzQ%3D%3D&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&response-content-disposition=inline%3Bfilename%3D%22companies_house_document.pdf%22&X-Amz-Signature=e89b029c5ee2d9d871ed2edae3eac9e3d303ac63e08db68eee475a5dccda0110

1.2 Find and restate the motivations and considerations behind the decision to create a URC
and the environment for decision-making in which it was created.

1.2.1 Cabinet report, 10/3/2021 stated the following concise summary:

To enable greater focus and corporate grip on realising opportunities for delivering
homes and jobs on sites owned or controlled by the council and increasing the
scale and pace of delivery.

The internal management of site delivery is too small in scale to deliver the
ambitions set out in the Big Plan...

1.2.2 At that stage Cabinet agreed to authorise the Chief Executive, in consultation with the
leader and deputy leader, to procure and review advice from external consultants, who

would be Inner Circle Consulting, to identify suitable structures or mechanisms to
accelerate the delivery of regeneration projects.

The full report can be found here:

http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g4261/Public%20reports %20pack%2010th-
Mar-2021%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10&$LO$=1

Cabinet report, 26/05/2021 stated the following summary:

To enable greater focus and capacity for realising the significant opportunities for
delivering homes and jobs on sites owned, or controlled, by the council and
increasing the scale and pace of delivery. The currentinternal capacity of the council
is not sufficient to deliver the scale of ambitions set out in the Big Plan and additional

support and expertise is required, which after options appraisal, is considered to be
best met by creating a URC.

1.2.3 That report considered what was effectively an evaluated options appraisal by Inner
Circle Consulting Ltd. The Inner Circle work identified five alternative delivery
mechanisms and evaluated these across six appraisal criteria. Scope section 2.
considers this report and evaluation in more detail, including a link to the full report.

1.2.4 In terms of the political environment for decision making at the time of this report;
recovery from the Covid19 pandemic was still fresh and on-going, the Council was led by

a Conservative administration and Cabinet had recently (Feb2021) agreed the Big Plan,
(quote)

‘An ambitious aspirational vision for the place of BCP, as the UK’s newest city region.
We want the BCP City region to be world class — one of the best coastal places in the
world in which to live, work, invest and play’.

1.2.5 The Big Plan involved five big projects (quote)

that will deliver big changes across our whole area and support the creation of 13,000
jobs across all sectors of our economy — good jobs for local people — creating wealth for
our businesses and livelihoods for our families’

The Five key projects were stated as:

We will invest in an iconic cityscape

We will invest in our seafront

We will deliver on the promise to rejuvenate Poole

We will invest in the physical and digital infrastructure of our coastal city region

Page 27 of 100

37


http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g4261/Public%20reports%20pack%2010th-Mar-2021%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10&$LO$=1
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g4261/Public%20reports%20pack%2010th-Mar-2021%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10&$LO$=1

e Wewill actat scale and aim to deliver more than 15,000 new homes for people of

all incomes
Our Big Plan - — - -

This infographic was widely
used to visually summarise
the Big Plan

IR GhriStChu,rOhe . N

”%o This additional statement was

%, made:
kbR
Y, A ~ 3 The scale of our ambition is

:S;; also demonstrated in our

/ 5 plans_ t_o invest an additional
& £2 million a year in
& regeneration and a £50 million

S Futures Fund for infrastructure

‘,#" investment, as well as in our

aim to support the creation of
13,000 jobs and more than £3
billion of investment value for

. . our area.
We want the BCP city region to be world class -

one of the best coastal places in the world in which
to live, work, invest and play.

1.2.6 The Big Plan sat above the Council’'s Corporate Strategy which was not rewritten but
was refreshed in places.

1.2.7 The Overview and Scrutiny Board met before Cabinet on 10/3/2021 and 26/5/2021 and
considered the reports but did not make any specific recommendations to Cabinet. The
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed the Cabinet (26/5/2021) and
advised that the Board were overall supportive of the paper. (this appears in the Minutes
of the meeting).

End of 1.2

Page 28 of 100

38



2. Decisionto create BCP FuturePlaces Ltd - Cabinet 26 May 2021

2.1 Review the authority of Cabinet to establish an Urban Regeneration Company was in
line with the council’s constitution and did the report set out the risks, rewards, pros,

cons.

2.1.1 Cabinet RESOLVED that:

2.1.2

Cabinet DECISION RECORD BCP

Wednesday, 26 May 2021
(PUBLICATION DATE - 28 May 2021 May 2021)

Council

Agenda
Item No

Decision Status

Matter Considered

Decision

Part A - Items considered in public

A5

Status:
Recommendations
Approved (subject
to call-in)

Call-in to apply:
Yes

Open

Proposed Regeneration
Vehicle Options
Appraisal

RESOLVED that: -

(a) Cabinet supports the establishment of an Urban Regeneration Company
(URC) and delegates authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with
the Leader and Deputy Leader, to formally set up the URC subject to his
approval of the further information set out in this report; and

(b}  BCP Council enter into a Service Level Agreement with the new company
for an initial period of three years which will provide for the opportunity
for review after two years in order to afford the company the opportunity
of a period of stability within which to holistically plan and put forward
proposals for regeneration projects to the council with the precise
wording of the agr to be delegated to the Chief Executive in
consultation with the Leader and Deputy Leader.

Voting: Unanimous
Portfolio Holder: Regeneration, Economy and Strategic Planning
Reason

To enable greater focus and capacity for realising the significant opportunities for
delivering homes and jobs on sites owned, or controlled, by the council and increasing
the scale and pace of delivery.

The current internal capacity of the council is not sufficient to deliver the scale of

As summarised at 1.2 above, the Cabinet report 26 May 2021, leading to the
resolution above, considered what was effectively an evaluated options appraisal by
Inner Circle Consulting responding to key findings which provided the case for an
alternative model for regeneration delivery. Key findings included:

* The scale of the opportunity is significant delivering up to circa 3,500 homes and £2
billion gross development value from an initial list of 16 Council owned sites.

» The Council does not currently have the appropriate capacity, capability, or in-depth
experience in this field to advance these sites at pace.

» The Council is seeking a significant step-change in delivery and therefore a
commensurate step-change in resources, leadership and focus is required. This was
recognised in the 2021/22 budget of the council (additional £1.75M on-going base
budget).

* The strategic sites could have a hugely positive social and economic impact on the
community and wider area. This supports the rationale for an alternative type of
delivery model which could bring together the resources, leadership and focus
described.

Page 29 of 100

39



2.1.3 The Inner Circle work identified five alternative delivery mechanisms and evaluated
these across six appraisal criteria.

The five delivery mechanisms were:

A. Urban Regeneration Company (URC)

B. Special Purpose Vehicle

C. Joint venture

D. Strategic Partnership

E. Expansion of existing wholly owned Council Company (Seascape Homes)

The six appraisal criteria or categories were:
I. Value for Money

Il. Dedicated leadership and focus

lll. Accelerated Delivery

IV. Adaptability and flexibility

V. Scalability

VI. Talent attraction

2.1.4 The options appraisal included a do-nothing benchmark criteria. The evaluation was
summarised into the following table:

Option/ Do Urban Special Joint Strategic Expansion
Criteria Nothing Regeneratio Purpose Venture Partnership | of existing
n Company Vehicle wholly
owned
Council
Company
Value for MNeutral Likely Unlikely MNeutral Likely Unlikely
money
Dedicated Unlikely Unlikely MNeutral MNeutral Unlikely
leadership
and focus
Accelerating Unlikely Unlikely Likely Likely Unlikely
delivery
Adaptability Likely Highly Likely Highly Highly
and unlikely unlikely unlikely
flexibility
Scalability MNeutral Highly Likely MNeutral Highly
unlikely unlikely
Talent Unlikely Highly Likely Unlikely Unlikely
attraction unlikely

2.1.5 There was an appendix to the report which provided more detail than this summary
table. This included pros and cons of each mechanism. That appendix is shown at
Appendix 2.1

2.1.6 The report went on to say that the URC was the option most likely to meet the
Council’s strategic objectives. The following key characteristics of the URC model
were stated:

e |t would be a company wholly owned by the Council and so would ensure that it
prioritises the Council’s strategic objectives.

Page 30 of 100

40



2.1.7

It would provide regeneration, development, and project management services to the
Council, and only to the Council in the first instance.

The team would be made up of a mixture of directly employed key staff and
seconded Council staff to get the best results.

It would prepare an annual business plan for approval by the Council.

It would not own any Council assets or enter into any development or construction
contracts unless agreed by the Council, it is envisioned that these would be entered
into by the Council following advice from the URC, retaining ultimate control within
the Council’'s leadership.

It would advise the Council on the most appropriate and suitable delivery models for
each of its development sites (including reviewing and exploring the advantages of
Joint Ventures, Special Purpose Vehicles, etc), to ensure the greatest benefits are
delivered across the regeneration portfolio.

It would act as a beacon for the area; attracting the very best people and partners to
deliver in a world class city region - one of the best coastal places in the world in
which to live, work, invest and play.

Any decisions taken by the Council under this arrangement would be open to public
scrutiny and subject to the controls of the Council’s Constitution.

The report contained a number of key statements covering how the URC would
operate, how it would be staffed including:

Development on each site may be delivered directly through the Council, or through
specific JVs or SPVs established for each site as appropriate. The URC’s primary
role will be to employ expert staff who are versed in working with the private and
public sectors to deliver first class development at scale and with pace and to
provide expert advice to the Council on the preferred way of achieving strong
outcomes through regeneration and investment on the key sites, and across the
wider environment.

The URC will be funded for its activities each year by the Council paying for the
services provided under a commissioning contract, utilising an element of the
additional funds that have been allocated in the revenue budget for 2021/22 and
future years. Some elements will be retained within the Council, including finance to
ensure that we have adequate regeneration, financial and legal resources to work as
an appropriate and strong client to the URC. The funding will be confirmed each
year, against the proposed Annual business plan which will be presented to the
Cabinet and will be set out in an annual service level agreement.

The URC will wish to commission technical project development and master
planning capacity and other technical advice, on behalf of the Council, or may
advise the Council on the advisory services required. The budgetary requirements
and the source of funding for this work will be agreed between the Council and the
URC as required. Until the URC is formally established, any interim budgetary
requirements for consultancy, staffing and support are being met from the £1.75m,
governed using the Councils financial rules and regulations.

Land ownership will not be transferred to the URC, and it is not intended to hold
assets so it will not need to raise funds for site acquisition or direct works. However,
with the guidance and advice of the URC, the Council may decide, through its
normal governance arrangements, to transfer into or sell land to a JV or SPV
designed for the purposes of achieving development. Formal decision making on
each site will remain with the Council, with those decisions guided by the outcomes
from the URC'’s thinking and taken through the appropriate route, depending on site
value.

The Council will have to provide sufficient budget for any initial development
activities on each site including master planning and development design and will
need to fund the establishment costs for the URC for the long term. This will be

Page 31 0of 100

41



established through a formal service level agreement between the URC and the
council.

e [tis likely that the URC will be asked to provide strategic advice on the potential
uses for the Futures Fund to assist the Council in determining the key priorities for
this essential investment and to ensure that the use of this fund supports the
Councils overall direction for regeneration and investment.

¢ The URC will need an agreed staffing and establishment structure which will be
designed to deliver the long-term ambitions but will also need to flex in light of short-
term experience of operating alongside the Council. In the interim period this will be
populated by a mixture of consultants and staff made available to the URC with that
team gradually being supplemented and replaced by permanent appointments into
the URC structure and short-term appointments as required.

2.1.8 The report also included financial and legal implications sections.

The financial implications section covered matters such as Shareholding, Teckal status
explanation, VAT implications, additional costs associated with producing annual accounts
and thereafter independent audit of these, transfer of undertakings (TUPE) and also a clear
statement that separate individual business cases would be brough forward to Cabinet and
or Council based on the recommendations of the URC.

The legal implications section covered similar matters, with the obvious more legal context,
in addition this section explained the legal powers the Council could use or rely on to set up
the company and duties the council and the company would need to consider. The following
legal risks were shown which were explained as inherent when setting up a company:

The legal risks inherent in setting up a company should be mitigated by taking legal advice
on all aspects of the proposal. The advice will need to cover aspects such as:

a. procurement (including Teckal criteria and compliance);

b. governance and directors;

c. subsidy control;

d. TUPE;

e. equal pay;

and f. information governance.

Further advice will be required on the implementation of the proposed operating model (once
defined), including the contractual arrangements such as:

a. legal review of any existing contracts proposed to be accessed by the newly incorporated
vehicle;

b. incorporation;

c. shareholder agreement;

d. support service agreement;

e. working capital loan agreement;

f. commissioning contract;

and g. lease / licence to occupy

2.1.9 The report briefly summarised the equality implications, which stated:

e There are no specific equality implications directly arising from this report, but the
accelerated provision of good quality housing development should enable some of
the inherent inequalities in our communities to be addressed. The URC will need to
have comprehensive policies for ensuring equality and diversity in employment and
its operating practices.

2.1.10 The report included a summary of risk assessment, which stated:

Page 32 of 100

42



The risks associated with this report fall into three categories.

o Firstly, how the Council will manage risks in its relationship with the new regeneration
vehicle. Secondly, how the new regeneration vehicle will manage company and
project risk and finally how risks will be managed on individual developments and
projects.

o The manner by which the Council assesses and manages risks in its relationship
with the new regeneration vehicle and how the vehicle assesses and manages
company risk will be the subject of further, more detailed work that will be captured in
the Councils commissioning arrangements and the vehicle’s business plan.

¢ Risk assessment and management on individual developments and projects will be
set out in the individual business cases that will come before Cabinet for approval at
each investment gateway

2.1.11 Paragraph 14 and 15 of the report summarises the next steps:

Taking the URC Forward

14. This report sets out the detail of the proposed URC and seeks Cabinet
approval of the concept and that responsibility be delegated to the Chief
Executive, in consultation with the Leader and Deputy Leader, and working with
the Director of Finance and the Director of Law and Governance, to set up the
company. This will include a review and approval of the final business case and
agreeing any required arrangements regarding and including:

e Registration at Companies House

e Preparation of company documentation

¢ Establishing governance arrangements

e Establishing a budget and any constraints on the use of Council funding

¢ Recruitment of the permanent team, both board and employees

e Agreement of any relevant contracts.

15. The final business case and supporting information will be provided in good
time to the Chief Executive in preparation for him making any decisions under the
delegations set out in this report. It is estimated that the advice will be available in
full by the end of May, enabling early movement on the set-up of the company.

2.1.12 The full 26 May 2021 Cabinet report can be found here:
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g4683/Public%20reports%20pack%2026th-
May-2021%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10&$LO$=1

The Inner Circle Consulting advice, contributing to the Cabinet report 26 May
2021 and the Chief Executive’s ODR, cost£37,676.90 (Inv.2158 and 2199,
Purchase Order BCP161802, initially raised for £37,150), this was charged to
BCP Council revenue base budget which was £1.75M at that time.

Inner Circle Consulting were retained passed this point and provided advice and
support to the Council, including to help conclude associated governance
documents and procedures (including but not limited to those as at 2.2.5) and to
more significantly advise on the wider regeneration approach.

Page 33 of 100

43


http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g4683/Public%20reports%20pack%2026th-May-2021%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10&$LO$=1
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g4683/Public%20reports%20pack%2026th-May-2021%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10&$LO$=1

End of 2.1

2.2 Review the approval of the final business case by the Chief Executive and the inclusion
of the information as requested by Cabinet.

2.2.1 The Chief Executive approved the final business case via a formal Officer Decision
Record (ODR), dated 8 June 2021,
http://ced-pri-cms-
02.ced.local/documents/s26907/Officer%20Decision%20Record.pdf?$LO$=1

2.2.2 The ODR is comprehensive, several key elements have been reproduced below to
address this scope (2.2) item:

The Council appointed Inner Circle Consulting to look at the Council’s regeneration
portfolio in greater detail to consider how the scale and pace of regeneration could be
improved, in line with the ambitions set out in the Council’s Big Plan. At its meeting on the
26 May 2021, Cabinet supported the establishment of an Urban Regeneration Company
(URC) in principle, and delegated authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the
Leader and Deputy Leader, to set up the URC, subject to his approval of the further
required information (i.e. a suitable business case).

Inner Circle has developed the business case at Annex 1. This follows the approach
recommended by HM treasury in its Green Book appraisal and evaluation guidance and
emphasises the need to ensure that the intervention is based upon the intended social
and economic outcomes and follows an appropriate logic chain, ensuring that the target
outcomes are likely to be achieved as a result of the intervention undertaken.

By following this process, the Council can demonstrate that it has considered the
available options to achieve its target outcomes and that its preferred way forward would
satisfy the principle of best value.

The business case analysis is now complete (attached at Annex 1 along with indicative
financial information at Appendices A and B). The financial information is based upon
current regeneration and commercial property sector benchmarks. These will be further
considered as the URC business plan is developed. The URC presents an enormous
opportunity for the Council to accelerate the development of at least 12 major publicly
owned sites with a gross development value of around £2bn, with the scope to deliver
around 3,500 new homes.

The URC will be wholly owned by the Council and its work overseen by a client
commissioning team within the Council whose purpose will be to ensure that the projects
progressed by the URC adhere to the scope and specification agreed with the Council
and align with its objectives and priorities and fit with the other regeneration and delivery
vehicles that we use.

It is likely that the scope of the URC will broaden over time, but within the objectives set
out in the Cabinet report of 26 May, to include a leading role on stewardship and
leadership of investment in the place, and this will require the URC to have a strong
relationship with the Dorset LEP and any replacement vehicle that is established, either
by government, or by the Council in partnership or alone.

Establishment of the URC Company: For the avoidance of doubt, this Decision Record
will enable and result in the company being legally established, a budget provided from
the Council, under the terms of a contractto be drawn up, staff to be appointed, initially
on an interim basis, and for the Company to be operated as soon as registered with
Companies House. The Council will recognise the formation of the URC and internally we
will refer to the URC as being a critical element of the delivery of our regeneration
ambitions.

The decision has been taken in consultation with the Leader and Deputy Leader as
required by the delegation from Cabinet.

44


http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/s26907/Officer%20Decision%20Record.pdf?$LO$=1
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/s26907/Officer%20Decision%20Record.pdf?$LO$=1

2.2.3

2.2.4

2.2.5

2.2.6

2.2.7

2.2.8

2.2.9

The ODR prompted the formal incorporation (under the Companies Act 2006) of BCP
FuturePlaces Ltd, shortly afterwards on 18 June 2021, at Companies House.
Graham Barry Farrant was the named company director, the company reference
number was 13465045. There was one ordinary share, the Shareholder was BCP
Council and the share value was £1. A Certificate of Incorporation therefore existed
as evidence of this process having been formalised.

At this point ‘model’ (default) articles of association were adopted. (Bespoke Articles
of Association were agreed on 4 February 2022 and lodged with Companies House
on 15 February 2022).

Also at this point, for the avoidance of doubt, the following key governance
documents may have existed in draft form but were not sufficiently progressed for
execution. There was a desire for wider stakeholders to be involved in their
finalisation, not least the Executive Directors.

e Bespoke Articles (see 2.2.4)
Shareholder Agreement
Resource Agreement
(Working Capital) Loan Agreement
Commissioning Plan
Commissioning Contract

The ODR clearly reiterates that the initial costs of BCP FuturePlaces during 2021/22
will be contained within the Council’s approved £1.75M regeneration budget, which
was additional base budget for 2021/22.

Although the ODR pointed to revenue funding, a ‘standard™ working capital loan of

£400,000 was agreed from 25 January 2022.
*Standard — precedentset, other BCP companies have the same working capital loan facility should it
be required, primarily to manage cashflow

The revenue funding approach, in practice effectively meant FPL was to be funded in
the exact same way as an internal department.

On 29 September 2021, Cabinet recommended that Council should agree a further
£3.404M* to support the regeneration programme in 2021/22, £3.470M in 2022/23
and £1.311M per year thereafter (from 2023/24 onwards).
http://ced-pri-cms-2.ced.local/documents/g4836/Public%20reports%20pack%2029th-

Sep-2021%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10&$LO$=1
*this include £380k for seafront strategy specific priorities so £3.024M remained for other regeneration

Whilst the principles within the Chief Executive’s ODR remained constant and still
valid, the Cabinet report above and subsequent Council approval changed the
funding envelope considerably. The extract and table below summarised the
revised position:

Summary of financial implications

35. The financial implications for the Council stepping up its regeneration efforts in
this way are significant. The setting up of the URC's operations; allied to the
residual costs of consulting support from Inner Circle Consulting; the costs of
Council commissioning staff and the necessary technical and market studies
such as ground Investigations; ecological surveys and transport assessments are
anticipated to require a further £3m to be spent in 2021/22 and around £3.5m to
be spent in 2022/23 and around £1.3m per annum thereafter. However, by
making the necessary investment the Council will be able to accelerate the
development of the 11 major sites it owns and achieve the benefits set out in the
URC business case which are predicated on delivering over £2bn in gross
development value once fully built out.

45


http://ced-pri-cms-2.ced.local/documents/g4836/Public%20reports%20pack%2029th-Sep-2021%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10&$LO$=1
http://ced-pri-cms-2.ced.local/documents/g4836/Public%20reports%20pack%2029th-Sep-2021%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10&$LO$=1

Table 2 URC Set Up, Consultancy and Development Management costs
BCP Regeneration - Corporate Priority

Budget Requirements 2021722 2022/23
Inner Circle 431 850 0
BCP Futureplaces Limited - Stafi 1,119,692 1,706,126
BCP Futureplaces Limited — Operational costs 424 589 516,876
BCP Client Team — Staff 628 599 BE0 489
BCP Client Team - Other 485_161 126,353
Contingency 251,767 287,812
Total 3,351,658 3,307,657

Existing Budget

Corporate priority - Regeneration (1,750,000) (1,750,000)
Existing BCP staff base budget (226,400) (226,400)
Total (1,976.400) (1,976.400)
Additional Budget request 2021/22 - URC and Client teams 1,375,258 1,331,257
Budget Requirements 2021722 2022723
Development enabling costs 1,935,440 2,946 405

Existing Budget

Existing Capital Investment Programme revenue budgets (applied as appropriate) (286 650) (807,850}
Additional Budget request 2021/22 — Development enabling costs 1,648,790 2,138,555
Total Additional Budget request 2021/22 | 3,024,048 | | 3,469,812 |

2.2.10

2211

This additional resource was allocated from the Council’s Financial Resilience
Reserve, which at the time stood at £20.870M.

As it transpired not all this additional resource was required in 2021/22 and £1.497M
remained unspent and was carried forward* into 2022/23, with £647,000 being set
aside to fund the costs incurred by FPL between, 15t April 2022 to 12" July 2022, in
the exact same way as in 2021/22 (as per 2.2.7). This became known as the
transition period between the old revenue funding model and a new capital funding
model (capitalisation model), via a working capital loan facility which Council agreed
on 12 July 2022 of up to £8M.

*via Portfolio Holder Decision Record

http://ced-pri-cms-
02.ced.local/documents/s34249/Portfolio%20Holder%20Decision%20Record.pdf?$L
0%=1

End of 2.2

Page 36 of 100

46



http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/s34249/Portfolio%20Holder%20Decision%20Record.pdf?$LO$=1
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/s34249/Portfolio%20Holder%20Decision%20Record.pdf?$LO$=1
http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/s34249/Portfolio%20Holder%20Decision%20Record.pdf?$LO$=1

3. Establishment and operation of BCP Future Places Ltd.

3.1

Identify the process for the appointment of the company’s Executive and Non-
Executive Directors and other staff (was an appropriate open and transparent
process followed).

This scope item is aligned to scope item 5.2 - Were fees paid to head-hunters for their
support in appointing executive directors, non-executive directors and staff.

Appointment of Executive Directors (Managing Director and Chief Operating Officer)

311

3.1.2

3.1.3

3.14

3.1.5

3.1.6

3.1.7

By Executive Directors | have taken this to mean the Managing Director (MD) and the
Chief Operating Officer (COO) only. There were at least two other BCP FuturePlaces
officers with the word Director in their job title, but these officers were not executive
directors (i.e. members of the Board), although they may have deputised or attended
the Board on certain occasions.

The, to be, Managing Director was engaged by the Council initially as a consultant in
June 2021 with the first invoice being presented for payment dated 8 July 2021 for
£18,581.17 (BCP Council Purchase Order 171752 Smart Growth Associates). The
description of the work provided was: Strategic advice — regeneration policy and
development of URC. (where URC = Urban regeneration company)

| have been unable to identify how or why Smart Growth Associates were chosen as
provider of this service. The to be Managing Director said this about the business:
“My business, Smart Growth Associates, works with property interests and local
authorities to help secure high-quality development on the stewardship model set out
through the Building better, Building Beautiful Commission.

According to an email from the Head of HR to the Council’s Chief Executive (14 June
2021), the to be MD had been approached by the Leader of the Council to become
MD presumably on the quality of the consultancy work they undertook (3.1.2) and or
recommendations from somewhere, because BCP Council did not advertise the MD
role. See Appendix 3.1.

Any offer of employment, to become MD, made by the Leader of the Council appears
to have been made verbally and to be one in principle; | can find no evidence of any
offer detail such as salary and other essential employment elements. Indeed on 1
July 2021, (one day before the interview) the to be MD sent an email to the Head of
HR saying, “| wonder if you have an offer for me to take a look at?”.

| have identified a slightly earlier one to one meeting, 11 June 2021, between the to
be MD and the Head of HR where some ‘offer’ expectations were discussed. The
Council would appear to have been reactively acting to the Leader’s apparent ‘offer
of employment’ and the individual’'s expectations in terms of salary and key
employment terms.

It appears that both the Head of Human Resources (HR) and the then Monitoring

Officer (MO) (Director of Law and Governance) advised that some form of selection
process needed to be followed. The MO advocated that the post should be formally
advertised. The Head of HR, in emails, seems to agree this was the ideal but in the
circumstances (of the Leaders offer) was content that an interview of the candidate

Page 37 of 100

47



3.1.8

3.1.9

by a panel was sufficient to justify an appointment, subject to satisfactory
performance at the interview.

The Head of HR prepared a set of eight questions, and a Managing Director Role
Profile and arranged an interview panel comprising the Leader of the Council, Clr
Mellor, Deputy Leader of the Council and relevant portfolio holder, Clir Broadhead,
and ClIr Howell. The Chief Executive and Head of HR were to be in attendance to
offer advice and support.

The interview took place on Friday 2 July 2021. The Leader of the Council sent an
email to the Head of HR shortly after the interview (also on 2 July 2021) which stated
that: “For the avoidance of doubt | am happy to proceed to offer the MD position on
the basis of that interview”. See Appendix 3.1.9

3.1.10 An email from the Head of HR to the interview panel was sent (6 July 2021)

3.1.11

3.1.12

3.1.13

3.1.14

3.1.15

summarising the interview, this shows the decision to offer the role to the candidate
was by majority, 2 to 1. ClIr Howell has confirmed to me that he thought the
candidate appeared to have extensive experience and knowledge in regeneration
and place shaping, was very highly regarded and had national influence regarding
the stewardship approach to regeneration, but in his view lacked experience in an
MD role, in financial management and planning and in operational delivery.

Following the interview process, the MD accepted the offer, made by the Head of
HR, in the week commencing 5 July 2021, or shortly afterwards after obtaining
personal legal advice which the council agree to pay for, £500+vat. There followed
some toing and froing on some matters of the offer including private health cover
which was agreed and details around travel expenses. See Appendix 3.1

The offer also included a period of transition where the appointment was considered
to be interim and whereby the individual continued to invoice the council via Smart
Growth Associates invoices. Two further invoices followed for 64 days work at £900
per day from 5" July to 15t October, Total £57,600 — the description on the invoice
was: INTERIM MD role URC. See invoice snips at 4.1.13.

It is unclear to me, and | have found no evidence, to explain why the Council agreed
to pay £900 per day for this interim period when the agreed offer was a salary of
£150,000 per annum whichis a day rate in the region of £660 per day (150,000
divided by 227 days (5days x 52weeks, less 25 days annual leave and 8 bank
holidays). The explanation may simply lie in the interim nature and the fact the
contract was not a permanent contract until later signed in the year on 1 November
2021 when formal FPL employment, and certain employment rights started.

The interim period was Council stipulated based on internal legal advice, from the
Head of Legal Services & Deputy Monitoring Officer, and not from delays caused by
the MD. As well as legal advice this interim position appears to be one of sensible
pragmatism (ultimately applying to other individuals as well as the MD) because
some roles ramped up from 2 days per week, to 3 days...... etc and paid on a day
rate, as the company quickly evolved from nothing to a fully operational company
with a core staff group. This interim and sub-contractor employment approach was
highlighted in various committee reports.

For the avoidance of any doubt the table below summarises the appointment key
dates of the MD and costs associated in 2021/22 (only).

Page 38 of 100

48



3.1.16

3.1.17

3.1.18

3.1.19

3.1.20

3.1.21

Event Date £

Consultant to BCP Council (Smart Growth June to 5 July 2021 18,581
Associates)

Consultant — Interim MD of URC (Smart Growth | 5July to 1 Oct 2021 57,600
Associates)

Interim MD employed via Comensura The month of 19,610
October 2021

Formal startas FPL MD on permanent contract | 1 November 2021 78,644

(Salary, NI, pension) to 31 March 2022

The MD is registered at Companies House as a | 27 January 2022 -
director of the Company (FPL)

Total 2021/22 174,435
(ultimately all charged to FPL (P&L account), including line 1 of this table which, given
timing/dates, may be arguable as this could be viewed as a Council cost). Note the
company existed formally from 18 June 2021, see 2.2.3.

The Council does not appear to have been involved in any other specific staff
appointment decisions, other than the MD role outlined in 3.1.2 to 3.1.15 above.

In an email on 9 July 2021 to the Council’s Interim Director of Delivery, the newly
appointed (on 5 July 2021) interim MD stated: “I| have now identified two individuals
to undertake the key roles of COO* and Strategic Engagement Director (see 3.1.26)
and would like to discuss how we get these in place asap whether via consultancy
contract, interim or perm hire. It would be extremely beneficial for the COO hire to be
included ASAP in business planning and in commercial decision making on projects”.

*where COO = ChiefOperating Officer

| have been unable to confirm with certainty how the MD identified the two individuals
as stated in the comment above. A&G Committee may wish to seek confirmation
from the MD on this point.

| have identified that the MD and the COO had previous professional acquaintance
and had worked together in the past. It is possible that the interim MD simply
considered the COO as highly suitable for the role, based on previous working
together, and made the interim offer on that basis. See Confidential appendix
3.1.19.

Based on the Council’s legal advice (see 3.1.14) both roles where initially recruited to
on an interim basis via Comensura**, the Council’s neutral third party vendor supplier
of agency workers.

**In this example Comensura engaged the worker and through their flexi payroll services paid the
worker based on the pay-rate terms agreed. Comensurathen invoiced BCP Council forassociated
payroll costs, based on approved timesheets, plus a payroll fee, which was £25 perweek. In very
simple termsthe Council was paying for an interim or temporarypayroll service including compliance
with IR35 tax rules. For interim staffthis approach is more costefficientthan on-boarding and then
deleting an interim worker onto the Council’s payroll system.

In the case of the COO interim appointment period, Comensura invoices started

being paid from 1/8/21 and continued to 31/12/21, total paid to Comensura was
£104,216.92.

Page 39 of 100

49




3.1.22 During the interim appointment period of the COO | have identified an e-mail from the
MD to the appointed* external HR company, supporting FPL and BCP Councill,
referring to the role of COO and Strategic Engagement Director, which says:

Hi All

| have had a clear direction from Graham that these positions need to be openly recruited.

Please can we discuss how this will be done

| am working at capacity as are the Interims to get the business plan over the line, so on my side want to do this on a basis that is open and transparent on one hand but have limited time resource to put int
To note that the COO position will be expected to be a member of the URC Board so this will need a panel interview.

Best

*Purple HR was appointed, by the Council after a tendered/quote process, to support FPL with HR
recruitment, HR policy creation and payroll matters, contractual costs were charged to FPL and appear
in the P&L account. FPL appointed in-house HR resource and itwould appear that gradually Purple HR
activity reduced to providing a payroll function.

3.1.23 The post of COO was subsequently advertised on the BCP Council website for one
week during October 2021 (between 22 and 29 Oct). The person incumbent as the
interim appointment (see 3.1.19) was appointed on a permanent basis, | have been
unable to confirm the process or whether as a result of the advertising any other
candidates were interviewed. The COO took up permanent employment on 1
January 2025.

3.1.24 For the avoidance of any doubt the table below summarises the appointment key
dates of the COO and costs associated in 2021/22 (only).

Event Date £
Interim COO employed via Comensura 1/8/21 to 31/12/21 104,217
Formal startas FPL COO on permanent 1 January 2021 to 44,830
contract (Salary, NI, pension) 31 March 2022

The COO is registered at Companies House as | 27 January 2022 -
a director of the Company (BCP FuturePlaces
Ltd)

Total 2021/22 149,047
(ultimately all charged to FPL (P&L account)

Appointment of Non-Executive Directors (independent non-executive board members,
including a chairperson)
3.1.25 See section 5.2.

Appointment of Other Staff (All other staff, not executive directors or non-executive directors)

3.1.26 It has been stated, by members of the public, in emails sent to A&G Committee
members that in the case of the Strategic Engagement Director, the individual who
was appointed (firstly on an interim basis and then permanently) was known to the
former Leader of the Council, as a friend, and this may have had a bearing on the
appointment.

3.1.27 The individual was also a former CEO of Bournemouth Rugby Club and former
employee of a local development company. This was reported in the Bournemouth
Echo on 29 July 2021:

Page 40 of 100

50




BCP Council regeneration company will 'deliver change across the area’ |
Bournemouth Echo

3.1.28 The Echo report states that the individual was also the current Chairperson of the
Poole BID. | have been told by a former employee of FPL that they believed it was in
this role that the individual impressed the MD such that an interim offer of
employment was made. A&G Committee may wish to seek confirmation from the
MD on this point.

3.1.29 The former Chief Executive, responding to rumours that the former Leader of the
Council and the individual were friends, said this on the matter:
“Questions have also been raised regarding the appointment of the Strategic
Engagement Director. | am not aware of the process by which he was appointed, but
| was assured by the then Leader of the Council that he had not met the individual in
any significant way prior to his appointment with BCP FuturePlaces”.

3.1.30 For the avoidance of any doubt, | think it likely that the former Leader knew the
individual through association with Bournemouth Rugby Club, but | have found no
evidence that may indicate they were friends and this friendship may have had a
bearing on the appointment made by the MD.

3.1.31 For all other staff the recruitment and appointment processes appear to have followed
what can be best described as typical and similar to those that may happen within
BCP Council, broadly falling into one of three categories:

e Open advertising, followed by shortlisting and interview.

e Comensurasupplied CV’s for relevant job role, followed by shortlisting and
interview. On some occasions Comensura supplied member of staff, following
initial successful period of employment, were recruited on a permanent basis*.

e Agency (off-contract with Comensura) supplied CV's for relevant job role,
followed by shortlisting and interview. On some occasions agency supplied
member of staff, following initial successful period of employment, were recruited
on a permanent basis*

Other relevant matters associated with staff recruitment (references)

3.1.31 The Council did not appear to obtain any reference(s) when making the offer to the
MD. Purple HR confirmed this to be the case in an email to the current Director
People and Culture. This may have been on the basis that the MD was already
working for the Council on an interim service and then interim employment contract.

3.1.32 FPL did not appear to obtain any reference(s) when making the offer to the COO.
Purple HR confirmed this to be the case in an email to the current Director of People
and Culture.

3.1.33 | have been unable to confirm or not whether FPL obtained any reference(s) when
making the offer to the Strategic Engagement Director.

End of 3.1

Page 41 of 100

51


https://www.bournemouthecho.co.uk/news/19473965.bcp-council-regeneration-company-will-deliver-change-across-area/
https://www.bournemouthecho.co.uk/news/19473965.bcp-council-regeneration-company-will-deliver-change-across-area/

3.2

3.2.1

3.2.2

3.2.3

3.24

3.2.5

3.2.6

3.2.7

3.2.8

Consider the adequacy of the governance arrangements put in place by the Council
for the operation of BCP FuturePlaces Ltd.

One of the very early decisions (governance related) the Council had to make was
the initial composition of the FPL Board, for the period of time before independent
non-executive members (NED’s) were to be in place. On 18 October 2021 the
Overview & Scrutiny Board met to consider the Cabinet reports for the meeting on 27
October 2021. It was moved that O&S should recommend to Cabinet that :

“To help give confidence to potential developers, investors and residents that the
Council has a long-term commitment to regeneration, we request that the URC’s
board has cross-party councillor representation”

On being put to the vote the motion was lost, voting For 6, Against 6, Abstention 1,
the Chair used his casting vote.

The minutes state that before being put to the vote a wider debate ensued where the
Chair expressed concern in relation to the Chief Executive being a member of the
URC'’s Executive Board.

This highlights a re-occurring theme then and since, where the Council has grappled
with the issue of whether councillors, officers or a mix should be board members (or
perhaps more accurately formal company directors) of Council owned companies.

One external report, the DLUCH governance review report, linked to the Best value
notice and published on 3 August 2023, states the original governance structures (of
BCP FuturePlaces) did not reflect good practice in terms of governance and elected
members were too involved in the day-to-day operational management of the
company and in commissioning activity.

The internal council report, Council owned companies — Shareholder Governance
Review, authored by the Interim Corporate Director of Resources,

10 January 24, View link states more explicitly at 2.2 that:

“It is now broadly accepted that there is no place for elected members on the Board
of Council companies since companies are delivery vehicles and not an appropriately
transparent and accountable forum for making Council policy”.

| have identified what may have been referred to as the ‘good practice’ at 3.2.5.
Lawyers in Local Government (LLG) have produced several documents including
Guidance Note — The Governance of Council Interests in Companies - Code of
Practice (cabinet and scrutiny example).
council-interests-in-companies-code-of-governance-cabinet-structure.pdf

In this code of practice at 10.2 and 10.3 the following is stated:

Page 42 of 100

52


https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5365&Ver=4
https://llg.org.uk/media/01rdmrgm/council-interests-in-companies-code-of-governance-cabinet-structure.pdf

10.

10.1

10.2

10.3

The Company’s Board

The Government Guidance advised that a local authority company will be run

LLG

Lawyers in Local Government

by its board of directors answerable to the shareholders, in accordance with the
articles of association, and goes on to suggest that a board of between 3 and 8
directors is most likely to be practical (although this will be dependent on the
circumstances of each company). The participating Local Authority should be
represented on the board of its company.

The representatives who are appointed directors by the executive will
participate directly in the activities of the company and are answerable to the
company and have the powers and duties of company directors whilst they do
so. Accordingly., the Govermment Guidance goes on to suggest that this
requirement in a trading company and the accompanying conflict of interests
that may arise means that officers are better placed to fulfil this role.

Whilst it will therefore be the norm that officers, not members, will be appointed
as directors, this should not prevent the Council from appointing Members as
directors where that is considered to be in the best interests of the company
and the Council. If Members of the Council are appointed as directors of a
company, the following paragraphs should be borne in mind and, in particular,
that the member notes that:

Conflicts of interest may be waived by a company but, as a matter of public
law. never in the decision making of the Council: the Council Member /
company director will always have a conflict of interest when it comes to
their role as a councillor that must be resolved and resolved in the favour of
the company. A Member as director, therefore, must not be a party to
making a decision of the Council affecting the company, but may proffer
evidence or advice to the Council on the company’s behalf when invited to
do so.

Liaison should be through the key Member and/or officer concerning the
company and the Council's activities

The Member's Code of Conduct applies to a Member's activity as a director,
except only where it directly conflicts with the interests of the company and,
where that may be the case, the potential conflict notified to the company
secretary and to the Council’'s monitoring officer.

The only monies or other remuneration to be received by the Member in
connection with the directorship will be as a special responsibility allowance
(SRA) given by the Council to the amount of the corresponding SRA in the
Members’ Allowances Scheme.

3.2.9 Withregard to FPL whilst the temporary appointment of the Leader and Deputy
Leader to the Board, as temporary company directors, pending appointment of NEDs
may have been pragmatic in the circumstances it also created an unavoidable
conflict of interest. | have made a specific recommendation as a suggestion to avoid

3.2.10

this situation in the future.

Turning to other governance arrangements | have identified and summarised the
following relevant governance documents that were put in place by the Council for
the operation of FPL. Governance arrangements were articulated in the various
reports (available in the timeline at 1.1).

Circle)

Governance Documents | When agreed Who agreed /signed
(by FPL and BCP
Council)

The business case (Inner | 26 May Cabinet reviewed and

delegated to Chief Exec
to finalise and act upon
business case

The Company
memorandum and Articles
of Association

18 June 2021

Chief Exec via ODR

Page 43 of 100

53




BCP Council's n/a Cabinet 27 Oct 2021
Commissioning Plan
Commissioning Contract | Appears to exist in draft form only (not formally
agreed or signed)
Disagreement on invoicing arrangements / points
post OBC. Council wants to pay at point that the FBC
is approved — FPL too financially risky wants stage
payments.
Shareholder Agreement 25 January 2022 FPL Board — Council’'s
Monitoring Officer and
FPL MD signed the
agreement
Resource Agreement Appears to exist in draft form only (not formally
agreed or signed)
Working capital loan 25 January 2022 FPL Board — Leader,
Agreement (1) from Chief Exec (acting as
25/1/22 to 31/3/23 for company directors) and
£400,000 Council’'s Monitoring
Officer’s representative
Working capital loan 9 August 2022 FPL Board — MD and
Agreement (2) from COO (acting as company
29/7/22 to 31/3/27 for directors) and Council’'s
£8,000,000 Monitoring Officer’s
representative
FPL Business Plan 27 October 2021 Cabinet
(although produced by FPL the
business plan was a Council
requirement)

3.2.11 It was a Council aspiration that a Commissioning Contract (or Commissioning
Agreement) and Resource Agreement should be in place to ensure good
governance, both documents appear to exist in draft form but were not formally
agreed or signed. The last Council side update position | can find was recorded in
early March 2023 which stated:

Current position on the two outstanding documents:

e Commissioning Contract/ Agreement — This was prioritised over the
Resourcing Agreement due to the need for a contractual relationship
between the Council and FuturePlaces so they can commission studies
and works in relation to council-owned sites (which came to light when
FuturePlaces commissioned invasive ground works at Holes Bay). The
latest (and | hope final draft) is with the COO for review.

o Resource Agreement — latest draft with the COO for review 6 January
2023.

Note this is the Council’s view, | cannot find whether FPL, or specifically the COO, had a differing view
or explanation. The Council view appearsto show the documents were in draft and waiting the FPL
COO review.

3.2.12 In the case of the Commissioning Contract, the change from a revenue funded FPL

(in 21/22 and part 22/23) to a working capital loan funded FPL (from July 2022
onwards) required the document to be very materially re-written. In practice contract

Page 44 of 100

54



terms, including payment timings seem to have been mutually and pragmatically
agreed, utilising Board meetings to finalise matters.

3.2.13 In the case of the Resource Agreement (what services, at what price, to what level

and standard would the Council provide to FPL, e.g. accountancy, legal), a simple
payment schedule seems to have been adopted and agreed in practice. The Council
chooses not to have internal and individual service level agreements (between
council services), instead service levels and standards are set out in service
business plans. As a Teckal company it may be argued that FPL received the same
standards and levels of service as an in-house council services and this was as set
out in service business plans and priced accordingly based on estimated levels of
support.

3.2.14 The following governance arrangements were also put in place by the Council:

3.2.15

e Ways of Working meetings — meeting with key council departments to agree
working method

e Board/shareholder/commissioning team/FPL strategy sessions to establish
project prioritisation

e Project commissioning and Governance Gateways and Decision Gateways
agreed — e.g. go / no-go decisions on investments and workstreams

e Client side Commissioning team — note this was initially stated to likely be
6FTE, but was 2 FTE plus non-dedicated admin support, their role to
facilitate shared working, information (e.g. financial) and understanding

e BCP Future Infrastructure Fund Programme Board

e Member - FuturePlaces Engagement Forum (MFEF) (from April 2023) —
Chaired by FPL Board Chair — each political group provided a member to the
forum.

The Council required FPL to have regular Board meetings, custom and practice
evolved to them being 6 to 8 weeks apart. The Council was represented at the
Board meetings by a formal shareholder representative who was the Council’s Chief
Executive. The shareholder representative was an observer, with no voting rights at
Board meetings.

3.2.16 The Chief Executive, as the shareholder representative is shown, in minutes, to have

3.2.17

3.2.18

3.2.19

attended most Board meetings. When the Chief Executive missed the very
occasional meeting the MO or CFO attended. Also invited and in regular attendance
from the Council side was a member of the client commissioning team — this was
often the Head of Delivery — Regeneration but was on some occasion the Director of
Delivery — Regeneration (and sometimes both).

The Council's MO and CFO were invited to all Board meetings and during 2021/22
attended most meetings. From approximately April 2022 their attendance reduced to
meetings where specific agenda items may have required their attendance.

During the FPL operating period | have identified a number of areas where
governance arrangements were refined and reviewed usually where both parties (i.e.
the Council and FPL) were in agreement that improvements could be made. One
such example is the slight streamlining of the decision making gateway process
where some duplication was removed.

| have found examples where the Council (commissioning team) and FPL (executive

directors and senior staff) did not fully agree that governance weaknesses or issues
existed, one such example was individual project transparency and oversight. This

Page 45 of 100

55



issue was resolved through the creation of SharePoint file storage which allowed
accessibility of files to both suitably restricted FPL and Council staff.

3.2.20 From approximately January 2023 | have seen that the Council’'s Commissioning

Team were becoming increasingly concerned that the Council’'s Commissiong Plan
and the FPL Business Plan increasingly did not correlate. This email extract 16/2/23
between officers in the team highlights some of the concerns:

Over the past year | have on numerous occasions brought up the question of what has actually
been commissioned, as | have been concerned about scope creep (and projects without funding
streams or any likelihood of return on investment for some time) particularly in light of the council's
budgetary constraints. As we know FuturePlaces have been pulled into numerous areas of work
and have tried to accommodate requests and we have both been concerned that the number of
projects being progressed has grown and prioritisation has been an issue.

| have repeatedly asked for KPIs and critical success criteria that ties back to the list in the

Commissioning Plan. | was hoping that the Annual Review was going to provide this
information. But it hasn't.

| have been carrying around my spreadsheet showing all the projects (and the limited information
we have on deliverables) for six months and do keep challenging and asking for this information.

We did offer to help on several occasions — but FP declined to accept. See email string below.

The Head of Delivery (Council Commissioning Team) outlined the issues to the Chief
Executive (shareholder representative) 19/3/2023 and suggested actions needed
from the Council and FPL to address them. It was further suggested that the timing
of the up-coming elections was an opportunity for this review, and this would ensure
the Council’'s Commissioning Plan was still aligned to the Corporate Strategy.

(See appendix 3.2.20)

3.2.21 Officers in the commissioning team were clearly of the view that FPL were being

commissioned to undertake work/projects outside of the Commissioning Plan and the
FPL Business Plan, presumably by councillors or the FPL Board (Board minutes do
not indicate commissioning by the Board took place). The following wording was
used in an email,19/3/23, to the Chief Executive:

review of current schemes — either jointly with FuturePlaces or to ask them to produce project outline cases
or ensure that sufficient detail for each project is included in their draft 2022/23 Business Plan.

We must be clear that this includes the scope for each scheme as they see it (as you know commissioning
has not always come via the officer team), outputs/outcomes, KPIs, critical success criteria and timelines
alongside forecasts of whether investment is likely, the schemes will be self-funding, and/or if there is any
anticipated return for the council.

3.2.22 The issue of FPL involvement in activity not in the Commissioning Plan or FPL

Business Plan and/or ‘scope creep’ on existing projects (that were in the
Commissioning Plan and FPL Business Plan), and how that came about, is
considered in more detail at 4.5.

3.2.23 It needs to be said that many projects do naturally evolve and it was the Council’s

responsibility to manage this project evolution by saying Yes or No to specific items.

Page 46 of 100

56




The commissioning team’s point, | believe, is that this was hard to do if
commissioning activity was verbal and from councillors.

3.2.24 The officer's comment, from the commissioning team above, is not saying officers
should commission activity, it is saying it should come via the officer team, so they
were aware and able to manage evolutionary changes.

3.2.25 | will be making a recommendation that the Council should pre-define what natural
evolution of a project looks like and what is a more fundamental tangent sub-project
(from any original Cabinet or Council agreed Commissioning Plan or Business Plan
project). Further, what is the trigger that means a decision is required from
councillors to materially evolve a project — this could be budget increase or decrease
for example as a proxy.

End of 3.2

Page 47 of 100

57



3.3

3.3.1

3.3.2

3.3.3

3.34

Consider the adequacy of the governance arrangements put in place by the
company executive directors for the day to day operation of BCP FuturePlaces Ltd.

BCP Council stipulated (Teckal company status, control test, states that the Council
must have decisive control, and similar to its own departments) that FPL was to
follow certain key Council governance arrangements, arguably the two key
arrangements being:
¢ Adherence to Council decision making/committee arrangements as set out in
the Constitution — this included adherence to timetables, forward plans and
the Overview & Scrutiny of Cabinet reports
¢ The Council’s Financial Regulations, were required to be adopted — this
included for Procurement and Contract management arrangements

The day to day operational, including governance, arrangements within FPL was a
matter for the Executive Directors, MD and COO, and other managers within the
company. | have not explored these arrangements in great detail, several
arrangements are highlighted as examples below.

Examples of suitable governance arrangements within FPL.:

e |ICT and electronic storage arrangements to enable efficient and effective
formal and informal collaborative working practices

e Project management processes

¢ Financial management processes

e A comprehensive suite of twenty HR policies for FPL. There appeared to be
an executive officer preference and a Board decision to deliberately create a
point of difference between FPL and the Council, to facilitate agility, speed of
working and response.

@ 01 Recruitment

@ 02 Holiday Policy

@+ 03 Flexible Working

0 04 Equal Opportunities

@+ 05 Drug 8 Alcohol

0 06 Wellbeing

@ 07 Menopause

@+ 02 Maternity and Family Friendly
@ 09 Homeworking

@ 10 Social Media

@+ 11 Harassment and Bullying
@ 12 Performance Improvement
0+ 13 Absence Managment

0| 14 Grievance

@ 13 Whistleblowing

0+ 16 Bribery

@ 17 Data Protection Policy

0+ 18 Modern Slavery

@ 19 Disciplinary Policy

@ 20 Redundancy

These FPL policies were created from generic templates (for each policy), that look
to have been provided by Purple HR.

Page 48 of 100

58



3.35

3.3.6

3.3.7

3.3.8

3.3.9

3.3.10

3.3.11

| will be making a recommendation that the Council should decide, in advance of
senior executive appointments of staff to any new future companies (so they can
make informed decision over applying for roles understanding council control
position), whether all relevant Council policies should apply to all Teckal companies,
(rather than the Council allowing bespoke company policies to be agreed) to
evidence the Teckal decisive control test.

In the case of financial management, FPL were largely reliant on the Council’'s
finance team during most of 2021/22 financial year until their own financial controller
was appointed on 7/3/2022. The FPL financial controller kept financial records in a
well-structured e-filing system. | have not significantly drilled into the budget setting
arrangements, bank reconciliations, cashflow forecasting, and other internal to FPL
financial management arrangements, although | can see these were all done and
considered in internal FPL meetings.

In the case of a new company, as FPL was, day to day operational arrangements,
including governance arrangements do take time to be created, embed and then
evolve. The arrangements implemented by FPL executive directors and managers
appear to me to have been entirely reasonable.

FPL produced an Annual Review 2022-23, which was presented to Cabinet on 8
March 2023, agenda item 13. This is an example of compliance with best practice
and component of good governance. View link to the Annual Review.

However, | have found emails which show the Council’'s Commissioning team
thought this Annual Review, in their view, missed an opportunity to showcase the
achievements of FPL, including missing a high level summary of expenditure against
each project to date, estimated % of work completed (towards the Outline Business
Case (OBC) milestone), target dates for submission of OBC to the Council, and
some other points.

It was the Commissioning Team'’s view that this information existed within FPL but
was not included, instead the Annual Review:

e was more of an academic paper with some jargon and phrases that did not
make particular sense, such as ‘recognises the challenges and opportunities of
the polycentric urban footprint’

¢ repeated a lot of what was said in the Business plan, such as explanation of the
Stewardship proposition

¢ failed to include “you said/we did/next steps” (Council said/FPL did/next steps)

The Annual Review included a section on ‘cross cutting projects’ undertaken by FPL,
there was no mention of how much these had cost FPL and how they were funded
given a capitalisation event did not exist.

One cross cutting pilotwas DLUCH grantfunded, and another projectwas funded form Council received
governmentgrant(Local TransportPlan (LTP))

Footnote to 3.3

There is no obvious place to make comment on the work ethic within FPL, so | am
positioning it here —in my opinion FPL staff had a strong desire to make FPL a success. |
have seen evidence of staff working considerably beyond standard working hours to meet
deadlines — no additional pay was received — no additional time off was taken — annual leave
entitement not taken. This applied to staff across pay bandings (high to low).

End of 3.3

Page 49 of 100

59


http://ced-pri-cms-02.ced.local/documents/g5357/Public%20reports%20pack%2008th-Mar-2023%2010.15%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10&$LO$=1

3.4

34.1

3.4.2

3.4.3

3.4.4

3.4.5

3.4.6

3.4.7

3.4.8

3.4.9

Consider the adequacy of business planning arrangements as applied by BCP
FuturePlaces Ltd.

To a significant degree this scope question has already been answered by the
Council’s past actions. Cabinet agreed two FPL Business Plans:

e 27 October 2021 — FPL Business Plan 2021/2023 View link

e 22 June 2022 — FPL Business Plan Update FY22/23 View link

The updated business plan was required as a resultof the change in Council funding of FPL from a
revenue modelto a capital model, services by a working capital loan of up to £8m.

In agreeing the FPL Business Plans, by definition the Council, via the Cabinet and
(full) Council decision effectively agreed that the FPL business plan was complete,
robust and adequate in the context of this scope question. Had this not been the
case the business plans should not have been approved.

Council officers, including the Interim Director of Delivery, Director of Delivery -
Regeneration and Head of Delivery (the Commissioning Team) had a role to ensure
the FPL Business Plan aligned to the Councils Commissioning Plan and to advise
Cabinet and Council accordingly.

| have seen email evidence where the commissioning team and FPL worked together
to strengthen initial draft versions of the business plans so covering reports and
business plans could be presented to Cabinet and Council for approval.

On both occasions when the FPL Business Plan was considered by Cabinet, see
above, there were major elements marked Restricted Content — Not for publication.
Indeed, in the case of the original Business Plan, i.e. Cabinet on 27 October 2021,
the whole business plan was marked as such. Whilst at the 22 June 2022 Cabinet,
where the updated Business Plan was received, the business plan itself was not
marked restricted, the ‘business plan financials’ was restricted.

| have not been able to identify whether it was the Council’s preference or FPL'’s
preference for the content to be restricted — either way this should have been a BCP
Council decision. The decision not to publish was one the Council must own.

| have reviewed all of the restricted, un-published, content and | cannot see a
particularly strong justification for it to be so. Withthe benefit of hindsight the
justification to restrict the content, in my opinion, does not outweigh the negative
justification of failing to allow the public access and to demonstrate the Council’s
commitment to transparency and open reporting.

FPL was not in competition with any other entity, the Council was its’ only customer
and allowing the public/contractors/suppliers to see budgetary information was no
different to the Council context.

I will be making a recommendation that the Council should consider publishing all
BCP Council Teckal company Business Plans and financial information including
budgets, and financial outturn where the Council is the sole customer.

End of 3.4

Page 50 of 100

60


https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=4837&Ver=4
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5011&Ver=4

3.5

Consider the adequacy of the financial and performance management as applied by
BCP FuturePlaces Ltd, and applied to BCP FuturePlaces Ltd by the Council,
including consideration of ongoing risk and issues management.

Financial management (management accounts)

35.1

3.5.2

3.5.3

3.5.4

3.5.5

3.5.6

The Council essentially produced the management accounts for FPL during 21/22
and up to the point that FPL recruited their own financial controller (late March 2022).

This took the form of Council cost centre downloads and analysis.

(Note - costs incurred by FPL during 21/22 (and part of 22/23) were recorded in the Councilsledgerand
a recharge of costs (via invoice) to FPL took place at year end. FPL invoiced the Council (Sales), the
Council funding these from its revenue budget).

From the start of 22/23, with the FPL financial controller, in place, extensive financial
management records have been kept and are easily accessible. These were
summarised at the Board meetings.

At his first Board meeting as new Independent Chair, Sir Bob Kerlake requested a re-
formatting of financial information presented to the Board — this included an analysis
of costs to date in P&L account format. (see similarto Appendix 4.1.4)

The Board signed off all statutory reporting requirements, i.e. approved proposed
P&L and Balance Sheet after reviewing external auditor's comments / changes
required /changes recommended.

Schedule 3.1.1 of the Shareholder agreement stated that FPL should provide to the
Council monthly management accounts. For 21/22 (and part of 22/23) this happened
by default because the Council controlled the management accounts via its own
ledger and cost centre. Thereafter management accounts were not provided to the
Council on a monthly basis, but the Commissioning Team kept a detailed
commissioning spreadsheet based on financial information supplied by FPL which
essentially provided similar information. This information, combined with the Board
financial information (see3.5.3) meant, that in my opinion, the Council had oversight
of FPL financial position.

Besides some occasional delays (two weeks), it is my opinion that FPL complied with
the substance and form of the Shareholder agreement requirement, albeit that a
schedule from FPL headed ‘Monthly Management Accounts’ was not produced.

Performance management

3.5.7

3.5.8

3.5.9

| have been unable to ascertain with certainty whether the performance management
arrangements within FPL applying to their own assessment of their own employee’s
performance was robust. The HR policies highlighted at 3.3.3 indicate that a
framework existed and specifically policy 12, Performance Improvement indicates a
performance management process was being followed — regular 1:1 meeting,
periodic appraisals, feedback, setting of targets and so on.

The Council's Commissioning Team, which was originally set out as likely to be 6
FTE staff, was only ever a maximum of 2FTE with ad-hoc administrative support
from the Council’s corporate core business support function, was the client function
which monitored FPL performance activity against the Plan(s)

As identified at 3.2.20 there were performance related concerns raised by the
Commissioning Team from about January 2023. These concerns were expressed
internally within the team at first and the extended to the Chief Executive,
shareholder representative. See 1.1 Table 2, entries from Jan23 to July23.

Page 51 of 100

61



3.5.10 This cameto a head in June 2023, when FPL Executive Director’s (MD and COO)

3.5.11

3.5.12

say that the Commissioning Director made potentially defamatory comments about
performance of FPL. The comments were said to propagate an untrue narrative
about:

e The quality of procurements undertaken by FPL

e FPL being out of control and over budget

See entry in Section 1.1 Table 2 timeline June entry — COQ’s formal review,
concluding comments are untrue, Public Interest Disclosure Act submission to the
Board, interim Board Chair tasked with raising with shareholder representative.

The FPL MD has submitted her own list of FPL Delivered Work, which also highlights
her belief that Council representatives had in their possession work submitted by
FPL. Ithink this highlights that work had been done but which did not trigger a
payment event based on the capitalisation funding model and therefore Councillors
did not have a true understanding of exactly what had been achieved by FPL:

9 BCP FuturePlaces - Delivered Work

BCP FuturePlaces Annual Report 2022-2023.

https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&source=web&rct=j&
0pi=89978449&url=https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.
uk/documents/s40201/Appendix%25201%2520Future
Places?%2520Annual%2520Review.pdf&ved=2ahUKE

wilgrTe-
UWHAXUJWOEAHYNnXDNwWQFnoECBOQAQ&uUsg=AQ Delivered to Commissioning Officer & publshed on
1 wWaw2JX7chfFgqz0x7YW6ER4N32 BCP Council BCP FuturePlaces FuturePlaces website

Investment Case - Poole Quays Public Realm

2 Improvements BCP Council BCP FuturePlaces Delivered to Investment Committee
Delivered to Commissioning Team (but held back from Council
3 Business Case - Poole Civic Centre BCP Council BCP FuturePlaces pending May 23 elections)
4 Business Case - Chapel Lane Car Park - mixed use BCP Council BCP FuturePlaces Delivered - subject to estates Issue being resolved
Delivered - project transferred to BCP Housing Team for
5 Business Case - Constitution Hill Housing BCP Council BCP FuturePlaces delivery
Delivered to Commissioning Team (but held back from Council
6 Business Case - Christchurch Civic Centre BCP Council BCP FuturePlaces pending May 23 elections)
7 Business Case - Beach Road Car Park BCP Council BCP Futureplaces Delivered - Council input into strategy requested.
8 Design Code - Poole Quays MHCLG BCP FuturePlaces / BCP Council Delivered

Delivered / MHCLG funded addiitonal work as product was
identified as outstanding and was recognised as a national
9 Design Code - Lansdowne MHCLG BCP FuturePlaces / BCP Council precendent
10 Draft Regeneration & Investment Strategy BCP Council BCP FuturePlaces Delivered to Commissioning Director

The Big Conversation - stakeholder engagement;

11 asset analysis; branding & positioning proposal BCP Council /BID BCP FuturePlaces Delivered to Commissioning Director
Levelling Up Fund BID - Poole Bus Station &
12 Lighthouse Area BCP Council / MHCLG BCP FuturePlaces Delivered to Commissioning Director & submitted to MHCLG
13 Dolphin Centre Re-provision - locational study Jess Gibbons BCP FuturePlaces Delivered to Jess Gibbons, COO
Savills Office Market Viability Study
14 (Lansdowne/Cotlands) BCP Council BCP FuturePlaces Delivered to Commissioning Officer

To inform MHCLG Lansdowne

15 Lansdowne EBD Report Design Code / Cotlands Studies  BCP FuturePlaces Delivered to Commisisoning Director & BCP Planning
To inform Boscombe Centre

16 Boscombe EBD Report Regeneration approach BCP FuturePlaces Delivered to Commissioning Director & BCP Planning
To inform and support BIC/

17 Westover Road / Bournemouth ARC EBD Report ARC regeneration approach BCP FuturePlaces Delivered to Commisisoning Director & BCP Planning

To inform MHCLG Design Code /
18 Poole Waterfront & Old Town EBD Report Holes Bay & Waterfront projects Delivered to Commisisoning Director & BCP Planning

To inform and support

Christchurch Civic Centre long

term short term reuse and
19 Christchurch Centre EBD Report masterplan approach Delivered to BCP Commisisoning Directer & BCP Planning.
20 AND Retail Report Boscombe Market study Delivered to Cmmissioning Director & BCP Estates Team

The MD also submitted a list of work in progress which was spread over 14 project
lines:

Page 52 of 100

62



20 BCP FuturePlaces - Work in Progress

NB all strategic projects were also ona

To further note that BCP
FuturePlaces had also
d the Member-

hlick
est

monthly meeting round with planning and
highways/infrastructure teams and specialist
teams where relevant

Project Outline Case - Dolphin Centre (Phase 1 -
1 Poole North Strategic Regeneration Project)

Project Outline Case - Bournemaouth International
2 Centre (Option Assessment)

3 Project Outline Case - Holes Bay Power Station

4 Project Outline Case - Wessex Fields

5 Project Outline Case - Boscombe Centre

6 Project Qutline Case - Poole North
Project Outline Case - Station Quarter / Poole North
(Component of Poole North Strategic Regeneration
Project - responding to Barclay's House scheme /St

Johns House and BLOC development plans and
6 Doreset Metrolink Plans)

Project Outline Case - Poole Harbour / Marina
7 Extension & Waterfront

Parking Study (Beurnemouth Sites/Poole
8 Sites/Christchurch sites)

9 Poole Quays Delivery Strategy - options analysis

10 Wessex Fields Delivery Strategy- options analysis

11 Boscombe Delivery Strategy - options analysis

FuturePlaces Forum to provide

members a regular projects

briefing on a cross-party basis

BCP Council

BCP Council

BCP Council

BCP Council

BCP Council

BCP Council

BCP Council

BCP Council

BCP Council

BCP FuturePlaces

BCP FuturePlaces

BCP FuturePlaces

BCP FuturePlaces

BCP FuturePlaces

BCP FuturePlaces

BCP FuturePlaces

BCP FuturePlaces

BCP FuturePlaces

BCP FuturePlaces

BCP FuturePlaces

BCP Futureplaces

Emily Cockle

Roo Humpherson

Noelle McManus / Craig Beevers
/ Gail Mayhew

Reporting / Engagement with BCP Council

Commissioning Team: Fortnightly progress reports
Monthly report to BCP CEOs 'Big Plan Delivery Board'
Board: Updates via Board Projects Update

Commissioning Team: Fortnightly progress reports
Monthly report to BCP CEOs 'Big Plan Delivery Board'
Board: Updates via Board Projects Update

Commissioning Team: Fortnightly progress reports
Monthly report to BCP CEOs 'Big Plan Delivery Board'
Board: Updates via Board Projects Update

Commissioning Team: Fortnightly progress reports
Monthly report to BCP CEOs 'Big Plan Delivery Board'
Board: Updates via Board Projects Update

Commissioning Team: Fortnightly progress reports
Monthly repart to BCP CEOs 'Big Plan Delivery Board'
Board: Updates via Board Projects Update

Commissioning Team: Fartnightly progress reports
Monthly report to BCP CEOs 'Big Plan Delivery Board'
Board: Updates via Board Projects Update

Commissioning Team: Fortnightly progress reports
Monthly repart to BCP CEOs 'Big Plan Delivery Board'
Board: Updates via Board Projects Update

Commissioning Team: Fortnightly progress reports
Monthly repart to BCP CEOs 'Big Plan Delivery Board'
Board: Updates via Board Projects Update

Commissioning Team: Fortnightly progress reports
Monthly report to BCP CEOs 'Big Plan Delivery Board'
Board: Updates via Board Projects Update
Commissioning Team: Fortnightly progress reports
Monthly repart to BCP CEOs 'Big Plan Delivery Board'
Board: Updates via Board Projects Update
Commissioning Team: Fortnightly progress reports
Monthly report to BCP CEOs 'Big Plan Delivery Board'
Board: Updates via Board Projects Update
Commissioning Team: Fortnightly progress reports
Monthly repart to BCP CEOs 'Big Plan Delivery Board'
Board: Updates via Board Projects Update

Page 53 of 100

63




12 BIC Regeneration Delivery Strategy - options analysis BCP FuturePlaces

Holes Bay - planning & delivery strategy; proposed
13 competitive dialogue process BCP FuturePlaces

Dolphin Centre Re-provision - funding and delivery
14 options strategy BCP FuturePlaces

Rob Dunford / Gail Mayhew

Stace / Gail Mayhew / Craig
Beevers

GT3 / Gail Mayhew / Craig
Beevers

Commissioning Team: Fortnightly progress reports
Monthly report to BCP CEOs 'Big Plan Delivery Board
Board: Updates via Board Projects Update

Commissioning Team: Fortnightly progress reports
Monthly report to BCP CEOs 'Big Plan Delivery Board
Board: Updates via Board Projects Update
Commissioning Team: Fortnightly progress reports
Monthly report to BCP CEOs 'Big Plan Delivery Board
Board: Updates via Board Projects Update

End of 3.5

Page 54 of 100

64




3.6 Consider the adequacy of decision-making regarding the prioritisation of projects and the
deliverability for the Business Plan as managed by BCP FuturePlaces Ltd.

3.6.1 For large periods the 14 initial project in the Commissioning and Business Plan, plus

the thematic studies was the prioritisation list.

The URC's initial delivery plan will cover hree key areas of work: an inittal portfolio of sites to
support the regenerative development within the BCP conurbation: a seres of thematic
worksireams which will enable befier placemaking across the area; and contribution o the
tonmuiation of key strategies 1o support pkacemaking and regeneration across the region .

The URC prionity projects for the remainder of 2021/22 and 2022/23 are summansed in the
tabe below and detailed in an Appends to the URC Business Plan along with proposed
deliverables and performance metrics!

Christchurch Area Based & Farmes Civic
Conire Assel ard car parks
Council axssts: Delghin Centre;
Dualhin Leisure Centre; Seidown
Reaad Car Park & public realm
Brownfield site

Area based reqeneration & asset
oplimisation
Area based regensration & asset
optimisation

§  Hearof Pocle

7 Hales: Bay Area based regeneration & asset
optimisation

Design quality managemant and
place making

b Carters Quay
Dresign Quality
Exercise

8 Poale Civic Centre:

Wacant site

Farmer Civic Buildings & Car Park  Area based regeneration & asset
‘optimisation

Place making inpubs & development
strateqy

Place making inputs & development
strateqy

Capacity and connectivity issues;
optimisation of asset

Assed optimisation

Extra Care provision stralegy

a Turdin Moar Hausing Estale

10 Wessex Fields Greenfisld sibe
11 Potal Poole Parirership opportunity

12 Canstitution Hill
13 Exira CareVilage

Redevelopment sile
Parinership Oppadunity

INET |PresentUse ___________[ Working Hypotheses _____|
1 Beach Road Gar Car Park Assel optimisation
Park
2a  BICIARC Canference centre & Redevelopment & regenesation af
surmndings key site
Z  Winler Gardens. Car Park Place making input
Reavision
3 Boscombe Area Based - High Street; Area based regensration
Sowersign Centre; Royal Arcade
& muroundings
4 Poale Old Town & Area Based - High Sineet; Area based regeneralion
Ouary Between the Bridoes; West Cuay
& mroundings

14

Callands Road!!! Car Park sile Area hased regenaration & asset

optimisation

High Sarests Renaissance {leading io invesiment proposilion)
Halel Regeneration Partfolio (Iniisly Poole CC, Chrisichurch CC)
Grzenar Car Parks

Superloos (archilsclural compstition and delvery)

Matural Capital Investment Fund & Strabsgy

Raitwary Station Refurbs and East-West Meto Route

Place Polental Study

Proparty markel & place SWOT/IComparatorsiGAP Analysis

Office & Commerdal Proposition

Deslination

Cultural & creative

Spor, Leisure & Recrealion

Food, Retai & Enierisinment

Economy, Jobs, Skills & Local Economic Caplure

Balanced neighbawhacds

Green Infrastructure & Towards Zam appeoach

Piace Branding

Proparty Markel Peformance - basslining and moniloring; all property calegories; supple chain
issues & skils

Feasiblity East-West Rail Servies

Wiakability Movement & Parking

Sirabagic Integraied Transport sirabagy based on mulli modal analysss
EastWest MetroLink Feasibilty

Strabagic Parking Review

Smat foalprinting to enhance walkability

Smar Growlh

Integrated Urban & Infrastruciure: Model

Land use infensification mapping and study
Small sites search

3.6.2 If there was any prioritisation list within the list of projects, this has not been apparent
to me in any formal communications or documents | have seen, but these could have
been verbal. There were phrases and conversations such as ‘quick wins’ and
‘important to show something tangible’, stated between the Commissioning Team
and FPL at various points, but it seems it was left to FPL to interpret that and to apply
it to the projects listed.

3.6.3 Some of these comments do not necessarily align well with the ‘Stewardship
approach or proposition’, which by definition is a slower paced delivery model. This
was all articulated in various reporting and the MD was a staunch believer in the
model, being part author of the Building better, Building Beautiful Commission and
founder of the ‘Stewardship Initiative’. Stewardship Initiative

3.6.4 The Stewardship proposition, includes traits such as patient capital, long term
investment in quality and value creation economic, social and environmental and a
wider value for money (vfm) criteria.

3.6.5 ltis very difficult to argue with the good intentions and principles of the Stewardship
proposition, but besides a few examples around the country is largely untested in a
Council/municipal setting. The whole ethos relies on patient investors and in a
regeneration environment most developers are not, preferring fastest possible and
optimum (largest possible) returns.

3.6.6 Similar to the Council’'s Commissioning team, the FPL team was also not as large as
originally planned (according to comments made at FPL Board meetings). This
resulted in a smaller team trying to complete the same list of projects in the same

Page 55 of 100

65


https://www.stewardship-initiative.com/about

timeframe. The inevitable outcome was a longer period of time before tangible,
completed work such as OBC were available for consideration.

End of 3.6

Page 56 of 100

66



4. Detailed expenditureincurred by BCP FuturePlaces Ltd

4.1 Provide details of where the money went / what expenditure did BCP FuturePlaces Ltd
incur. (a schedule).

4.1.1 FPL accounts filing at Companies House says that:

These accounts have been prepared and delivered in accordance with the provisions applicable tc companies subject to the small
companies' regime.

The cormpany has taken advantage of section 444(1) of the Companies Act 2006 and opted not to deliver to the registrar a copy
of the company's Profit and Loss Account.

| have been unable to identify whether the decision to opt not to deliver to the registrar
a copy of the company’s Profit and Loss Account (P&L) was a Council decision. On
the face of it, this is a company decision (Board), but as a Teckal company where the
Council should demonstrate decisive control, it is my view the Council should make
this decision. Further as Teckal companies are public funded, the publication of the
annual P&L account would significantly enhance transparency and public
understanding.

4.1.2 | will be making a recommendation that the Council should stipulate for Council Teckal
companies, P&L accounts should be filed/delivered to the registrar (Companies
House). This will not require extra work as the P&L account has to be produced in any
case, and in fact may save time overall for the Council and the company in responding
to public queries (FOI's).

4.1.3 FPL external auditor, Hixsons, was appointed by the Council. Over the life of FPL (3
financial years, 2 partial years and one full year) Hixsons were paid £17,400.

The FPL P&L account (all figures are VAT exclusive unless stated otherwise, figures may not cast due to
rounding differences)

4.1.3 This section of the report shows the high level P&L account and then gradually drills
down through the numbers to more detailed schedules of expenditure. The Council
has responded to a number of Freedom of Information (FOI) requests asking for
similar information.

4.1.4 FPL P&L headlines (full P&L at Appendix 4.1.4) , over the life of FPL are:
Total expenditure was £7,205,442.

Total income from BCP Council was £4,728,751 (Turnover/Sales)
Other Income was £100,233 (ARG4 grant + interest received)
Total trading loss was therefore £2,376,458.

The snip below shows this figure within the final accounts of FPL filed at Companies
House Companies House final accounts

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital 8 1
Profit and Loss Account (2,376,458 )

SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS (2,376,457)

Note this figure also reconciles to the reported loan write off, of £2.4M less the FPL closing bank balance
figure which was paid to the Council on 26/6/2024.

Page 57 of 100

67


https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/document-api-images-live.ch.gov.uk/docs/R9Ba2Tkl6rCQVs1PEzXRq7FGO3-updkQMrH0QTnxKHk/application-pdf?X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=ASIAWRGBDBV3N2HNGOLI%2F20250911%2Feu-west-2%2Fs3%2Faws4_request&X-Amz-Date=20250911T203755Z&X-Amz-Expires=60&X-Amz-Security-Token=IQoJb3JpZ2luX2VjEKD%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2F%2FwEaCWV1LXdlc3QtMiJGMEQCIEoiC4jrmDfxLtQB51SnqJbvsrBdbS8ikcWXVeuPYBPJAiB1lRxXtAS90omq8RN5L8uBrq3%2B3clNrD3vJXULTE6uJyq6BQgZEAUaDDQ0OTIyOTAzMjgyMiIMYwFMajH5n2mYrOr8KpcFUtnMOmxWg6Mwvf%2FUZll8d%2Br6CVJ4%2B%2Fo%2B8z78DmEDCTthJ5ocXKRIWh%2By%2FvgaFNm%2BySp8bYTfUAqHXPOaUG4qMrW4LX%2F6kefjr8rhYYrbaSDQ1lQ1TGstrVJs0zB%2FY8DOk8np%2BEjVy9jM3LgGj7ZG5bjPln8Lf95Bfxh3FDuzxne86uyvSQTkUjW%2FargwzdP5kyojTZjTFMhZp9WIYUyLaUCgQQbEDn9U%2FlBSpqx4z74LrXFjV062RIOkKL7lVb771AJ8FE0xbspZRGy8kl20FL7cyHymbu1zoZp8wOLXoHnS%2FaX%2F1Jv5yStR7314A6m381IeoWy5J%2FnoGeJgqLeUr%2Fl3xsrU6w8Y%2FeSHa7x1f2yw8Uh3QpqhqsGC4NL%2FxoFFN%2FrqRDfob%2FG66GRz1b%2BKNrYO84KcV74lIj4fmPZ6RAWO9yaXNOV8lr2n4V%2BuEcU77fkV1bF%2FRfgeSs9aF7rNjJUPGdpK9zHZ7trz2opknoeOD09Ubc5EFueuNYsBDjOscx6IJ%2BNdRtd6z7paAhTQookFbr2PSIozD9oHVcdhslI0CNK0LLE6RutbTvEp2Ct6o3UfSv%2FM6FJCocgI6FvAjWvw0d4c8kbrcM3mgCIS%2Bf7iAuwLd9DxuVBeQdlvFn%2B8Lm0kqfOBkQAMk%2B%2FfGus6z0ibNld39EeOFu6J7v81ijXbEmwZVUMcSqnMOh1KgENBLpzOqj7jrBj6Y5A6YB4zc4XXZt%2BpgeT%2B2G4ccM3EDwwuQcXmrI1i3TLzdR%2FmNKtgCSzaitorBgiCzV6Vu9rMW3sr3e1QNdYCyFvt15qFWmlWtVIQ7boNrIwR%2BA2ANKjkitlMPlMH%2BrRleBYZ8grgl1%2BcYTUOoz17KlATmZq3i7ZnKM3KYSZWMK%2Fki8YGOrIB9cBy0I8tMFfQuwGyK6ygFeWR3xKOrx%2FhFHbHtIPbcFAunv1rIGU57%2BpMv3NNjThcgI576O3mfW8V3WSu4g85gKVI2EmdTjC5JOWtde7Tk1GkIPrpM4Xfg4yVMRK8A%2B0Il8fQRWsT9iR5My7jwTgGt%2FfoneNX1YF%2FK8drvH6rtjuEQDgEHktt%2BAHScL2aQAwPljJJrtjhAjmVQX5Aes9JDdwq35nTg2X6T0bw6Xdhl5A5mQ%3D%3D&X-Amz-SignedHeaders=host&response-content-disposition=inline%3Bfilename%3D%2213465045_aa_2024-07-03.pdf%22&X-Amz-Signature=10452bd39a237b61d89f96426b6b9f1f6c0f6690a7ca939f92815f5cf91ce6da

4.1.5 Drilling down into the total expenditure figure, £7,205,442, | have used lettering in the

P&L account (Appendix 4.1.4) to highlight the individual figures | have drilled down
into. The table below summarises this drilldown, further analysis for each drilldown

letter then follows the summary table.

P&L description Amount £ Drilldown letter
Consultancy Fees (cost of sales) 3,146,410 A
Director’s salaries (inc. NED’s) 789,531 B
Staff salaries 1,319,976 C
Sub-contractor costs 707,897 D
Rent (see 5.5) 71,550 E
Advertising and marketing 267,554 F
Legal Fees 96,728 G
Consultant 76,852 H
Management fees -BCP Council svs to FPL 319,061 |
External Audit Fees - Hixsons (not analysed) 17,400
Other P&L expenditure lines not analysed 392,483

Total 7,205,442

4.1.6 Drilldown A — Consultancy Fees (Outsourced - cost of sales) £3,146,410

This drilldown of costs is sorted by value paid to each supplier, high to low. The
arrangement for procuring these suppliers is considered at section 4.2.

It should be noted that £1,257,517 of the figuresiin this table were paid to the suppliers shown via Bloom

Framework.

It should also be noted that this list does not total to the £3,146,410 figure shown in the P&L account
due to a manual adjustmentof£8,467, for which I can find no working paper.

PRIOR & PARTMERS

JENMIFER DIXON ASSOCIATES
C.F. MOLLER ARCHITECTS UK LTD
ALY LTD (Noelle McManus)
SPACE SYNTAX

RAMBOLL UK LTD

INNER CIRCLE

ATKINS LTD

PARKING MATTERS LIMTED
KNIGHT FRAMK LLP

TOM REYNOLDS ARCHTECTURE LTD
STACE LLP

MARINA PROJECTS

WSP UK LIMITED

THE PRINCE'S FOUNDATION

MNEW MASTERPLANNING

OVE ARUP & PARTNERS LIMMTED
CHILMARK CONSULTING LTD
AVISON YOUNG (UK) LIMITED
THE LANDMARK PRACTICE
HOARE LEALLP

AL&AN BAXTER LTD

LDA-DESIGH

CORSTORPHINE & WRIGHT LIMTED
AECOM LIMITED

3,137 ,542.51

- N - LT

280,511.41
232431.81
154,843.40
163,057.62
160,345.00
150,511.00
133,457.50
118,776.41
108,624.00
109,126.50
108,5980.61
104 223.60
7999967
79,090.65
7T 45523
68 634.50
67 522.00
60 741.65
54 500.00
53,395.00
52,400.00
4520112
43 020.00
40,500.00
30,319.27

Page 58 of 100

68




ANDREW SISSONS CONSULTING (LONDOM) LTD
FORTY ASSET MANAGEMENT LLP

GERALD EVE

CHRISTIE OWEN & DAWIES LIMTED T/A CHRISTIE & CO
FUTURE PLACES STUDIO

WOMBLE BOND DICKINSON

TONY FRETTON ARCHITECTS

BEN PENTREATH LTD

MAE ARCHTECTS LTD

IHCA LIMITED

SAVILLS

POPULOUS LIMITED

50 DEGREES LTD

RJB SPORT,LEISURE AND CONSULTING LTD
HARDISTY JONES ASSOCIATES

BUCKLEY GRAY YWEOMAN LIMTED
EIGHTFOLD PROPERTY

MONTAGU EVANS LLP

PRICE WATERHOUSE COOPER

GLEEDS COST MANAGENMENT LTD

PHIL JOMES

GT3 ARCHMECTS LIMITED

Kewvin Murray Associates Lid

FERED&AY POLLARD ARCHITECTS LIMITED
CFH DOCMAIL LTD

CURRIE & BROVVN UK LIMITED

L&NWIGHME LONSDALE

PAUL MURRAIN URBAN DESIGN

ACCERTUM

RETTIE & CO.

A.D.E. REGENERATION

COE DESIGN LANDSCAPE ARCHTECTURE LTD
GELDARDS LLP

PREMIER SURVEYS

THORPE ENGINEERING CONSULTANTS LTD
FRAZER GARMNER ASSOCIATES LTD

THE MERCURE HOTEL

WESSEX WATER ENTERPRISES LTDr

MHA BURLEIGH POOLE (OPCO) LTD T/& POOLE QUAY HOTEL

PBA SOLUTIONS (LANDSCAPE) LTD
WILLAGE HOTELS

THE STABLE BAR & RESTAURANTS LTD
RED CHERRY CATERING LTD

LDC LIMITED

SNUG ARCHITECTS

BOURNEMOUTH CREATMNE PRINT (BCP)
EAST DORSET INDOOR BOWLS CLUB LTD
AFC BOURNEMOUTH LTD

NATURAL ENGLAND

HOBS REPROGRAPHICS PLC

THE BUSINESS SUPPLIES GROUP

POOLE METHODISTS - THE SPIRE

THE ENWIRONMENTAL DESIGN STUDMO LTD
BOURMNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL

37,250.00
34 978.31
32,500.00
28,500.00
28 4599.00
27,304.88
25,000.00
24 86875
21,185.49
20,500.00
20,000.00
18,000.00
17,257.39
15,450.00
12,575.00
12,489.50
12,000.00
12,000.00
10,485.00
10,315.00
10,000.00
g,600.00
5,357.00
g,172.50
8,678.08
7,650.00
§,754.00
5,045.00
£,950.00
4,300.00
4,000.00
3,632.50
2,838.17
2,847.60

2,660.00
2,150.00
2,116.88
1,986.16
1,793.33
1,500.00
1,440.41
1,066 .57
1,040.00
1,000.00
950.00
£51.00
650.00
555.00
513.50
259.40
239.91
235.80
150.00
58.00

Page 59 of 100

69




4.1.7 Drilldown B — Director’s salaries (inc. NED’s) £789,531

Date Last day as

Appointedas anemployee

an emplyee the ofthe Period asan employee
company company of FP DirsSalary  DirsBonus DirsNIC Dirs Pension
Managing Director 01/10/2021| 31/10/2023 25 months| 304,375 24,914| 44,097 8,007 381,393
Chief Operating Officer & Investment Director 01/01/2022| 31/10/2023 22 months| 270,062 21,661 38,956 7,014| 337,693
NED and Interim Chair from July 2023 (NED) 13/02/2023| 09/02/2024 Almost one year 20,774 0 1,629 0 22,403
Non-Executive Director 01/01/2023| 09/02/2024| 13 months & 1 week| 13,310 0 686 0 13,996
Chair (until June 2023) (NED) 01/10/2022| 11/07/2023 9 months 19,875 0 1,819 0 21,694
Non-Executive Director 13/02/2023| 09/02/2024 Almost one year 11,941 0 410 0 12,351
Total 640,337 46,575| 87,597 15,021 789,530

Note — rounding difference to P&L

last day as

Date Date TUPE a paid

Appointedas  Resigned as transfered employee

aDirectorof  aDirector of Tendered into the of the

thecompany thecompany EES[e]gEUlel Council Council

Managing Director 27/01/2022| 31/10/2023 n/a 01/10/2023 13/12/2023
Chief Operating Officer & Investment Director 27/01/2022| 09/10/2023|04/10/2023 01/10/2023 10/11/2023
NED and Interim Chair from July 2023 (NED) 13/02/2023 n/a n/a n/a
Non-Executive Director 19/01/2023 n/a n/a n/a
Chair (until June 2023) (NED) 01/10/2022 n/a n/a n/a
Non-Executive Director 13/02/2023 n/a n/a n/a

4.1.8 Drilldown C — Staff salaries £1,319,976 (Broken down by FY)
In the tables below, Employee A, B etc, is the same employee in each year

Staff cost (INC BONUSES) FOR FY21/22

10% Bonus was correctly

Bonus 10% Pension accruedin th(_e P&L ac;count but
Employee A 15,461.52| 1,520.55| 1,523.43| 225.00| 18,730.50 was not physically paid to staff
Employee B 37,048.76| 3,726.03| 4,728.43] 250.00| 46,653.22 until November 2022 (i.e. some
Employee C 12,500.00| 1,191.78| 1,521.60 15,213.38 8months after year end. See
Employee D 4,076.91 394.52 460.91 4,932.34 sec“on 51 for deta"s
Employee E 73.97 73.97 Note for employee E, Bonus was
adjust. -2,960.77 -2,960.77 accrued back butsalary was not
Total 69,987.19] 6,906.85| 5,273.60] 475.00] 82,642.64

Staff cost (INC BONUSES) FOR FY22/23

_ 12.5% Bonus was correctly

Salary Bonus 12.5% Pension din the P&L t but
Employee A 30,000.00| 3,750.00{ 3,764.52| 900.00| 38,414.52 accruedin _e ac_:coun u
Employee B 99,999.96| 12,500.00| 15,446.75 127,946.71 was not physically paid to staff
Employee C 75,000.00| 9,375.00| 11,033.49| 2,062.50| 97,470.99 until May 2023 (i.e. some
Employee D 62,083.30| 7,760.41| 8,808.75| 1,412.50| 80,064.96
Employee E 91,384.60| 11,423.08| 13,549.60| 2,025.00| 118,382.28 2months after year end. See
Employee F 55,500.03 0.00| 6,993.57 " 62,493.60 section 5.1 for details
Employee G 17,930.84| 2,241.36| 2,005.05| 25524 22432.49
Employee H 35,333.36| 4,416.67| 4,785.86| 530.04| 45,065.93
Employee | 13,750.02| 1,718.75| 1,526.26| 206.28| 17,201.31
Employee J 12,500.01| 1,562.50| 1,626.83| 125.01| 15,814.35
Employee K 17,969.23| 2,246.15| 2,475.92| 539.08| 23,230.38
Employee L 10,666.64 1,262.79 M 11,929.43
adjust. 5,110.00 -0.04| -1,160.74 3,949.22
Total 527,227.99| 56,993.88] 72,118.65| 8,055.65| 664,396.17

70



Staff cost (INC BONUSES

FOR FY23/24

Termination Pension
Employee A 21,048.26 2,172.45 631.50| 23,852.21
Employee B 49,999.98| 25,000.00 6,586.20 81,586.18
Employee C 45,937.50 5,607.15| 1,378.15| 52,922.80
Employee D 39,812.49 4,761.90| 1,194.40 45,768.79
Employee E 55,125.00 6,875.05| 1,653.75| 63,653.80
Employee F 0.00
Employee G 18,144.24 1,771.69 544.33| 20,460.26
Employee H 30,226.87 3,439.10| 906.82| 34,572.79
Employee | 19,140.06 1,909.10 574.24| 21,623.40
Employee J 33,401.40 3,877.15| 1,002.06| 38,280.61
Employee K 47,028.77 5,757.75| 1,410.90| 54,197.42
Employee L 0.00
Employee M 28,437.50 3,401.35 31,838.85
Employee N 14,933.21 1,433.13 160.00| 16,526.34
Employee O 11,528.79 1,067.95 127.79| 12,724.53
Employee P 33,749.96 3,925.30 650.00| 38,325.26
Employee Q 8,000.00 685.60 8,685.60
Employee R 22,615.08 2,493.28| 337.50| 25,445.86
adjust. 1,100.01 1,372.11 2,472.12
Total 480,229.12| 25,000.00| 57,136.26/10,571.44| 572,936.82

Termination
agreement was
agreed by the FPL
COO and was
payment in lieu of
notice. The
individual was not
required to work their
contractual notice
period.

Note no bonus
payments were paid
in 23/24.

4.1.9 Drilldown D — Sub-contractor costs £707,897

Sub-contractors was the P&L account term for staff who were not permanent
employees of the company paid through payroll and included interim staff.

Note the MD and COO were interim staff before becoming salaried employees ofthe company on
permanentcontracts. See section 3.1 for more details.

Also note that bonus payments were not paid to sub -contractors and for any interim staff who became

permanent, bonus payments were only paid from the date they became permanent.

Comensura
Recharge
21/22 22123 23/24 Total
Employee 1 85,963.40 | 151,871.47 | 57,738.93 | 295,573.80
Employee 2 30,394.44 33,349.35 63,743.79
Employee 3 44 505.70 44 505.70
Employee 4 (COO) 104,216.92 104,216.92
Employee 5 (MD) 19,610.40 19,610.40
Employee 6 84,846.13 84,846.13
Employee 7 * 21,000.00 74,400.00 95,400.00
390,536.99 | 259,620.82 | 57,738.93 | 707,896.74
Employee 7 was via Heads Resourcing not
Comensura

Page 61 of 100

71




4.1.10 Drilldown E — Rent £71,550

FPL occupied premises at Office 2, Bourne Park, Exeter Rd Bournemouth and paid
Hinton Road Investments Ltd £71,550. Section 5.5 of this report considers the

matter of rent payments in more detail.

4.1.11 Drilldown F — Advertising and marketing £267,554

*ARG4 Grant of £100,000 used to fund this cost

Supplier Description £
Mark Bloom Design FPL Website - Webfront 120.00
SkyCab Itd 576.00
Make (LK) Ltd Launch Stand and banner design 227000
Make (LK) Ltd Urban Regeneration Company Branding 35,003.00
Bournemouth Creative Print  Exhibition Kit and Buesiness cards 1,115.00
Businee South Ltd 150.00
IMG Media Ltd Comms Strategy & Profile for Urban Regeneration 24 500.00
THQ limited Waork to Support the Big Conversation * 107,150.00
Make (LK) Ltd Business Cards for FPL 131.00
ING Media MIPIM Marketing a Communications 14,000.00
BCP Council Marketing and Comms Support 11,917.26

Bournemouth Creative Print  Business Cards and A5 posters 37z2.00
Creative Communicators Ltd Marketing Strategy Support 3,800.00
Deep South Media Ltd Cross cutting PR and comms svs " 5, 760.00
1HQ Lid Conversation summary document - redraft with branding 4.800.00
ING Media MIPIM Marketing a Communications 10,000.00
DRA Media Manangement PR & Comms supportJan Feb March23 6,000.00
BCP Council Mame Badge printing for Wessex Fields workshop 43.00
BCP Council Marketing and Comms Support 25 167.08

Total 22/123 55,942.08
DRA Media Manangement PR & Comms support April to August 23 2,000.00
Green Tambourine Ltd Web Design Day - Website redesign and update content 5,680.00

Total Marketing and Communications costs

Total 21/22 196,932.26

Total 23124 14,680.00

267,554.34

4.1.12 Drilldown G — Leqgal Fees £96,728

| have not sought to put description of work done on all transactions (materiality)

LegalFees

2122 £
Bewvan Brittan LLP 5,095.90
Castletown Law 7,445.00
3.00
3.00
3.00
6.00
6.00
10,000.00 Commercial review of Stewardship Model for the URC
10,125.00 Commercial review of Stewardzhip Model for the URC
15 895.00 Stewardship Model Review
52 685.90

Knight Frank
Knight Frank
Castletown Law

22123

Land mark Chambers  2.100.00 OC advice on PWLE funding

23124

LACEY'S SOLICITORS 400.00

PINSENT MASONS LL 12.530.50 Advice ta FPL Directars on closure of company

PINSENT MASONMS LL 28.650.00 Advice to FPL Directars on clasure of campany
41,340.50

Tatal 96, 727.40

| am unclear what the commercial review
of Stewardship model by Knight Frank was
seeking to achieve. According to the
website below, the MD and a partner at
Knight Frank are co-founders of the
Stewardship Initiative. Stewardship
Initiative

In any case, it would appear Knight Frank
were not giving legal advice, they are not a
legal firm, and therefore this expenditure
may have been misclassified in the P&L.

For Pinsent Mason fees see 5.6

Note rounding difference on P&L

Page 62 of 100

72



https://www.stewardship-initiative.com/about
https://www.stewardship-initiative.com/about

4.1.13 Drilldown H — Consultant £76,852

These costs were, with the exception of £670.82, paid to Smart Growth Associates
which is operated by the individual who became the FPL MD. Section 3.1.15 of this
report has covered some detail in this matter. The three invoice snips below, with
private information redacted, show more detail and aggregate to £76,181.17.

To: BCP Council
Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council Town Halt Fo: BCP Council
BOURNEMOUTH Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council Town Hall
Dorsec BH2 6DY BOURMEMOUTH
Date: 8" July. 2021 Daorser BHZ 607
Contact I P incip Date: 26 August, 2021
Supplier Number: 132474
TO Purchase Order: BCPI71752 Contact: I Frincipal
Invoice Number: BCP - 01.6:21
In Re: Swrategic Rogeneration Consultancy - BCP Councd supplier Number: 132474
IO Purchase Order: BCP1765996
Rate: Fixed price contract - £18,000
Scope of work: Strategic Advice - regeneration policy and development of Invoice Number: BCP - 02-8-21
the URC
In Rz Stravegic Regeneration Consubtancy - BCP Council
Expenses: Return Ticket  London Waterloo ~ Poole £70.45
Return Ticket  Bournemoth to Poole 15621 (480
Return Ticket: Norwich — Londea 2876721 £59.80 Rate: Consultancy Work 50 ul, 2021- 3 Seprember, 2021
Return Tiicket:  London — Poole 2916721 €12800 (44 days) at a rate of £900 per day
Return Ticket:  XChureh-Posle £6.40
Accomenodation: Royal Bath Hotel, BMouwth
195021 £146.00
;B‘?;:"‘”““’“ Antslope.Hatek Paole 122,00 Scope of work: INTERIM MD Role URC
Taxx Poole Civic Centre ~ Xchurch CC
el £27.00 Expenses: Inclusive within fee, Accommedation, Travel, Car Parking
Hotel du Vin 306721 L1672
Total: £39,600
Total: €18,581.17
To: BCP Counail
Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council Town Hall
BOURNEMOUTH
Dorset BH2 6DY
Date: 26 October, 2021
Contact: _ Principal
Supplier Number: 132474
TO Purchase Order: BCP176996
Invoice Number: BCP -~ 03 10-21

In Re:

Rate:

Scope of work:

Total:

Strategic Regeneration Consultancy - BCP Council

Consultancy Work 4% Sep , 2021 - I» October,
2021
(20 days) at a rate of £900 per day

INTERIM MD Role URC

Inclusive withan fee, Accommodation, Travel, Car Parking

£18,000.00

Page 63 of 100

73




4.1.14 Drilldown | — Management fees -BCP Council services to FPL £319,061 (rounding diff)

3305 Management fees 2021/22 2022123 2023124 Total
Accountancy Services 17,201.00 14 25752 2571227 5717079
Director & Secretarial Services 25 969.00 2867756 0.00 54 64656
Procurement Services 1744500 1926451 2099061 5770012
HR & Payroll Services 345616 0.00 000 345616
Audit services 0.00 934027 0.00 934027
ICT Services 15,603.00 1723039 1877423 5160762
Insurance & Risk Management Services 223000 246260 268324 737584
Banking 4 168.00 0.00 000 416800
Legal & Democratic Services 0.00 000 3124706 31,247.06
Facilities Management Recharges 0.00 000 42347080 4234708
Total 86,072.16 91,232.85 141,754.50 319,059.51

BCP Council Invoice Totals  83,585.00 92 302.91 14292044 318,808.35
Difference 248716 -1070.06 -1,165.94 251.16

| have identified that the breakdown of costs by BCP Council Service type in the FPL P&L
account does not equal the breakdown of the BCP Council service type on the invoices
physically paid by FPL as per their bank statement payment, total differences shown in
the table above.

Example shown below for the 2022/23 financial year where the P&L figure is shown as
£91,233 but the invoice presented and paid, confirmed by the bank statement payment
on 31/3/23 was £92302.91+vat = £110,763.49:

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council
Revenues and Benefits, PO Box 722, Poole, BH15 2YE
Payment Line 01202 672932 (Seiect Option 5)
Enquiries 01202 123113
E-mail income@bcpcouncil.gov.uk
Invoice Number: 13052647
B ¢ P futureplaces Ltd Please quote inveice number when making payment
B avepue Invoice Date/Tax Paint 28.03.2023
BH2 6DY
Due Date of Invoice: 28.03.2023
VAT Registration No: GB 313 0880 34
Special Instructions
RESOURCE AGREEMENT CHARGES
Description Amount (£) VAT % VAT Amount (£)
IT SERVICES PROVIDED 12893.81 20.00 2578.76
LEGAL COMPANY SECRETARY SERVICES 27165.78 20.00 5433.16
FINANCE SERVICES PROVIDED 19857.52 20.00 3971.50
SYSTEM SERVICES PROVIDED 4336.58 20.00 867.32
PROCUREMENT SERVICES PROVIDED 16503.76 20.00 3300.75
CREDITORS SERVICES PROVIDED 2760.75 20.00 552.15
INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICES PROVIDED 3740.27 20.00 748.05
BUSINESS CONTINUITY SERVICES 1511.78 20.00 302.36
INSURANCE SERVICES PROVIDED 1041.36 20.00 208.27
RISK MANAGEMENT SERVICES PROVIDED 1421.24 20.00 284.25
HEALTH AND SAFETY SERVICES PROVIDED 1070.06 20.00 214.01
Total Amount: £ 92302.91 Total VAT: £18460.58 Invoice Total: £ 110763.49
TOTAL NOW DUE: £ 110763.49

Page 64 of 100

74



4.1.15 Drilldown J — FPL Sales to BCP Council (Turnover for FPL)
The detailed P&L account shown at Appendix 4.1.4 shows drilldown figure J, whichis
£4,728,751 as the Sales figure — The sales figure FPL received from BCP Council

FPL Sales Invoices to BCP Council 21722 22123 23124
Revenue Funded Svs 1,354,806.00

Canstitution Hill OBC 41,670.00 33,862.25

Strategic Car Parks Review LTP 23/24 36.000.00

Beach Rd OBC £69,088.29

Chapel Lane OBC 30,975.00 44.218.71

Christchurch CC OBC 170,163.60

Poole CC OBC 156,461.97

DLUCH Grant design 100,000.00

Final 2,691,704.99

1,354,806.00 72,645.00 3,301,299.81 4,728,750.81

Shaded figures are for Outline Business Cases see 4.4

The final invoice for £2,691,704.99 above, was subject to the ‘Principles to be applied
to the financial closure of BCP Futureplaces Ltd’ (Appendix 3) which was agreed by
Cabinet on 27 September 2023. View link

The following financial schedule was produced which summarises the work in
progress that FPL had incurred and which BCP Council agreed to pay for, following a
subject matter expert (SME) review by Council staff:

BCP

Council

Appendix B

Value of work FP Valu_e agreed by _Reduce by
Project propose Sl i iz Revised base figure X1.8

transferrin Experts (Category | previously paid .

9 1) (21/22)

BIC/Winter Gardens £198.747.39 £158,073.57 £65,000.00 £93,073.57 £167,532.43
BIC Westover £38,004.07 £36,937.40 £0.00 £36,937.40 £66,487.32
Boscombe £423,038.71 £314,371.21 £35,776.50 £278,594.71 £501,470.48
Carters Quay £11,792.50 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
gg;"‘er Power Station Holes £505,563.07 £411,053.48 £65212.18 £345,841.30 £622,514.34
C.h”fmh“mh Two £45419.55 £18,785.49 £14,050.00 £4,735.49 £8,523.88
Poole Marina £220,811.37 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
Poole Quay & Promenade £328,100.82 £240,751.01 £8,000.00 £232,751.01 £418,951.82
Poole Town North £280,506.44 £193,242.50 £0.00 £193,242.50 £347,836.50
Wessex Fields £266,488.00 £168,323.00 £0.00 £168,323.00 £302,981.40
Lansdowne Design Code & £198,396.90 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
Masterplan
Thematic £302,143.73 £171,892.68 £30,000.00 £141,892.68 £255,406.82
Total £2,819,021.55 £1,713,430.34 £218,038.68 £1,495391.66 | £2,691,704.99

The SME process to get to the summary financial position above is shown below:

Page 65 of 100

75


https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5361&Ver=4

Subject Matter Experts (SMEs) across the council (including colleagues from Planning,
Housing, Estates, Commercial Operations and Regeneration, amongst others) were asked
to review this documentation for projects within, or linked to their area of work, applying the
eligibility criteria set out, and confirming whether the council should agree to purchase the
work. The SMEs were asked to complete details on a project-by-project spreadsheet
against each piece of work including confirmation of the rationale for purchase in line with
existing council objectives.

As FuturePlaces was created under the Teckal exemption the company has been required
to comply with the Council's Financial Regulations. Therefore, the Council can place
confidence in the value of third-party costs due to FuturePlaces adhering to the same
procurement processes and PCR2015 regulations.

The September Cabinet Report, setting out the options for the future of FuturePlaces,
included an estimated range between £0.57m to £4.04m for the work to be transferred to the
Council.

Outcome of SME Review
Work presented by EuturePlaces was classified into three categories as follows:

1. There is a tangible output of clear value to BCP that supports an ongoing project
such as feasibility studies or technical reports or is in line with existing Council
objectives and priorities such as assisting with policy setting (for example providing
evidence in support of the draft Local Plan).

2. There is no clear value or use to BCP as there is no project at this time and the work
cannot be used in support of policy setting or other council priority.

3. There is no clear evidence, value, or use as there is no tangible output to consider.

Following the review, additional work by the finance team has been conducted to validate
payments which have already been made under the previous revenue funding model and
payments from financial year 2021/22 have been excluded.

The value for work in category 1 above has been calculated at £1,713,430.34, category
2 at £220.811.37. and the value for work in cateqory 3 at £884,799.84.

A multiplier of 1.8 (based on the standard ratio of external to internal costs experienced by
the company as per the agreed principles set out in Appendix A) has been applied to third-
party external spend on an open book basis for those elements in category 1 and a
breakdown has been included at Appendix B on a project-by-project basis.

The value of Category 1 (£1,713,430.34) less previous payments (£218,038.68) is
£1,495,391.66 multiplied by 1.8 = £2,691,704.99.

Funding sources (both revenue and in some cases capital) shall now need to be confirmed
for those elements not previously purchased.

Where the review identified studies that the Council will wish to rely on for ongoing projects,
letters of reliance will be sent to suppliers - either to enable the Council to rely on the
contents, or for third party reliance where the Council intends to dispose of a site. Thereis a
risk of additional cost where some suppliers may not want to extend reliance to the Council
or third parties. This work will continue as required, supported by the legal team.

End of 4.1

Page 66 of 100

76



4.2 Review the commissioning, procurement, and contract management processes for any
outsourced work.

4.2.1 The FPL P&L account shows that outsourced cost of sales was £3,146,410, the breakdown
of this figure was considered at 4.1.6.

4.2.2 It was also stated at 4.1.6 that £1,257,517 of the outsourced cost of sales was
commissioned and procured via Bloom Frameworks. Bloom Framework

4.2.3 The use of Bloom Frameworks was a compliant (with Public Contract Regulations) way of
accessing professional services, either via a mini-competition or direct award from within the
framework supplier list. The strategic approach was agreed by the Board on 16/12/21:

Our Frameworks

Our procurement frameworks offer the public sector a rapid, compliant, and cost-
effective route to market for professional services.

COCH National Framework

Available to any organisation in the UK's public Through this versatile framework, we support
sector, NEPRO? is a rapid and fully compliant the public sector in compliantly delivering
route to market for professional services - their tender requirements when they
covering 20 comprehensive categories of experience capacity and resource challenges.
spend.

4.2.4 There is a cost of using Bloom Frameworks, typically adding approximately 5% to 10% to the
cost of each procurement, when compared to the cost/ rates if the procuring entity
approaches the market directly. (obtaining quotes or tendering process). The procuring
entity is therefore effectively deciding whether the 5% to 10% Bloom overhead offers better
value for money than the cost it would incur obtaining quoted and or undertaking a tender
process for itself.

4.2.5 The Bloom Frameworks overhead, covers their costs of creating the framework, doing due
diligence on each supplier in the framework and for providing a managed payment service.

4.2.6 Bloom Frameworks are not static and new suppliers can be ‘on-boarded’ by Bloom at
anytime subject to the new supplier providing certain due diligence documentation and
acceptance of terms and conditions.

4.2.7 | believe FPL had a procurement model in place where ‘preferred suppliers’ were
encouraged to join the Bloom Frameworks, to then allow FPL a pragmatic and rapid route to
a professional service provider (for example - architectural, planning, placemaking service
provider) via a mini-competition or direct award. Direct award seems to have been the
preferred FPL choice, if the Framework allowed this.

Page 67 of 100

77


https://bloom.services/framework

4.2.8 Procurement matters were reviewed by the FPL Board at each meeting, Procurement being
a standard agenda heading. An example of information seen and discussed by the Board is
shown below, snipped from Board minutes:

Procurement

« Project Inception, Client and Design Advisory framework currently out to market.
Returns due back on the 25™ Jantary with over 130 expressions of interest.

e Architectural Services Framework — made up of two lots (one local, and one
nationwide) due to be published to market in the next two weeks. To create a panel of
suppliers both locally and nationally we can directly award or “mini comp”

e Procurement policy and procedure final draft to be circulated by the end of January

* Procurement options analysis completed for PCC/CCC to be reviewed next week
(prior to getting legal advice)

« Consultancy requirements for the priorilg projects currently being packaged and
prepared for procurement ready for OBC approvals

« BCP SPT have agreed to provide FuturePlaces with access to their procurement
portal and templates to run every aspect of our procurements, rather than having them
managed by BCP SPT.

* Awaiting access and training.

Procurement

Boscombe NM Extension Feb Alvy Projects End of January £11,000

Boscombe Pedestrian Zone Reversal Feasibility Study Civic Engineers TBC, brief to be approved prior to sending to consultant TBC- budget £25,000
Cross Cutting Architectural Services Framework TBC To be published beginning of February, due to be in place by ~ TBC
end of May 2023 (subject to evaluation/award)
Cross Cutting Project Inception, Client and Design Advisory TBC Due to be in place by 1* March 2023 (subject to £1.3M (estimated total
Services - Framework evaluation/award) framework value)
Cross Cutting Professional Services TBC TBC TBC
Cross Cutting Further Parking Considerations Parking Matters TBC TBC
Cross Cutting MIPIM PR ING Media wic 23 January 2023 £10,000
Holes Bay Phase 1a New Park Landscaping Design TBC TBC TBC- budget £25,000
Holes Bay Phase 1b Hamworthy Urban Village - Reference  Tony Fretton Architects  wic 23" January 2023 £25,000
Master Plan and Capacity Study
Lansdowne Public Realm Alan Baxter wic 23 January 2023 — awaiting brief approval £14,000
Lansdowne Lansdowne Landscape Design Brief The Landmark Practice wic 23" January 2023 — awaiting brief approval £17,355
Lansdowne Retail Analysis - Wessex, Westover Rd, Forty Group? TBC TBC
Wessex Fields Lansdowne

Westover Road

Poole Old Town & Quay Design Codes - project management Stace LLP wic 23 January 2023 — awaiting Bloom process confirmation  TBC- budget £35,000
Lansdowne
Poole Old Town & Quays Characterisation Study (Design code project) TBC TBC
Poole Station Quarter Poole Station Quarter - Technical Brief Arup Awaiting proposal, estimated completed February 2023 TBC — budget £37,000
Port of Poole - Marina Strategic Design - Poole Quay, Dolphin Quay & LDA Proposal due by 27" January 2023, completion dependent TBC- budget £25,000
East End upon proposal received
Port of Poole - Marina New Marina - Bird Surveys Ramboll TBC- awaiting proposal from Ramboll, following Marina meting £30.610
191
Port of Poole - Marina New Marina - Enviro Consultancy - stage 2 Ramboll TBC- awalting proposal from Ramboll, following Marina meting  TBC
191
Strategic Annual Report 2023 FuturePlaces Studio wic 23 January 2023 - awaiting Bloom process confirmation  £13,500
Various JD Extension Feb & March Dixon Architects End of January £24,000

4.2.9 FPL employed their own Procurement manager (an interim and then a different permanent
manager), | have seen evidence that the relationship with the Council’s Strategic Procurement
Team was initially somewhat adversarial. The absence of the intended Resource Agreement
between the Council and FPL detailing what the Council would provide and what it would not,
and including roles and responsibilities almost certainly created this tension to a degree.

4.2.10 FPL Board considered a draft FPL Procurement Policy and Procedure on 9/3/23 but the
agreed minutes do not indicate if this Policy and Procedure was agreed.

End of 4.2

Page 68 of 100

78



4.3 Detail where possible the projects this (expenditure) was spent supporting.
4.3.1 This information is theoretically available but is not in a readily accessible form and will
require a significant amount of time to complete fully and accurately. A&G committee is

asked to re-assess whether this information is essential given information at 4.1.15 in
this report which may be a part-proxy in answering this question.

End of 4.3

Page 69 of 100

79



4.4 Detail which projects produced Initial and Full Business Cases.

4.4.1 Five projects produced Outline Business Cases (OBC). No Full Business Cases (FBC)
were produced.

4.4.2 The Five projects where OBC where produced were:
Constitution Hill

Beach road Car Park

Chapel Lane Car Park

Christchurch Civic Centre

Poole Civic Centre

4.4.3 The summary below shows OBC sums shaded. All these sums were approved by Cabinet.
The schedule also shows, for the avoidance of doubt, other work purchased by the Council
(i.e. work paid for that was not for completed OBC’s).

FPL Sales Invoices to BCP Couneil 21122 22123 23724
Revenue Funded Svs 1,354 BOG .00

Constitution Hill OBC 41, 670.00 33,662 .25

Strategic Car Parks Review LTP 23/24 36,000.00

Beach Rd OBC #0088 29

Chapel Lane OBC 30,975.00 44 218 M1

Christchurch CC OBC 170,163.60

Poole CC OBC 156,461.97

DLUCH Grant design 100,000.00

Final 2 691,704 .99

1,354 B0G.00 72 64500 3,301,299 &1 4 728 75081

4.4.4 Note for the second payment against Chapel Lane, £44,218.71, | canfind no approval from
Cabinet to make the payment. The invoice from FPL (000042) states: Chapel Lane OBC
costs (additional).

End of 4.4

Page 70 of 100

80



4.5 Was any expenditure or activity incurred by BCP FuturePlaces Ltd outside the stated
company’s terms of reference (initial or as amended).

4.5.1 The issues of so called project scope ‘creep’ and commissioning plan ‘creep’ have been
considered elsewhere in this report, mainly in section 3. This 4.5 question has been
interpreted as being whether FPL, or FPL employees, became involved in matters that
were not matters for a URC:

‘FPL was set up with the fundamental purpose to drive “Place making”, regeneration and
property market transformation both across key sites owned by the Council and the wider
area to support the aspirations set out in the Council’s Big Plan’.

4.5.2 The wording above particularly the wording ‘to support the aspirations set out in the
Council's Big Plan’ can be interpreted in a broad sense. Former Leader of the Council,
Drew Mellor, stated openly and in his resignation speech that he wanted to be innovative
and challenge treasury orthodoxy during his tenure (because the Local Government
funding and financing system was broken).

4.5.3 During the proposed Beach Hut stock sale, to a special purpose vehicle funding episode in
mid to late financial year 22/23, (where the Council sough to generate a capital receipt by
selling the Council's beach huts stock to a wholly owned Council special purpose vehicle)
the FPL COO was involved, with the Leader and Council officers, in at least one meeting
with KPMG* in their London office to discuss the proposal.

*Consultants advising the Council
4.5.4 It may be argued that the FPL COQ'’s attendance was in the wider context of understanding
special purpose vehicles for possible application in a FPL project or scheme in the future.

That said, it was also clear however that the funding and financing structure of future
projects (FPL or other) was (and is) entirely a matter for the Council to approve.

End of 4.5

Page 71 of 100

81



4.6 Was there a deliverable plan for BCP FuturePlaces Ltd to repay the working capital loan.

4.6.1 The backstop for repayment of the working capital loan was 31 March 2027. This date was

clearly stated in the loan agreement dated 9/8/2022.

This was an amended loan agreementtaking into accountthe £8M working capital loan agreed by (full) Council
on 12/7/2022.

Although there was an initial working capital loan agreementsetup for £400,000, in line with other BCP Council
companies precedent, the amended agreementincreased the total loan facility to £8M and not £8.4M.

4.6.2 FPL had some cashflow modelling which assumed that the working capital loan would peak
at about £5.3M to £6M and would be repaid by the end of 25/26 financial year. (para 48 in
report to Council 12/7/22 approving the £8M loan facility).

4.6.3 In the Cabinet (Council) reports which led to the approval of the £8M working capital loan
(Capitalisation point) model, the financial risk were highlighted. View link

Paragraph 18 - 25 outline the charging mechanism and paragraph 25 is key in terms of
implications on the loan repayment:

~

25. Under this proposed charging model, as long as at least two thirds of the projects
by value are approved by the Council at the point of their capitalisation, in theory
FuturePlaces would secure enough funding to pay for any remaining projects that
were aborted.

26. It should be noted that projects may be aborted, or not accepted, for a range of
reasons. The critical point is that the decision to proceed with a project is a
decision solely for the Council. Therefore, FuturePlaces will need to fund the cost
of any work on these projects from the contribution to its reserves generated from
the successful projects for which fees are received.

4.6.4 The actual full loan drawdown and repayment schedule is shown below:

Working Capital Loan summary
2022 2223 23124
Bank
Ledger -
:aeileement posting date Description £000 £'000 £'000
Advance of the working capital loan fadility
being place to ensure Direct Debit pay ment
261172021 | 310372022 can be made fromFuture Places new bark 5 £AD0K
account. Working
Transfer £10k as advance of the £400k Capital
0305/2022 | 0305/2022 \working capital loan 10 Lcan
17052022 | 1710512022 Transfer £385k as advance of the £400k 85

working capital loan

Trarsfer as extension of the working capital

100872022 | 100872022 | P 800
27/10/2022 | 28M10/2022 |Working capital loan fadility 850 ﬁg&?ﬁgﬂ
02/02/2022 |_02/02/2022 |Workirg capital loan fadlity 1,450 Copia
21/04/2023 | 21/04/2023 |Working capital loan facility 50| A0
02/06/2022 | 02/06/2023 |Working capital loan fadlity 7sol
27/03/2024 | 28/03/2024 |Repavment from Fuue Places 2 350
n'a 30352024 |Write off loan -2 400
Total per annum 5| 3405 3,500
Cunulative amount reported 5| 3,500 0

The loan peaked at 2/6/2023 when the amount drawdown totalled £4 7500
FPL repaid £2.350M on 27/3/2024 which resulted in the Council having to write off £2 4M

End of 4.6

Page 72 of 100

82


https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=5011&Ver=4

Scope ltems 5 to 8 to follow in Final Report — insert here

‘ C. Recommendations

To be completed for final version of this report.

Page 73 of 100

83



‘ D. Scopesub-questions appendix

SUB-QUESTIONS
A scope should cover the extent of the area or subject matter which is relevant, in this case
to the investigation.

During the scoping deliberations a number of councillors and individuals sent the
investigator a series of sub-questions and it was reported and agreed (at the A&G meeting
on 29 May 2025) that these sub-questions would be answered (wherever possible) in the
relevant scope area of the report.

The sub-questions are shown below as presented to the investigator (unaltered) in red text.

Sub-questions may appear similar, this indicates that more than one individual sent in the
similar question. They are shown as supplied to ensure complete transparency.

Some of the sub-questions contain the personal views or facts as understood by the

individual. Consequently, the investigator and BCP Council takes no responsibility as to the
accuracy of these views, they are shown as supplied to ensure complete transparency.

The list of sub-questions is as follows (under relevant scope numbering).

1. Timeline and key decisions

1.1 Produce the timeline of key decisions in respect of BCP Future Places Ltd (As per
MO report to A&G Committee 20/3/25)

1.2 Find and restate the motivations and considerations behind the decision to create a
URC and the environment for decision-making in which it was created.

e What political motivations or pressures were there? No other representatives from
other political parties were on the board of directors — what was the rationale for this?

e Whatdecision records are there? Were these made public?

e Motivations for setting up a URC. Carter's Quay may have been a catalyst in
FuturePlaces' formation. Thanks to another resident's FOI, we now know that the first
meeting of the "asset investment panel” to discuss Carter's Quay took place on
14.4.21, just as the administration was weighing up the best options for regeneration
delivery. More revealingly perhaps, correspondence between Inland Homes and
BCP's planning department suddenly burst into life on 12.6.21 (after two and a half
years of complete silence), just as DM, PB and GF were putting FuturePlaces
together (the company was incorporated six days later). We also know that Carter's
Quay was one of FP's first projects (source: Cabinet papers, 1.9.21).

All planning correspondence for Carter's Quay (Phases 4-6) is online under planning
ref APP/17/01043/F.

2. Decision to create BCP FuturePlaces Ltd - Cabinet 26 May 2021

2.1 Review the authority of Cabinet to establish an Urban Regeneration Company was in
line with the council’s constitution and did the report set out the risks, rewards, pros,
cons and equalities impact?

2.2 Review the approval of the final business case by the Chief Executive and the

Page 74 of 100

84



inclusion of the information as requested by Cabinet — who produced the information?

e Was the impact on areas of poverty deprivation/high need or specific communities or
their needs considered at all?

e Who wrote/supported the original Programme Initiation Document and Business
Plan? Who managed this process prior to it being presented to cabinet? What
consultation was undertaken with officers, what was their initial feedback, what edits
were made and by whom prior to the presentation of the final business case? Was
there any political pressure applied and by whom during this process?

e Considering the level of investment of public funds — were there any equalities
impact assessments undertaken? Can these be provided? Who was involved in
making these assessments? Are they still employed by the council?

3. Establishment and operation of BCP Future Places Ltd.

3.1 ldentify the process for the appointment of the company’s Executive and Non Executive
Directors and other staff (was an appropriate open and transparent process followed)

e outline the processes and explain why there were there two different processes.

e Previous experience and expertise of the officers appointed as ‘world beating place
making experts’ — what was the evidence for this? Their track record? Due diligence
on the candidates for example who gave references? Where were the roles
advertised? Recruitment agency involvement and costs? What was the rationale for
the processes that were chosen and the costs?

e Wereinterests declared by officers/councillors of previous business relationships and
family connections? Was a record kept of this?

e Whywas only one applicant interviewed for the managing director role of
FuturePlaces?

e Whywere the roles of COO and corporate engagement officer only advertised for
such a brief period of time, i.e. seven days, and only on the BCP Council website?

e How did this satisfy the claims that FuturePlaces would be ‘world-beating’, and how
did it demonstrate that the Council was fulfilling its ‘best value duty’?

e Why Was_ recruited as managing director when she’'d never run a
company of similar size before (and had, in fact, only been a director of one company
previously — and that very recently)?

e Was there a ‘matey’ relationship between Drew Mellor and |G =s stated
in Private Eye?

° Whywas_r not appointed a director of the company even though his job
title was ‘corporate engagement director'? Was this to bypass the declarations of
interest clause in the articles of association?

e Process for appointing staff, including executive & non-executive directors. Via FOI,
an email to Graham Farrant has come to light dated 14.6.21 which suggests that
Drew Mellor offered the managing director post to the sole candidate before the
company was even incorporated. Officers (including GF) therefore embarked on
what looks like a predetermined appointment process to make her engagement look
justifiable, or, in the words of one officer, "make it safe for scrutiny":
https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/general decision making process/respon
5e/3018958/attach/7/FW %20URC%20MD%20Redacted.pdf?cookie passthrough=1
Graham Farrant himself was to sign off Stages 1 and 2 of this process. The full FOI
is here -
https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/general decision making process#incom

ing-3018958

Page 75 of 100

85


https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/general_decision_making_process/response/3018958/attach/7/FW%20URC%20MD%20Redacted.pdf?cookie_passthrough=1
https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/general_decision_making_process/response/3018958/attach/7/FW%20URC%20MD%20Redacted.pdf?cookie_passthrough=1
https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/general_decision_making_process#incoming-3018958
https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/general_decision_making_process#incoming-3018958

and doubtless you will want to study the entire unredacted correspondence and any
other relevant contemporaneous material.

The appointments 0 nd others (all in place by the
beginning of 2022) were certainly streamlined, compared with the year-long search
for non-executive directors, which involved the use of a recruitment agency as well
as reaching out via The Guardian, Linkedln, Women On Boards, The NED
Exchange, nonexecutivedirectors.com and personal networks.

3.2 Consider the adequacy of the governance arrangements put in place by the Council
for the operation of BCP FuturePlaces Ltd.
e did governance agreements exist? Who monitored these and signed them off as fit
for purpose? Were they reviewed? Who provided the legal advice?

3.3 Consider the adequacy of the governance arrangements put in place by the
company executive directors for the day to day operation of BCP FuturePlaces Ltd —
e how do they compare with what is considered to be good industry practice? Were
they fit for purpose?

3.4 Consider the adequacy of business planning arrangements as applied by BCP
FuturePlaces Ltd

3.5 Consider the adequacy of the financial, performance management and reporting as
applied by BCP FuturePlaces Ltd — directors and staff, and applied to BCP FuturePlaces Ltd
by the Council, including consideration of ongoing risk and issue management.

¢ How many times in the life of FP were reports made available by FP for scrutiny to
cabinet and council? Did Audit and Governance request any such reports? How
many reports did FP produce?

e How does this number of reports compare with what they were expected to produce
under agreement with the council or at the request of councillors and officers? How
many times did the council/officers/councillors make requests for reports from FP?
How did FP respond to these requests if they were made?

¢ Include issues logs, risk management logs and a copy of the intervention strategy for
the programme — did any of these exist? What training and development was made
available to staff/delivery teams?

¢ Who was ultimately responsible for the aspects of day-to-day operations and
management — what was FP doing on a day-to-day basis? What did a typical day in
the life of FP look like?

e Adequacy of financial management as applied to FP by the Council. One
extraordinary aspectis that the company was not obliged to use its success fees
(from business cases etc) to service the £8,000,000 loan facility. This is confirmed by
the loan agreement itself (now online) and by the CFO's response at the Corporate &
Community Overview & Scrutiny Committee, 6.2.23
https://www.youtube.com/live/hi-nvuXf7Zo0?si=71RplCOXTLkayhg5&t=1h50m57s
This does seem absolutely bizarre from a governance point of view.

e Whatwas the source of the £8 million loan made available to FuturePlaces in 2022,
given there is no record of BCP Council receiving any Public Works Loan Board
monies during that year?

If this £8 million actually derived from the Council’'s £42 million PWLB borrowing in
August-November 2021, what was the justification in reassigning £8 million of that
money to FuturePlaces? (My understanding was that the 2021 borrowing was for the
Carter’s Quay development.)

Page 76 of 100

86


https://www.youtube.com/live/hi-nvuXf7Zo?si=71RplCQXTLkayhq5&t=1h50m57s

3.6 Consider the adequacy of decision-making regarding the prioritisation of projects and
the deliverability for the Business Plan as managed by BCP FuturePlaces Ltd.

What evidence base and methodology was used for making these decisions?
What flood risk assessments were completed?

4. Detail the expenditure incurred by BCP FuturePlaces Ltd

4.1 Provide details of where the money went / what expenditure did BCP FuturePlaces
Ltd incur. (a schedule)

To include details about the £8m loan — confirmation of via copy of the loan
agreement, evidence of where it came from, the decision-making process and
rationale/evidence of the need to borrow £8m and the plan in place to repay it.

Were there any breaches of the council’s Financial Framework? Did anyone raise
any concerns? Were payments going through ‘on the nod’ - apparently this was
stated by IO’D on p.91 of the A&G report January 20247?

Where the money went / what expenditure was incurred. Worth noting that the
company obtained public money from sources other than BCP Council, e.g. the ARG
process (namely £100,000, which it obtained at the behest of the "BCP CITY
PANEL" - whatever that was - in November 2021; BCP Council had voted to apply
for city status for Bournemouth on 9.11.21). This FOI refers:
https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/contracts and procurement waiver#nco
ming-3026590

(See document entitled "W00684 City Identity The Big Conversation")

It appears that this money went straight to a private company, 1HQ Limited, for a
study on "city identity". Looks very dodgy as local authorities were not meant to
benefit from ARG applications.

4.2 Review the commissioning, procurement, and contract management processes for
any outsourced work

explain the decision-making process about the outsourced work.

Where did this restin terms of accountability, quality assurance and intellectual
property —who owned the product/outcome of the outsourced work? Who owns it
now?

As a TECKAL company — what percentage of work was completed by the main
share holder? Were there any breaches to the procurement legislation? Did FP Ltd
stay within the correct percentages? Did FP undertake any work outside of it's scope
as a TECKAL company? If so, who authorised this and what was the nature of this?

4.3 Detail where possible the projects this was spent supporting

if this is not possible identify the gaps and investigate these — ensure no misuse of
funds or fraud.

4.4 Detail which projects produced Initial and Full Business Cases

set out the criteria of the business cases? Did it match up with BCP Council
requirements/recognised industry practice e.g. Prince 2 principles? Where did the
Business Cases go for approval? Who worked on each of them? Which interests (if
any) were involved with each of them? Were any conflicts of interest identified and
declared? How much did each business case costto produce? What benefits did
they produce to BCP residents? Was value for money realised?

4.5 Was any expenditure or activity incurred by BCP FuturePlaces Ltd outside the stated
company’s terms of reference (initial or as amended)
4.6 Was there a deliverable plan for BCP FuturePlaces Ltd to repay the working capital

Loan?

Page 77 of 100

87


https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/contracts_and_procurement_waiver#incoming-3026590
https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/contracts_and_procurement_waiver#incoming-3026590

Why was the company allowed to choose whether it used its ‘success fees’ to
service the £8 million loan — surely that should have been a condition of any success
fees paid to the company?

5. Items requiring specific assurance
5.1 Staff bonuses - What was the justification for payment — who approved the payment
was this in line with the shareholder agreement?

Provide a breakdown of the bonuses — who received what and why?

What was the basis of the 10% bonus paid to FuturePlaces staff for the 2021-2
financial year, given that no outline business cases had been completed (indeed, the
work was already delayed or overdue)?

What was the basis of the 12.5% bonus paid to FuturePlaces staff for the 2022-3
financial year?

Why were these payments not referred to full Council in line with Schedule 3 (reserved
matter no 40) to the shareholder’s agreement?

Who did approve these payments?

Who was on the ‘remuneration committee’ set up in 2023 and what role did they play,
in particular in the awarding of the 2022-3 bonuses? Who was on this committee, what
was its terms of reference, and do any of its minutes survive?

How did these payments illustrate that the company was providing value for money,
given that FuturePlaces staff were already being paid way over Council rates, and
given that Council staff don’t receive bonuses?

Were these bonus payments a permissible use of the PWLB monies which were then
funding the company, and in line with the CIPFA guidance on use of PWLB monies at
the time?

Bonuses: the May 2023 bonuses (totalling £93,683) were paid when the company was
£3.336 million in the red. (Source: the company's periodic management accounts,
which have finally surfaced —

https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/bcp futureplaces Itd monthly man#inco
ming-2948681

Profit and loss accounts for Apr-May 2023, moreover, show that by the latter date the
company was budgeting for 16-20% bonus payments, which would be consistent with
the 20% bonus scheme seemingly promised to staff when Vikki Slade was inquiring
into the company in 2022

https://x.com/VikkiSlade72/status/1497606296962584581

It would be worth considering therefore whether these bonus payments were
predetermined rather than performance-based.

5.2 Were fees paid to head-hunters for their support in appointing executive directors,
non-executive directors and staff?

How much? Were personal networks used — to what extent? Independence?

5.3 Were any declarations of interests made including disclosable pecuniary interests in
respect of BCP FuturePlaces Ltd activities?

Was there a register? Include.

5.4 Were any declarations of interests made regarding personal friendships and business
associations in respect of the recruitment of staff to BCP FuturePlaces Ltd.

5.5 In respect of BCP FuturePlaces Ltd rent of offices in Exeter Road, why was council

Page 78 of 100

88


https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/bcp_futureplaces_ltd_monthly_man#incoming-2948681
https://www.whatdotheyknow.com/request/bcp_futureplaces_ltd_monthly_man#incoming-2948681
https://x.com/VikkiSlade72/status/1497606296962584581

space not utilised, and should any existing or former councillors have made any
declarations?

Was there a register of interests? Can the investigation include an examination of
emails between the landlord of FP office space and DM (leader of the council).
What exactly was their relationship when they looked at the rental agreement? Was
there any previous communications? Include these in the investigation.

Given the council’s financial pressures — applying for a government bail out — what
was the rationale for the decisions taken around renting office accommodation?
Who benefited from this decision? How much did this impact residents?

"offices in Exeter Road" (sic - actually Exeter Park Road): you will know my concerns
about this already, including the de facto landlord's attempts to get Mellor's
administration to buy St Stephen’'s Church Hall - which one of his companies would
then refit as a homeless hub - in 2021. The same de facto landlord transferred the
rent-receiving company (Hinton Road Investment Ltd) to Drew Mellor on 5.5.23,
when DM was still technically a councillor and only 3.5 months after DM had
resigned from FP as an executive director. There would be immense public interest
therefore in examining correspondence between the two men (or [l companies)
between 19.1.23 (DM's resignation from FuturePlaces) and 8.5.23 (DM ceasing to be
a councillor). DM voted to approve FuturePlaces business cases at Cabinet on
8.2.23, during that time.

Why did the FuturePlaces management not make more determined efforts to find
alternative office space when it became known, early in 2022, that Poole Civic
Centre was to be decommissioned? Why for instance were discussions kept ‘high
level’ as of January 20227

Was the option of renting Council offices — possibly for a peppercorn rent — looked
into? If not, why not?

Did Drew Mellor declare the fact that he was acquainted with _ or at
least the latter’'s company Bourne Awesome Ltd, when referring the Exeter Park
Road option to the FuturePlaces board?

Did officers, or ClIr Broadhead (then chair of FuturePlaces), declare a similar
interest?

Were any concerns raised about renting offices from a company whose director was
already making controversial finance- and property-related offers to the Council?
Did Drew Mellor pres er options for office space, and were any of these in
properties owned by Wcompanies?

Were concerns raised, at or around the time of the 18 July 2022 board meeting,
about renting office space for £54,000 a year, given that the Council had applied for
a £75.9 million government bailout three days previously and given that Kemi
Badenoch, then a minister at DLUHC, had written to Drew Mellor —in a letter seen by
Cabinet and senior officers — thirty-two days previously, indicating that the 2022
‘beach hut’ budget was sunk?

At what stage did Drew Mellor’s relationship with _ sole director of the
landlord company and sole director of the rent-receiving company, become
sufficiently close that they were considering transferring directorships to each other
and setting up companies together?

At what stage did Drew Mellor first consider or begin discussions about transferring
the sole directorship of the rent-receiving company to himself? Did he take advice
from the then-monitoring officer, Susan Zeiss, about whether this presented a
disclosable pecuniary interest?

Was the rent from FuturePlaces used to fund subsequent companies set up and run
by Drew Mellor (with or withou

Page 79 of 100

89



e Did any of _Iimited companies (and he has run over thirty) benefit

from contracts with FuturePlaces?

e Whatassurances did the Council give Dorset Police when they began investigating
the above matter in 2024; who exactly gave those assurances, and how robust were
those assurances?

5.6 Why did BCP FuturePlaces Ltd appoint solicitors to support them on the accounts
closure process?
e Did this cost £41k? how was this funded — business case? What was the legal
advice? At any point did it suggest by passing the shareholders agreement?
¢ Intellectual property —who has the intellectual property now? Was the governance
compromised in any way? Comment on the transparency.
e Keeping the reports in ‘draft’ —why?
e Whatwas considered to be ‘reasonable notice’ regarding the reporting.

5.7 Did the Board provide adequate oversight of the company and its activities, at all
Stages?

5.8 Establish whether any steering groups or advisory groups, to BCP FuturePlaces Ltd,
existed.

e What advisory/steering group(s) were there?

e Role? who was on the group, on what basis were the members chosen, frequency
of meetings, how did they take place, governance arrangements and minutes?

e Was a ‘Chatham house rules’ approach applied to their discussions? What did this
mean in practice?
Rationale?

e Was any payment made to those who took on advisory roles — how was that
decided upon and by whom? Which budget did it come from? Did the council know?
Were there any conflicts of interest? Were these recorded?

5.9 Establishthe relationships that BCP FuturePlaces Ltd had with other bodies/initiatives,
companies and council companies/delivery vehicles.

e Whatrelationships did FP have with other bodies/initiatives, companies and council
companies/delivery vehicles?

e Seascape, Bournemouth Development Company, Bayside Diner and other
seafront/marine initiatives, BH Live, Bounce Back Funding — any of the recipients of
that funding, BIDs — specific projects e.g. The Winter Gardens, student
accommodation.

e Property developers, land owners, planning consultants, construction, events
companies?

e Bournemouth University, the airport and rugby club.

e Was there a register of interests? Did councillors or offices declare any interests?

5.10 Any other specific items that may be revealed as a result of the investigation

6. Council oversight of BCP FuturePlaces Ltd

6.1 Were a shareholder’s agreement, support service agreement, commissioning
contract, working capital loan agreement, and lease/licence to occupy any council
premises put in place and agreed

6.2 Review the role of the shareholder representative on the BCP FuturePlaces Ltd
Board

Page 80 of 100

90



6.3 Was the shareholders agreement adhered to are there any examples of where it
was breeched or information not provided

e what were the consequences?

e Was the shareholder's agreement adhered to. It's probably easier to list the
breaches. To my mind the following clauses were breached: 3.1.5 and 3.3 (provision
of information); Reserved Matter 39 (referral of any bonus scheme to Council for
approval); Reserved Matter 40 (referral of any bonus payment to Council for
approval); Reserved Matter 4 (failure of ﬂppointment as company
secretary to be ratified by full Council - and from memory, there were previous
appointments likewise not endorsed).

¢ An additional question would be, what penalties were in place, or should have been
put in place, for any breaches of the shareholder's agreement.

e Whatdid the Council’s then-leader and deputy leader, its statutory officers, and its
internal audit team, do about the abovementioned governance failings, such as
breaches of the shareholder’s agreement? To what extent were they aware of them?
Crucially — what could they have done about the company refusing to share
information with the Council: what process could be followed if the company
persisted in breaching the shareholder’s agreement, as appeared to have happened
here?

e Did the Council’s then-leader and deputy leader, or officers, recognise that Gail
Mayhew, MD of FuturePlaces, was failing in her duty to uphold the company’s
governance? Again, what could have been done about this?

6.4 Consider the adequacy of the role of the Council’s internal audit team*
e Was Internal Audit paid any fees by FP? How much and for what?

¢ \What were the internal audit team looking for when they audited FuturePlaces? How
often were these audits carried out, how detailed were they, to whom did the audit

team report back, what were their findings, and how were any failings addressed or
proposed to be addressed?

6.5 If in section 4 evidence is established that BCP FuturePlaces Ltd were acting
outside of their terms of reference, was the Council aware, and what action if any
was taken.

7. Decision to close BCP Future Places Ltd — Cabinet 27 September 2023.

7.1 Consider if the report to Cabinet adequately sets out the options, financial
implications and risks associated with the decision to close BCP FuturePlaces Ltd

7.2 Review the robustness of the process for determining what work was to be paid for
and what work was not paid for.as part of the final settlement*.

7.3 Set out the detail of the work paid for and not paid for
e Wheredid £2.6m go — how was that figure arrived at?
e Whatwork was paid for and what was not?

e Full outcomes and impact report — how much was spent in total and what were the
benefits?

e Staff time sheets and cost/quality/delivery of programmes — include these and full
details of the close down.

e How muchdid the ‘Future Places’ Book cost — why was it produced? Can we have a
copy?

Page 81 0of 100

91



what was Grant Thornton’s role — how aware were they and did they raise any
concerns in any of the audit reports?

8. Lesson Learnt Update
8.1 Review of the previous lessons learnt, actions implemented and those outstanding
and including any additions as a result of this investigation.

Consequences and accountability to include passing evidence to the police and the
recovery of funds.

Consequences - if there has been misconduct in public office.

Recognition of the impact of causing loss by omission and ensuring safeguards in
place to protect the council in the future.

Success Fees —how were they determined?

how much was paid in success fees and for what? — schedule with dates, sites and
achievements. Who authorised them and on what basis?

how were the success fees used? Was any of it used to service the loan or pay staff
bonuses?

Was there a mandatory requirement to reinvest the success fees to repay the loan or
was it left to the company discretion? What protections were put in place for the
council/public money? Could FP have chosento use the success fees to service the
loan? Who had the final say about this?

Which councillors approved success payments —include town councillors.

Were any projects paused by BCP Council but still attracted a success fee that was
still paid to FP?

Is it possible that success fees were inflated or dishonestly claimed to demonstrate
the success of FP?

Investigators further notes:

1.

Given that the FP model was in theory aimed at giving the council more control over
development, why was so little achieved and why did it fail?

What was the total costincurred by the council on setting up and then closing FP?
To include council grant funding, written off loan, and sequential costs attributable to
FP involvement in projects that were subsequently cancelled.

Should the council have loaned FP £8M, was this necessary and were the risk of
doing this fully understood?

What are the ongoing costs to the General Fund Revenue account arising from FP
(loan interest etc)?

Are there any outstanding financial or legal claims arising from the closure of FP?
What tangible outputs were delivered by FP? For example, business cases that were

completed and were then subsequently approved for development. E.G Constitution
Hill, affordable housing scheme.

Page 82 0of 100

92



10.

11.

12.

13.

Is there any residual value attributable to work conducted by FP, e.g. Holes Bay?

Were there any failures of scrutiny or audit systems that contributed to the failure of
the FP venture?

Were there failures in FP and council Governance arrangement, and in particular the
Council's commissioning arrangements?

Was there any council mal administration?

Is there any suspicion of corruption in any aspect of the FP operations?
What political influences contributed to the opening and closing of FP?

Given the complexity, financial, market and prolonged timescales required for

regeneration projects, should the council take a less financially risky approach to
regeneration projects?

Page 83 of 100

93



E. Detailed scope evidence base appendices (Public) - (not all detailed scope areas

require an appendix so these do not run sequentially, there will be numbering gaps)
Appendix 1.1 table 2 =25 March 2022 entry and 29 April 2022 entry — 2021/22 financial year

Council and FPL accounts produced on an accruals basis, so whilst physical transactions took
place in 22/23 (see bank statement attachments), amounts were correctly accrued to 21/22

accounts.

BCP Council Invoices to FPL (on 25 March 2022) and FPL bank statements 29 April paying the
Council for those two invoices — note VAT status of individual invoice lines, the two invoices are
disbursement or recharge of costs invoices, no VAT on salary costs for example.

Invoice no

£ Amount

EVAT

£ Inv. Total

1261609

1,130,023.29

161,153.91 1,291,177.20

1261667

83,585.00

16,717.00 100,302.00

Total

1,213,608.29

177,870.91 1,391,479.20

Payment Line
Enquiries
E-mail

01202 123113

B C P Futureplaces Ltd
B C P Civic Centre
Bourne Avenue
Bournemeuth

BHZ GOY

Special Instructions

Description

COMPANY RUNNING AND
DEVELOPMENT ADVICE COSTS
UNDERTAKEN BY BCP COUNCIL ON
BEHALF OF BCP FUTUREPLACES LTD
UP TO 23/03/2022 - DISBURSEMENTS

COMPANY RUNMNING AND
DEVELOPMENT ADVICE COSTS
UNDERTAKEN BY BCP COUNCIL ON
BEHALF OF BCP FUTUREPLACES LTD
UP TO 23/03/2022

COMPANY RUNNING AND
DEVELOPMENT ADVICE COSTS
UNDERTAKEN BY BCP COUNCIL ON
BEHALF OF BCP FUTUREPLACES LTD
UP TO 23/03/2022 - CHARGE FOR
ROOM HIRE, POOLE MUSEUM ON

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council
PO Box 722, Poole, Dorset, BH15 2YE

01202 672932 (Select Option 5)

income. svpp@bepcouncil.gov.uk

Invaice Numbser:

12619609

Flease quote involce number when making payment

Invoice Date/Tax Point: 25.03.2022

Due Date of Invoice: 25.03.2022

VAT Registration No: GB 313 0880 34

Amount (£) VAT % VAT Amount (£)

324195.74 0.00 0.00

BOS769.55 20.00 161153.91

58.00

24/02/2022

Total Amount:

£ 1130023.29

Total VAT: 861153.91  Invoice Total: £ 1291177.20
TOTAL NOW DUE: £ 1291177.20

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council
PO Box 722, Poole, Dorset, BH15 2YE

Payment Line 01202 872932 (Seiect Option 5)
Enquiries 01202 123113

E-mail income.svpp@bepeouncil.gov.uk

Invoice Number.

12619667

PFiease quote involce number when making payment

B € P Futureplaces Ltd
8 C P Civic Centre
Bobrnamoutn® Invaice Date/Tax Point 25.03.2022
BHZ 6DV

Due Date of Invoice: 25.03.2022

VAT Registration No:  GB 313 0880 34

Special Instructions

Description Amount (£) VAT % VAT Amount (£)
IT SERVICES 11676.00 2335.20
LEGAL COMPANY SECRETARY CHARGES 24800.00 4920.00
FINANCE SERVICES 17982.00 3596.40
SYSTEM SERVICES 3927.00 785.40
PROCUREMENT SERVICES 14945.00 2989.00
CREDITORS SERVICES 2500.00 500.
INTERMAL AUDIT SERVICES 3387.00 B677.40
BUSINESS CONTINUITY SERVICES 1369.00 273.80
INSURANCE SERVICES 943.00 188.60
RISK MANAGEMENT SERVICES 1287.00 267.40
HEALTH AND SAFETY SERVICES 069.00 193.80

RESOURCE AGREEMENT CHARGES
PROVIDED TO BCP FUTUREPLACES LTD
BCP COUNCIL

Total Amount: £ B83585.00 Total VAT: £16717.00 Invoice Total: £ 100302.00

TOTAL NOW DUE: £ 100302.00

Account Account Type
Number Account Name Currency J Status
Current /
63753751 BCF FUTUREFPLACES LTD SBR OFPEM
1IBAN Bank ldentifier Bank Name
SBTsBARCE2
06895637537 BARCLANS
51 206895 BaAaMNKE PL
Address
cestershire_ L)
1Entry Date T cti Detail 2Transaction Payment Receipt Ledger
ransaction stails Type Amount Amount Balance
Balance Brought Forward L]
BCP FUTUREPLACES =
27042022 518217"HBUKGB4B = TFR Transfer 1,391,476.20 1,391,476.20
ZOI0AIZ0ZR FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR Direct Debit 1,391,479.20 -3
200502022 FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR Direct Debit 239.28 242 28
ZTI0S/2022 FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR Direct Debit 23.814.00 —24,056.28

Page 84 of 100

94




Appendix 1.1 table 2 — 26 April entry FPL sales invoice (FPL0O001) to the Council 2021/22
Council and FPL accounts produced on an accruals basis, so whilst physical transactions took
place in 22/23 (see bank statement attachments), amounts were correctly accrued to 21/22
accounts.

FPL invoice working paper and FPL bank statements showing invoice was paid by the Council on
26 April — note VAT status this is a sales invoice so VAT at 20%.

Also note FPL in receipt of the Council’s invoices for recharge of costs incurred by FPL but initially
recorded in Council cost centre and ledger.

Costs involced by BCP Council to FP Met eost VAT code ¥AT amount
Company running and development addce costs undertaken by BCP Councl on behall of BCP FubwePlaces Ltd £374 195 74 [N
up bo 2332022 - Disbursemeris = £0.00 15453005
Company running and development advice costs undertaken by BCP Councl on behalt of BCP FutwePlaces Ltd £805 769,55 |5
up ho Z3MA0E2 . FAREE]]
Company running and development advice costs undertaken by BCP Councl on behalf of BECP FutwePlaces Ltd E |
up to Z3HAEE - Change for Fioom hire, Poale bhuseum 28102122 £000 60 1,130,023.23 BCP INVOICE TOFP
Resource Agreemant Charges - IT Senices provided 1o BCP FubwePlages Ltd by BCP Coungil g £ 33520
Fiecoutce Agresment Changes - Legal Company Secretary Services provided to BCP FunrePlaces Lud by BCF 5
Cairs E4820.00
Fierouice Agreement Changes - Finanse Seavices provided to BCP FulireFlaces Lud by BCF Council 5 £1595 40
Rezouics Agreement Charges - System Sendices provided to BCP FubwePlaces Lbd by BCP Council 5 78540
Rasouice Agrevmant Charges - Proouremant Senices provided 1o BTP FutwrePlaoes Ltd by BCP Council g EZ 459,00
Flezouiie Agreemant Changes - Creditors Ssivices prowided o BICP FuturePlasss Lid by BOP Council 0% £50000
Rezouice Agreement Changes - Inteimal Audi Seivices provided to BCP FutwrePlates Ltd by BCP Council 5 FE7740
Repouice Agreement Charges = Business Continuity Services prowvided to BCP FutureFlaces Ltd by BCP Coungil 5 £27380
Flezeuice Aqreemant Changes - Indutanes Services provided 1o BOP FuturePlaces Lid by BCP Courvd g HER A0
Resouree Agreement Changes - Risk Management Sendces provided to BCP FubwePlaces Lid by BCP Council 5 5%7 ;g
Resource Agreemsent Changes - Health and Safely Services provided to BCP FuturePlaces Lid by BCP Council 00(s £l I 82,585.00 BCP Resource Agieen
0 S FO01 [16-2F TI00-ENZ5-10000] 26Ma Emplogss pension - Februsty 2022 £175.02 0 £35.00
0 S\F 001 [16-ZF N00-B1E5-10000] 231 ploges pension - March 232 £1,050.00 I £21000
0 SWFO01[16-ZF H00-E125-10000] 28Mar Vitaliy Heakh - February 3052 £172.08 0 £3442
0 SAFO01[15-2F HO0-E125-10000] 281 Vit bty He skh - Wsech 2022 £313.65 0 £6273
00 - 2400372022 Auties Pension £1,633.34 0 E326.67 ’ 2,344.10 Payments ot of HSBC
VAT to be reclasimed directly by FP - part of disbursement rechange hom BCP -£4,395.80 EEED -£9,395.80 | | ¥AT on HT invaice
Tat t £1.207 552,59 £187 270.71
120755259
Ereakdown:
Caat invoiced by BOP Council E1213,608.29
Penzion and health indus ance paid diigcth by the compani B340
VAT to be reclsimed ditectly by FP - pait of disbuisement rechatge inom BOF -£3,333.80
Total E1207,552.59 E000
ARG -£100,000,00 -£20,000.00
Net cost For the year £1,107,552.59 E22151052
£IE18.77
TOTAL TO INYOICE BCP COUNCIL £1.229,063.11
R
D R i
4SBC bank rec (this spreadsheet is originally in DN Banklarchive/
Full Account Number 401307 - 12755815
BIC HBUKGB4B
IBAN GB92HBUKGB4B40130712755815
YEAR  MONTH Date Narrative Credit Debit  AMOUNT  BALANCE Posted [Y/N) Contra Account
2021 11 26/11/2021 ADVICE CONFIRMS - BCP COUNCIL 5,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 Y LOAN test
2021 12 20/12/2021 BCP COUNCILAP 100,000.00 100,000.00  105,000.00 Y ARG4 grant
2022 2 23/02/2022 VITALITY HEALTH FIRST PAYMENT -172.09 -172.09  104,827.91 Y Medical Costs
2022 2 25/02/2022 AVIVA PENSION -175.02 -175.02  104,652.89 Y Pension Control
2022 3 09/03/2022 VITALITY HEALTH 40025061333992 -313.65 -313.65 104,339.24 ¥ Medical Costs
2022 3 28/03/2022 AVIVA PENSION -1,050.00 -1,050.00  103,289.24 Y Pension Control
2022 3 29/03/2022 AVIVA PENSION -1,633.34 -1,633.34  101,655.90 Y Pension Control
2022 4 11/04/2022 VITALITY HEALTH 40025061333992 -240.65 -240.65 101,415.25 Y Medical Costs
2022 4 26/04/2022 BCP COUNCILAP 1,329,063.11 1,329,063.11 1,430,478.36 Y BCP Sales
2022 4 26/04/2022 Aviva Pension -3,541.68 -3,541.68 1,426,536.68 ¥ ZF1212-B212  Pension Control
2022 4 27/04/2022 BCP Futureplaces -1,391,476.20 -1,391,476.20 35,460.48 Y To BCP FP new Barclays acc

Page 85 of 100

95



Appendix 1.1 table 2 =7 Dec 2022 and 27 Jan 2023 entry- Final 21/22 invoices

Council and FPL accounts produced on an accruals basis, so whilst physical transactions
took place in 22/23 (see bank statement attachments), amounts were correctly accrued to
21/22 accounts.

BCP Council Final 2021/22 (after final reconciliation) Invoice to FPL (on 7 December 2022)
and FPL bank statements 27 Jan 2023 paying the Council for this invoice — note VAT status
of individual invoice lines, the invoice is disbursement or recharge of costs invoices, no VAT

on salary
(Note net

costs for example.
total, £262,253.70 is the same as the FPL invoice to the Council)

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council
PO Box 722, Poole, Dorset, BH15 2YE

Payment Line
Enquiries
E-mail

B C P Futureplaces Ltd
B C P Civic Centre
Bourne Avenue
Bournemouth

BH2 6DY

Total Amount:

01202 672932 (Select Option 5)
01202 123113
income.svpp@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Invoice Number

12869640

Flease quote Involce number when making payment

Invoice Date/Tax Point 07.12.2022

Due Date of Invoice 07.12.2022

VAT Registration No: GB 313 0880 34

Special Instructions

Description Amount (£) VAT % VAT Amount (£)
COMPANY RUNNING AND DEVELOPMENT
ADVICE COSTS UNDERTAKEN BY

B C P COUNCIL ON BEHALF OF

B C P FUTUREPLACES LTDUP TO
31/03/2022

COMPANY RUNNING AND DEVELOPMENT
ADVICE COSTS UNDERTAKEN BY

B C P COUNCIL ON BEHALF OF

B C P FUTUREPLACES LTD UP TO
23/03/2022 - DISBURSEMENTS

LESS ADJUSTMENTS TO FIRST INVOICE

205417.09 20.00 41083.42

86577.83 0.00 0.00

-29741.22 20.00 -5048.24

£ 262253.70 Total VAT: £35135.18 £ 297388.88

TOTAL NOW DUE: £ 297388.88

Invoice Total:

27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023
27/01/2023

FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL 1HQ LIMITED Payt Run 62,650.00]
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL BCP Employee Secondme Payt Run -14,400.21]
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL BEVAN BRITTAIN LLP LTC Payt Run 5,096.90]
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL BUSINESSSOUTHLTD  Payt Run 5,000.00]
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL CASTLETOWN LAW Payt Run 7,449.00|
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL Comensura - Andrew Bur Payt Run 2,854.24
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL Comensura - Rebecca Clc Payt Run 2,286.88
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL COMPANIES HOUSE Payt Run 0|
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL CROWNE ASSOCIATES LT Payt Run -8,850.00]
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL DIXON ARCHITECTS Payt Run 12,665.63|
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL GERALD EVE LLP Payt Run -2,000.00]
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL HILTON HOTELS LTD Payt Run -950
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL Institute of Economic De' Payt Run -599
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL ING MEDIA LIMITED Payt Run 14,000.00
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL Inner Circle Consulting Lt Payt Run 84,797.50)
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL MAKE (UK) LIMITED Payt Run 131]
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL MARSH LTD Payt Run 0|
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL MIPIM Expenses Payt Run 2,927.83
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL PAUL MURRAIN URBAN [Payt Run 5,045.00
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL Phil Jones Associates Payt Run 2,100.00
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL Smart Place Economic An Payt Run 1,845.00
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL SONOVATE LIMITED Payt Run 21,000.00
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL SPACE SYNTAX Payt Run 40,000.00
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL wsP (UK) Ltd Payt Run 19,203.93]
FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL VAT Payt Run 35,135.18

Page 86 of 100

96




Appendix 1.1 table 2 =6 Dec 2022 and 23 January 2023 — Final 21/22 invoices
Council and FPL accounts produced on an accruals basis, so whilst physical transactions
took place in 22/23 (see bank statement attachments), amounts were correctly accrued to
21/22 accounts.

FPL invoice and FPL bank statements showing invoice was paid by the Council on 23 Jan
2023 — note VAT status this is a sales invoice so VAT at 20%.

Also note FPL in receipt of the Council's schedule for recharge of costs incurred by FPL but
initially recorded in Council cost centre and ledger.

(Therefore, note net total, £262,253.70 is the same as the BCP Council invoice to FPL)

FuturePlaces e L e

= Council Civic Cenlre, Bourne Avenue
Baurnemauth

BH2 8DY

INVOICE

BCP Council Invoice No FPLODOZ

Coundil Civic Centre, Bourne Avenue Invoics Dade 08 December 2022

Bournemauth D Duaes 05 January 2023

BHZ 6DY Purchase Ovdir

WAT Mumber 388 679 709

Dascription Rato of VAT Excluding VAT VAT
Ve i

DEVELOPMENT ADVICE 2021/22 - Addiliondl

charges 2% 2682,253.70 52.450.74 314, 70444
MET TOTAL 262.283.70
VAT TOTAL 52.450.74
TOTAL DUE 314,704.44

Enquiries

Marta Pataaks

01202128451

| bt Pt s . il o ik

PAYMENT METHODS

Flease remil your payment 1o the following accoun.

HSBC

Soft coida: 40 13 07

AcCount enhar 12755815

Fleass ensure you quels the inveics number when making payment

Fengintnres in England and Wkss, Nor 11465045
Rngistarsd OMce: BCP Civic Canire, Bourmasmaouth, BH2 00

FPL Barcalays Bank account extract showing £314,704.44 in the credit column (payment fom
BCP Council for the above invoice)

200012023 FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR Direct Debit 4830985 2070181

230112023 FCP COUNCIL AP 791111 BGCFron: 20.63-95 50197939 Bank Giro Credit H4T0444f 5171625

2700112023 FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR |Direct Debt 41912267 102,593.58
Page 87 of 100

97



Appendix 1.1 table 2 =15 March 2023 and 28 March 2023 — 22/23 Financial year
invoices

BCP Council invoice number 13022114 to FPL for 22/23 costs incurred by FPL but where
costs were posted to Council cost centre and ledger(s) (in the exact same way as for 21/22,
this is for the interim period before the working capital loan facility was approved in July
2022.

Note VAT status of individual invoice lines, invoice number 13022114 is disbursement or
recharge of costs invoices, no VAT on salary costs for example.

The second invoice, 13052647 is the Councils 22/23 recharge for services to FPL and is a
sales invoice so VAT is at 20%

ournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council
evenues and Benefits, PO Box 722, Poole, BH15 2YE

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council
Revenues and Benefits, PO Box 722, Poole, BH15 2YE

Payment Line 01202 672932 (Seiect Option 5) Payment Line 01202 672932 (Seiect Option 5)
Enquiries 01202 123113 Enquiries 01202 123113
E-mail income@bepoouncil gov.uk E-mail income@bcepeouncil gov.uk
Invoice Number: 13022114 Invoice Number 13052647
E g $ g‘l‘:‘:‘;egif“::: Ltad Plaase quote Invoice number when making payment 2 (9 $ ;‘(:“:'Slﬁ:: Ltd Pleass Gucto Invosce mumber whon makifeg paymen
333?25,.21?2“ Invoice Date/Tax Pont 15.03.2023 Sg:jﬁ:}:m’:;t;“ Invoice Date/Tax Point 28.03.2023
BH2 6DY BH2 60Y
Due Date of Invoice 15.03.2023 Due Date of Invoice: 28.03.2023
VAT Registration No. GB 313 0880 34 VAT Registration No GB 3130880 34

Special Instructions Special Instructions

RESOURCE AGREEMENT CHARGES

Description Amount (£) VAT % VAT Amount (£) Description Amount (£) VAT % VAT Amount (£)
COMPANY RUNNING AND DEVELOPMENT 459421.06 20.00 91884.21 IT SERVICES PROVIDED 1289381 20.00 2578.76
ggzlgg SS&I%&_%:‘I}%E ggp LEGAL COMPANY SECRETARY SERVICES 27166.78 20.00 5433.16
FINANCE SERVICES PROVIDED 19857.52 20.00 3971.50
FUTUREPLACES LTD UP TO 17/02/2023 SYSTEM SERVICES PROVIDED 4336.58 20.00 867.32
PROCUREMENT SERVICES PROVI 1 7 3300.75
COMPANY RUNNING AND DEVELOPMENT  169329.33 0.00 0.00 CRSS.”,OESESE vacgscffaovugxz DDED 3?23 /2 gg % gg‘j 15
ADVICE CO§Y$ UVN[)E RTAKE‘N BY INTERNAL AUDIT SERVICES PROVIDED 374027 20.00 748.05
gcf (:R%%ngi? ?g"’:}g& 796’? 3 BUSINESS CONTINUITY SERVICES 1511.78 20.00 302.36
Ot)SéJuRSELME i sl v 102/2023 - INSURANCE SERVICES PROVIDED 1041.36 20.00 208.27
x RISK MANAGEMENT SERVICES PROVIDED 1421.24 20.00 284.26
HEALTH AND SAFETY SERVICES PROVIDED  1070.06 20.00 214.01

Total Amount: £ 628750.39 Total VAT: £91884.21 Invoice Total: £ 720634.60
TOTAL NOWDUE: £ 720634.60

Total Amount: £ 9230291 Total VAT: £18460.58 Invoice Total: £ 11076349
TOTAL NOWDUE: £ 110763.49

FPL pay both invoices on 31/3/23

31/03/2023 FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL BCP - Resource Agreem Payt Run 92,302.91
31/03/2023 FP-CREDITORS BACS DDR - BOURNEMOUTH CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL VAT VAT 18,460.58

Page 88 of 100

98




Appendix 1.1 table 2 - 7 June 2023 entry — FPL NED Karima Fahmy’s Governance

Review

BCP FUTUREPLACES LIMITED - GOVERNANCE REVIEW
BACKGROUND AND SCOPE

As part of the Board's broader review of FuturePlaces, | have undertaken a review of certain governance
aspects. As outlined inLord Kerslake's emailto the FuturePlaces Board dated 18 April 2023, | have approached
the review as a stocktake, rather than a comprehensive review and have focused on considering lessons
learned over the first year of operation, and on considering how the original operational model (developed
before the company commenced) and practice can be improved upon, and adapted to present operational
and market conditions.

In undertaking my review, | have met with: Graham Farrant (Chief Executive, BCP Council), Julian McLaughlin
(Service Director - Infrastructure, BCP Council), Sarah Good (Head of Delivery - Regeneration, BCP Coundl),
Clir Phil Broadhead (former Leader, BCP Council), Gail Mayhew (MD, FuturePlaces), Craig Beevers (COO,
FuturePlaces) and Rob Dunford ( Corporate, Business Case & Commerdial Manager, FuturePlaces). My sincere
thanks go to all who have taken part for their assistance with this review.

| have additionally been provided with, and reviewed relevant sections of, several documents indl uding: BCP

Urban Regeneration Company Commissioning Plan; Smart Growth Associates Review of Business Model of
BCP FuturePlaces; FuturePlaces Business Plan 2021/23 (October 2021); FuturePlaces Business Plan Refresh
(May 2022); FuturePlaces Annual Review 2022-23; FuturePlaces Headline Programme; FuturePlaes
Governance & Reporting Schedule & Terms of Reference; FuturePlaces-Members Engage ment Forum [MFEF)
Terms of Reference.

SUMMARY FINDINGS

There was general consensus that there is genuine need for FuturePlaces and, in particular, the specialist
regeneration and private sector real estate expertise and experience which FuturePlaces brings. It was
observed thatthere were good levels of engagement between FuturePlaces and rel evant departmentswithin
BCP Council, as well asstakeholders in the BCP community and more broadly (eg Homes England). There was
a strong desire, from everyone | spoke to, for FuturePlaces to be successful in delivering much -needed
regeneration for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole.

It was a recurringtheme in the conversations | had that there waslack of ashared vision and alignment on the
aims & objectives of FuturePlaces. It was generally acknowledged that the operational model under which
FuturePlaces s currently operating s quite different to the model devised at Inception and, as a result, there
Isa lack of darity and consistency between BCP Council and FuturePlaces on, amongst other things, respective
roles & responsibilities, and commissioning & funding processesand procedures. It was felt that now was an
opportune moment to “reset” onthese variousaspects.

Although not the focus of my review, issueswere raised in relation to the breadth of work being undertaken
by FuturePlaces. Concerns were raised as to the capacity within BCP Council and FuturePlaces -from both a
respurce and funding perspective ~to deliver all the projects currently being worked on.

MOVING FORWARD

| have set out below, for consideration and discussion, some observations and suggestions arising from my
review.

1 Aims & Objectives: The current lack of alignment on the aims & objectives of FuturePlaces is
problematic and should be addressed. There would be benefitin the BCP Council and FuturePlaces
teams working together to reach agreement on a short and simple statement of the Purpose, Aims &
Objectives for FuturePlaces. This statement should align with and support the delivery of the

Regeneration Strategy of the in-coming BCP Councll Leadership and should recognise FuturePlages’s
statusas a wholly-owned Teckal company of BCP Council.

2 Roles & Responsibilities: Similarly, the current ack of clarity and consistency Inrelation to respective
roles & responsibil ties is giving rise tofrustration and the potentlalfor duplication insome areas and
gaps In resource in other areas. Included within the output from (1) above should be a clear
articulation of the respective roles & responsibilities of FuturePlacesand each of the relevant
departments and functions within BCP Coundl. This should address, amongst other things, which
mattersare within (andwhat | out-with) the scope of FuturePlaces; the support and resource to be
provided by BCP Council departments and functions to FuturePlaces; and respective roles &
responsibilities with respect to the commissioning process (see further on commissioning at (3)
below). Once projects are commissioned, there would be meritin establishing project specific roles &
responsibilities using a RACI matrix or similar toolto provide clarityand streamline decislon-making at
project level.

3. Commissioning: The intended process and framework forcommissioning 5 set out in the BCP Urban
Regeneration Company Commissioning Plan. My observations on the Commissiening Plan are as
follows:

(a) Itisnot clear to me, from the conversations | had, that the structure, framewaork and princples
setout inthe Commissioning Plan have been consistently implemented.

(b) There are a number of aspects of the Commissiening Plan which are out of date or require
refreshing, for example, to ensurealignment withthe Regeneration Strategy of the in-coming BCP
Coundl Leadership, and the current structure and resource withinthe Client Team.

{c) Akeyareawhichisout of date and requires updating s Section Three on Financlal Strategy. | am
aware that a separate review s belng undertaken to conslder appropriate funding models.

(d) The Commissioning Plan makes reference to a Commissioning Agreement and Resource
Agreement as key documents which underpin the smaath functioning of the Commissioning Plan.
Asfaras | understand, neither the Commissioning Agreement nor the Resource Agreement have
asyetbeenenteredinto.

(2) The Commissioning Planincludes, as FuturePlaces's Initial Workplan, a listef 20 Site-specificand
Thematic Projects, as well as anumber of Cross-Cutting StrategicInitiatives. Glven current capadty
within BCP Council and FuturePlaces, from both a resource and funding perspective, this list
shouldbe significantlyrationalised down to focus on a small number of priority projects which cn
be seenthrough to delivery. Foreach of these priority projects,a clear scope, budget, deliverables,
timeline and key milestones should be agreed; and a change control process established and
adhered ta.

The criticalimportance of havinga workable, robust and transparent process for commissioning and
funding the work of FuturePlaces is self-evident, and yet appears to be lacking. Once this process is
definedandin place, itshould be strictly adhered to.

4. Ways of working: | am aware that Ways of Working exercises have previously been undertaken
between FuturePlaces and BCP Councll teams and that formal and informal collaborative working
practices have been put in place. Given the importance of ensuring continuous and effective
communication, collaboration and cooperation between FuturePlaces and BCP Council teams, these
ways of working practices should be kept under review and regularly discussed and refreshed to
ensure they continue to remain relevant and fit for purpose.

Karima Fahmy
7 lune 2023

Page 89 of 100

99




Appendix 1.1 table 2 - Working Capital Loan summary

Working Capital Loan summary

21/22 22/23 23/24
Bank Ledger
statement 9 Description £'000 £'000 £'000
posting date
date
Advance of the working capital loan facility
being place to ensure Direct Debit payment
26/11/2021 | 31/03/2022 can be made from Future Places new bank 5 £400k
account. Working
03/05/2022 | 03/05/2022 Tran§fer £1Qk as advance of the £400k 10 Capital
working capital loan Loan
17/05/2022 | 17/05/2022 Tran_sfer £3£_§5k as advance of the £400k 385
working capital loan
10/08/2022 | 10/08/2022 l'l(')r;l:sfer as extension of the working capital 800
2711012022 | 28/10/2022 |Working capital loan facility 850 f,cte”k‘?'ed
02/02/2022 | 03/02/2022 |Working capital loan facility 1,450 Czr i't';?
21/04/2023 | 21/04/2023 |Working capital loan facility 500 Lopan
02/06/2023 | 02/06/2023 |Working capital loan facility 750 Facility
27/03/2024 | 28/03/2024 |Repayment from Future Places -2,350
n/a 31/03/2024 [Write off loan -2,400
Total per annum 5 3,495 -3,500
Cumulative amount reported 5 3,500 0

The loan peaked at 2/6/2023 when the amount drawdown totalled £4.750M.
FPL repaid £2.350M on 27/3/2024 which resulted in the Council having to write off £2.4M

Page 90 of 100

100



Appendix 2.1

Options comparison, report supplementary document, 26 May 2021 report to Cabinet
referred to as Appendix 1 in that report

APPETTUTA T

USP Report Supplementary Document - Options comparison rationale document

This document provides the rationale to support the assessment of the alternative options
considered by the Council for the regeneration vehicle.

Alternative options
The alternative options considered by the Council as part of this assessment are:

A. Do nothing — continue to manage and deliver the regeneration portfolio in line with
current arrangements.

B. Urban Regeneration Company (URC) - this could be a wholly owned
company providing regeneration, development, and project management services 1o
the Council.

C. Special Purpose Vehicle — s a model typically used to bring forward
individual development sites by the Council acting alone or in partnership with
other organisations.

0. Joint WVenture — The Council would enter into a Joint Venture arrangement on one or
more sites where an external partner that brings has specific expertise, ownership
interests or resources.

£ Strategic Partnership — a Homes England initiative which allocates significant
Affordable Homes Programme funds on a long-term development basis to those
organisations (Southern have £55m to deliver aver 1000 homes) who have land,
planning and build skills.

F. Expansion of existing wholly owned Council Company (Seascape Homes) - the scale
could be increased to deliver more homes and greater returns to the Council's
general fund. The company could build out and manage residential developments
brought forward by any of the above options.

Appraisal criteria

To objectively appraise the alternative options, the Council developed six criteria that
spanned the different elements necessary to accelerate regeneration delivery as follows:

1. Value for money — The model must offer a value for money solution for the
Council to deliver its regeneration ambitions. Value for money is assessed by
considering the costs associated with the establishment and operation of the new
vehicle compared to the speed and scale at which it could deliver the schemes
within the regeneration portfolio. A general assumption used for the purpose of
the appraisal is that the regeneration portfolio has the potential to deliver
significant and substantial financial returns for the Council and economic benefits
for the area and communities.

2. Dedicated leadership and focus — successful delivery of regeneration
projects heavily relies upon dedicated and consistent leadership and focus.
Without it, projects will not be delivered at the pace required to meet the Councils
ambitions.

3. Accelerated delivery — The Council wishes to accelerate delivery of its
regeneration portfolio. By doing so, these large-scale assets can be
utilised quicker to their fullest potential for the benefit of the local residents and

Page 91 of 100

101



yield substantial financial and economic benefits for the Council, residents
and communities.

4. Adaptability and flexibility — The regeneration delivery model must have the ability
to adapt and flex easily to changing Council, stakeholder and market
conditions and requirements.

5. Scalability — The model must allow the Council the possibility to scale up and
down over time to respond to the Council's requirements and the opportunities
within the market.

6. Talent attraction — Competition for individuals with development and project
management skills is high and there is an overall shortage across the industry
(add supporting information).

Options appraisal

Do Nothing

The do-nothing scenario assumes the Council will continue to deliver the projects within the
regeneration portfolio as it has done to date. Doing so would have a neutral impact on value
for money as the costs of delivery compared to the scale and speed of delivery are unlikely
to change. The Council does not currently have dedicated regeneration leadership that can
provide consistent focus to the delivery of its regeneration portfolio; consequently, it

is unlikely that the delivery will be accelerated. Retaining the delivery of regeneration within
the Council would provide the ability to be adaptable and flexible though not quickly scaling
up and down to respond to changing Council objectives and market conditions due to the
nature of Council processes and the timescales associated with some decision making.
Finally, it is unlikely in the do-nothing option that the Council would be able to attract and
retain the very best regeneration and development practitioners given the Council salary
structures and reward system.

Urban Regeneration Company

The creation of an Urban Regeneration Vehicle (URC) is likely to provide greater value for
money as the costs associated with its creation and ongoing operation are likely to

be significantly and substantially smaller than the financial and economic benefits that would
derive from the greater speed and scale of delivery that it would enable. The URC would be
led and managed by an Executive team providing dedicated and focussed

leadership. The Executive team would be supported and held accountable by

the URC company board, whose membership would include independent non-executive
director that would provide additional leadership and capability in the fields of

regeneration, development and place making. As a consequence, it is highly likely that
delivery will be accelerated. The URC model provides greater ability to adapt and flex to
meet changes to Council objectives and market conditions and also the ability to scale up
and down as circumstances change over time. This can be accomplished through the
adoption of robust yet flexible policies on employment and recruitment.

Finally, the URC could become a beacon that could attract and retain the very best talent
that the market has to offer. This would be achieved through the creation of a high
performing team culture, compelling employment offer, and the enticement of leading and
delivering the most exciting regeneration portfolio in the south of England.

Examples of successful wholly owned Council regeneration companies include Be

First in the London Borough of Barking and Dagenham.

Special Purpose Vehicle

The creation of a single or multiple special purpose vehicles (SPV) is unlikely to
improve value for money as the set-up costs for each are unlikely to propagate a substantial

Page 92 of 100

102



and significant change in delivery profile. SPWV's would not enable dedicated and focused
leadership across the portfolio and consequently, on their own, are unlikely to enable
accelerated delivery of the regeneration portfolio. SPV are typically established to delivery
individual developments or groups of developments; they therefore have little flexibility and
adaptability to respond to changing Council, stakeholder and market conditions and
requirements and typically do not have the ability to scale up and down to meet changing
needs. The creation of one or more SPV's is highly unlikely to be able to attract and retain
the best talent the market has to offer.

Joint Venture

The creation of Joint Venture is assessed to have a neutral impact on value for money
because the set-up costs are unlikely to be compensated by a substantial and significant
change in delivery. While Joint Ventures can provide dedicated leadership and focus it has
been assessed that, for the range, scale and most importantly early stage of the projects
within the Councils portfolio, that this model is unlikely to be the most suitable approach. The
Joint Venture model with the right partner can accelerate delivery and can be adaptable and
flexible to changing Council, stakeholder and market requirements and can scale up and
down to respond to changing needs. A Joint Wenture could also attract talent within the
regeneration and development market.

Strategic partnership

A strategic partnership with Homes England is a long-term arrangement to deliver affordable
homes in return for capital funding from Homes England. It therefore provides an opportunity
for the Council to leverage greater investment into the area to support the delivery of
affordable homes though, on its own, it not a model that can be used to deliver all the
Councils regeneration ambitions. It offers value for money because it brings in additional
funding. It is not yet clear how much local leadership Homes England would offer for
strategic partners however typically leadership and focus on delivery remains the
responsibility of the Council. The additional funding is likely to have a positive effect on
accelerating delivery however its unlikely to offer significant adaptability and flexibility to
meet the changing Council and stakeholder requirements. It is not yet clear if it will be
possible to scale a Strategic Partnership and it is unlikely to change the ability of the Council
to attract and retain the very best talent.

Expansion of existing wholly owned Council Company

The expansion of an existing wholly owned Council Company is unlikely to offer the best
value for money because although the set-up costs minimal it is unlikely that a company not
designed to deliver large scale regeneration and development projects will mean a material
change in delivery. Company leadership is unlikely to have the skills and focus

and consequently accelerated delivery is unlikely to be achieved. An existing

company will already have a business plan and constitutional arrangements and therefore is
highly unlikely to be adaptable and flexible and highly unlikely to be able to scale. An
existing company will already have a track record no it is unlikely to be able to use that track
record to attract and retain the very best talent.

Summary

The table below summarises how the six options compare using the following ratings
of likelihood of meeting the Councils assessment criteria: Highly likely, Likely,
Meutral, Unlikely and High Unlikely.

103

Option/ Do Urban Special Joint Strategic Expansion
ICriteria Mothing |Regeneration|Purpose |Venture |Partnership |of existing
Company Vehicle wholly
owned
Council
Company
Malue for MNeutral Likely Unlikely MNeutral Likely Unlikely
money
Dedicated Unlikehy Unlikely MNeutral Meutral Unlikely
leadership and
focus
laccelerating Unlikehy Unlikely Likely Likely Unlikely
delivery
ladaptability Likely Highly Likely Highily Highly
land flexibility unlikely unlikely unlikely
[Scalability Meutral Highily Likely MNeutral Highly
unlikely unlikely
Talent Unlikehy Highly Likely Unlikely Unlikehy
attraction unlikely
Page 93 of 100




Appendix 3.1- Recruitment of Executive Directors, NEDS and staff

Email sent to candidate on Monday 5 July 2021, @12.06 by Head of HR BCP Council
Subject: URC MD Offer

Thank you for your time on Friday and T will follow up with further feedback from the panel with a call later in the week but [ am delighted to inform you the panel would like to proceed to offer.

The deails of the offer are anached in draft form as we can work with our HR providers to refine the details following your response. T hiJ | Mandy from PurpleHR who have besn appointed to support the URC.

The only addition that I believe was discussed affer the panel on Friday was the addition of Private Health Insurance whic{JN can add into the offer bur I wanted to get your initial feedback as soon as possible to understand if you felt you would be i
position to accept the offer that we would hope to be effective as of the 5 July 20217

Please let me know if you have any questions?

Regards,
Email sent by candidate on Monday 5 July 2021, @14.11, to Head of HR BCP Council
Hi [

Many thanks for sending tis and am delighted to be proceeding.

As discussed | will want to review the offer with an employment solicitir
Please advise whether BCP can cover the cost of this advice?

With kind regards

Email sent to candidate on Monday 5 July 2021, @18.38pm, by Head of HR BCP Council
Subject: RE:.URC MD Offer

- L]

Understood, we will pay up to £500 plus VAT for legal advice.

Reqgards,

Email sent to Panel on Tuesday 6 July 2021 by Head of HR BCP Council

Pangl,

Thank you all for your fime on Friday to support the recruitmen and appoiniment of the Managing Director for the Urban Regeneration Gompany (URC) for BCP Councl. We interviewed (N the recommended and preferred
candidate. Fallowing the initial debrief it was racommended hat feedback be submitted and a decision to appoint would be made following the collation of that feedback.

A summary of the feedback is below;

+ The candidate has extensive experience in regeneration and place shaping
+ The candidate is highly regarded and has national influence regarding the stewardship approach to regenerafion
+ The candidate was deemed o be competent for the role as MD of a URC for BCP Council
+ Areas for support and development were identfied;
o Financial and commercial planning
o Creative visioning and marketing for the future of the place
o Qperational delivery

The decision {o proceed to offer was the majority, however the development and support requirements were noted and a commitment was made to ensure the right skils, experience and goverance is brought info the URC and BCP

Council to ensure the MD is sef up for success. This will evolve as the business plan is developed and iterative in approach that will require a proactive and engaged board to coniribute to this required outcome. The board will also be
responsible for sefting the objective and managing performance of the MD and feam.

Page 94 of 100

104



Email sent 14 June showing @ was already working for the council and who the Head of HR
believed had received an offer from Cllr Mellor, Leader of the Council

From: Dave Anderson <dave.anderson(@bcpcouncil.gov.uk>

Sent on: Monday, June 14, 2021 4:04:22 PM

To: I @bcpcouncil. gov.uk>; Graham Farrant <graham farrani@bepcouncil.gov.uk>
Subject: RE: URC MD

Thank ym- We have a site tour of the BIC, Winter Gardens and wider Arc with EEBEnd Inner Gircle tomorrow. With regard, to the organisational structure of the URC my view is that we need first to work through the Business
2lan that Inner Circle are preparing and the Commissioning Plan that Sarah G and myself are working on.

The initial structure that [lll set out looks to me to be rather top heavy in terms of senior posts with insufficient Development Manager boots on the ground.

Ne need fo ensure that business plan strategy informs the organisational structure. There will no doubt be key posts that will need to be filled to allow the URC quickly to build momentum. However, I'd prefer to clarify the priority
appointments and then give ourselves a litfle more time to consider the organisational architecture that will give us the best prospects of building and sustaining success. Regards, Dave

“rom [ I @ bpcouncil.gov.uk>
sent: 14 June 2021 16:53

To: Graham Farrant <graham.farrant@bcpcouncil.gov.uk>
Zc: Dave Anderson <dave.anderson@bcpcouncil.gov.uk>
subject: URC MD

sraham,

did have 15 minutes in the diary to talk to you but assume this was an error as you are on leave but | was going to take the opportunity to update you following a conversation that | had wit_ on Friday. We hada 1to 1 to
swap notes’ on our understanding of the situation and to see what | can do to support the commitments that have been made so far.

3elow is a summary of what | think the stages are that | wanted to run past you in draft to confirm | have the right end of the stick and | will work them up from there.

1.has a 4 week contract for consultancy currently via creditors (ie. as a supplier not an employee).

2. | suggest at the end of this commitment we put in place a further 4 — 6 week contract that will be as an Interim MD post, we will have to bring this inside IR35 but can still do this via the same mechanism that we have in place. |
believe this will be @ £1500 per day 5 days per week so will be ¢ £45000 plus tax & NI.

3. The final stage will be a permanent offer of employment as the MD for the URC (which | believe [lllhas already received from Drew) when it is established and we will have to employ direct. | was open that there will have to be a
form of selection to justify the offer and position and that is work we have yet to do but | believe that we can make it safe for scrutiny purposes without causing a huge investment in time and resources, especially if a ot of the
validation and vetting has already been completed.

will work up stage 2 for your sign off when you return from leave, no need for a response unless | am well wide of the mark.

Jave — cc'd for information and also as | know you and -are together this week. If it is helpful for me to meet with you both at any point please let me know? -and | did start to get info to organisational design and the requirement
‘or you and -to be fully aligned, which is key especially as | know we are starting fo pull in resources.

Regards,
Lucy.

Email containing legal advice on the appointment and which suggested an initial appointment
on a consultancy basis.

Subject: URC / Appointments

Further to my e-mail of yesterday, | have now spoken with Graham and Chris conceming the proposed appointment of the Managing Director. | understand that it was put forward on Friday that an appointment should be made
imminently of an identified individual. Officer advice has therefore been requested by Graham and Susan as to the processes / steps required in order to effect such an appointment and the corresponding timeframe for that
appointment.

From an operational perspective, | do not think an appointment by the URC would be possible at this stage. | think that the “go live™ date (or shortly beforehand) is when the contracts of employment should take effect (i.e. 1 November
2021 based on the current timeline) and | agree with Graham that the best way forward for now might be simply to engage the potential candidate on a consultancy basis with a specified activity schedule for the services they are
required to deliver to the Council.

| have reached that conclusion because:

(i)  there is currently no incorporated legal entity;

(i) the company has no other directors or staff;

(i) the company would not be funded to pay for staff costs (other than via the commissioning contract unless a working capital loan is agreed);

(iv)  the company would not yet be in a position to provide commissioned services to the Council (absent a workforce) and the scope of services is not yet determined in any event (and will need to develop in line with the business
plan);

(v)  the shareholder agreement governing the decisions that the board may take (and the decisions that are reserved) is not yet in place;

(vi)  the operational aspects of payroll are not in place (e.g., will the Council provide payroll services under the support services agreement?);
(vii)  the terms and conditions and role profiles will require development;

(viii) agreement as to the appropriate recruitment process will need to be reached.

| believe that it is proposed to complete the pension and payroll workstream by the circa mid-August and it is anticipated that the terms and conditions and role profiles will be in agreed as part of that workstream. [Note: Please refer
below to the critical path work programme developed by Inner Circle.]

Please could you comment on the further issues / considerations you think are likely to be required in relation to points (v} to (vii) above, including the process for agreeing the terms and conditions (and whether this might require union
input given the potential application of TUPE to some existing staff), pensions admission arrangements and the recruitment procedures you would advise? | am particularly mindful that the Council may need to undertake further work
around the development of the role profiles and, potentially recruitment, to mitigate the risk of any successful equal pay claims arising.

Page 95 of 100

105



3.1.9 Email from Leader after interview

From: Councillor Drew Mellor <Drew.Mellor@bcpcouncil.gov.uk>
Sent on: Friday, July 2, 2021 5:38:24 PM

To: _@bcpc ouncil.gov.uk>

Subject: URC MD

i .
=or the avoidance of doubt | am happy to proceed to offer -the MD position on the basis of that interview.

Jrew

End of appendix 3.1

Page 96 of 100

106



Appendix 3.2.20 — Head of Delivery (Commissioning Team) view on what needed to
happen to the Council’s Commissioning Plan — date 9/3/23

Commissioning Model

The Commissioning Plan produced by the council, focuses on the legalities of the
relationship, and provides a framework for delivery - including performance, reporting,
compliance, audit, risk, and value for money.

The Commissioning Plan also identifies two key areas that will enable quality management
within the company: the first - monitoring and evaluation; and the second - clarity over
critical success criteria and key performance indicators (KPIs) to be used for measuring
success.

However, to-date FuturePlaces’ Business Plans have focused more on the Stewardship
Approach - based on the Building Better, Building Beautiful philosophy - and the project
section does not tie-back to the Commissioning Plan or other council Strategies including
the Big Plan, housing targets etc.

There are few, if any, key performance indicators provided in the Business Plan and no clear
idea of what success will look like. As a result, the council has only a very high-level view of
the projects being proposed, and no clear idea of the outputs or outcomes anticipated until
the Outline Business Case stage at which point FuturePlaces may already have made
significant financial and resource commitments.

Along with clearly identified KPIs for specific projects, including targets and contribution to
Big Plan ambitions etc, the Commissioning Plan also requires the company Business Plan
to set out a phased programme for the preparation of sites for development. There is
evidence of detailed programming work undertaken by FuturePlaces, but this is not being
shared or included within the Business Plan.

The URC was created to provide the council with the skills, expertise, and resources to
progress regeneration projects at pace. The council is required to support these activities
and regular briefing sessions with Housing, Transport and Engineering, Planning etc, have
been scheduled. However, without clear project scope, deliverables, and programme
timelines it is impossible for council departments to resource plan.

This lack of transparency makes it difficult to evidence that projects are moving at pace and,
due to the differing expectations of the company versus the council, cabinet deadlines have
been missed.

Similarly, prioritisation is an issue. With the construction environment constantly changing,
significant increases in inflation, the rising cost of materials, and the council’s pressured
budgetary position, project prioritisation and strategic programming will be even more vital to
the success of these schemes.

The Business Plan should provide advice to the council on which projects to proceed with at
pace, and which to use as longer-term more strategic assets. As setout in the
Commissioning Plan, such advice should also consider the best option for the council
including promoting sites to the investment market, direct development, or suitable exit
routes such as disposal. Rather, there appears to be a drive to progress all the schemes
simultaneously without the internal resources to deliver, incurring considerable external

Page 97 of 100

107



consultant costs, and an over-reliance on council resources to prioritise FuturePlaces work
over other council priorities due to the reactive rather than pro-active approach.

The council needs to take a more proactive and transparent approach to commissioning;
working collaboratively with FuturePlaces to ensure both parties are prioritising projects that
will be self-funding, make a revenue or capital return to the council, or can be supported
through investment or grants. Not every scheme needs to be progressed with stewardship
at its heart nor should FuturePlaces be averse to recommending disposal in order to fund
more strategic sites or schemes that will have the most benefit to the local communities.

Proposed Action:

The council should review the Commissioning Plan alongside the development of a
new corporate strategy to ensure that the outcomes and performance indicators are
still valid, taking into consideration the council’s budget position and any changes to
strategy or policy.

FuturePlaces to produce Project Outline Case documents (or include sufficient
project detail in their 2023/24 Business Plan) for those projects without a current
OBC. These should be related back to the outcomes included in the Commissioning
Plan. This mustalso include a phased programme for the preparation of sites for
development along with KPIs for specific projects, clearly identified targets (including
contribution to revenue generation, housing targets and Big Plan ambitions etc).

N.B. The Commissioning Team did offer to support FuturePlaces with drafting these
documents in 2022 but after a month the offer was rejected.

There is evidence of detailed programming work undertaken by FuturePlaces, but
this is not being shared. Suggest that this information — clearly identifying when
council departments will be required to provide support and when - is provided as
part of the reporting regime to ensure sufficient resource can be scheduled for each
project or resourcing issues identified early in the programme. For example,
FuturePlaces commissioned invasive ground investigation works at Holes Bay which
the council was not aware of, including the adjacent recreation ground which is out of
the red-line area of the scheme. Numerous urgent meetings had to take place with
estates, FM, legal and the environment team to ensure the works did not cause any
ecological issues and agree a workaround where the council placed the order soiit
could rely on the findings and recharge FuturePlaces for the resultant report, and for
legal to issue an access licence to the contractor during the Christmas break to
minimise penalty charges caused by the delay.

Ideally, a back-to-basics prioritisation and scoping session should be undertaken —to
ensure both parties understand the parameters, outputs, outcomes, timeframes,
budget etc and agree which projects should be prioritised. This will prevent
duplication (it is likely that much historic work can still be relied upon) and would
provide early warning of any timing or scheduling issues. As the council’s
development and regeneration advisers, FuturePlaces should recommend which to
proceed at pace, which to use as longer-term more strategic assets and not be afraid
to consider the best option for the council, including disposal, in order to fund
projects with the greatest benefit to the community.

The financial landscape has changed dramatically over the past two years and
urgent reassessment is needed in terms of the business plan. Part of FuturePlaces’
remit is to advise the council, and this mustinclude not only prioritisation considering
budgetary constraints, but a recognition that we cannot deliver everything despite
political pressure. As part of their proposals, FuturePlaces’ advice should include

Page 98 of 100

108



evidence of what is the market doing, what the council should invest in, what has the
change in interest rates done to the property market, etc.

End of Appendix 3.2.20

Page 99 of 100

109



Appendix 4.1.4 — FPL P&L account

FPL Profit and Loss Account

TURNOVER
UK sales (BCP Council)

COST OF SALES
Consultancy Fees

GROSS PROFIT (Loss)

Administrative Expenses

Directors' salaries

Directors' NI

Directors' pension - defined contrib.scheme
Directors' bonuses

Wages and salaries

Employers NI

Employers pensions - defined contrib.scheme
Employers bonuses

Subcontractor costs

Recruitment costs

Staff training

Staff welfare

Health and safety costs

Protective clothing

Private health costs

Travel and subsistence expenses
Travel expenses

Hotel expenses

Rent

Rates

Other premises costs

Computer software, consumables
Computer software costs

Computer and IT consumables
Printing, postage and stationery
Postage

Courier services

Advertising and marketing costs
Exhibitions

Training seminars and workshops
Audit fees

Legal fees

Consultancy fees

Management fees (BCP Council Services to FPL)
Subscriptions

Payroll fees

Bank charges

Depreciation of computer equipment
Depreciation of plant and machinery
Entertaining

Sundry expenses

Profit/loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets

Other Operating Income
Government grant receipts - net

Interest receivable

OPERATING PROFIT

hl

Interest pay and similar

Other interest payable

PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD

2021/22 | 2022/23 | 2023/24 | [ AggregateP&l | | Aggregate TotalsP&L |
(18/6/21 to 31/3/22) (1/4/22 to 31/3/23) (1/4/23 to 31/3/24) FPLExp. Income Income
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ From BCP  Other
£ £ £
1,354,806 72,645 3,301,300 4,728,751] J | 4,728,751
-411,799 -1,712,284 -1,022,327 -3,146,410 -3,146,410
943,007 -1,639,639 2,278,973 1,582,341
-98,750 -314,512 227,077 -640,339 [ ]
-14,274 -46,902 -26,420 -87,596 A
-750 -8,850 -5,421 -15,021
-9,700 -36,875 0 -46,575 |
-69,987 -527,228 -505,229 -1,102,444
5,274 72,119 57,136 -134,529 B
-475 -8,056 -10,571 -19,102
-6,907 -56,994 0 -63,901 |
-390,537 -259,621 57,739 -707,897 | C]
0 -23,043 -9,000 -32,043
0 -1,840 0 -1,840
516 0 0 516
-969 -1,070 729 -2,768
0 -865 0 -865
-582 -6,015 5,414 -12,011
-1,284 -7,489 7,129 -15,902
-1,691 -5,104 -3,159 -9,954
-1,473 -6,788 -1,023 -9,284
0 -36,000 -35,550 [D]
0 -1,834 -62 -1,896
0 -2,565 0 -2,565
-3,598 -684 -1,545 -5,827
-317 -1,872 0 -2,189
0 -695 -85 -780
-235 -1,054 -2,236 -3,525
-142 0 0 -142
0 -112 0 -112
-196,932 -55,942 -14,680
-10,128 7,733 1,173 -19,034
0 -573 -4,435 -5,008
-5,600 -5,600 -6,200 -17,400
-52,687 2,100 -41,941 -96,728
76,852 0 0 76,852
-86,072 -91,234 -141,755 -319,061
0 -40 732 772
0 -4,899 -3,148 -8,047
0 737 -377 1,114
-2,600 6,621 -4,265 -13,486
0 -1,266 -1,108 2,374
242 0 0 242
-1,852 -1,821 0 -3,673
0 0 -8,830 -8,830
-1,040,426 -1,606,753 -1,184,167 -3,831,346 -3,831,346
100,000 0 0 [ 100,000] I | 100,000
0 0 233 233 233
2,581 -3,246,392 1,095,039 -2,148,772
-10 -8,786 -218,890 -227,686 -227,686
2,571 -3,255,178 876,149 -2,376,458 7,205,442 4,728,751 100,233

Page 100 of 100

110




By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

111



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	6 PART A -  BCP FuturePlaces Investigation Report (Scope items 1 to 4)
	PART A (Scope items 1 to 4) BCP FPL Investigation Report
	Confidential Appendix (Section F of the report)


